

Ana Raquel Peres Marçal

Transmissão geracional de alterações pro- e antigenotóxicas induzidas por pesticidas

Generational transmission of pro- /anti-genotoxic alterations induced by pesticides



Ana Raquel Peres Marçal

Transmissão geracional de alterações pro- e antigenotóxicas induzidas por pesticidas

Generational transmission of pro- /anti-genotoxic alterations induced by pesticides

Tese apresentada à Universidade de Aveiro para cumprimento dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do grau de Doutor em Biologia, realizada sob a orientação científica do Doutor Mário Guilherme Garcês Pacheco, Professor Associado com agregação do Departamento de Biologia da Universidade de Aveiro e sob a coorientação científica da Doutora Sofia Isabel Antunes Gomes Guilherme, Professora Auxiliar Convidada do Departamento de Biologia da Universidade de Iniversidade de Aveiro

Apoio financeiro do POCTI no âmbito do III Quadro Comunitário de Apoio.

Apoio financeiro da FCT e do FSE no âmbito do III Quadro Comunitário de Apoio.

Aos meus pais e ao Carlos

o júri

 Presidente
 Prof. Doutor José Fernando Ferreira Mendes

 Professor Catedrático da Universidade de Aveiro
 Professor Catedrático da Universidade de Aveiro

 Vogais
 Prof. Doutora Maria Del Rosario Planelló Carro

 Profesora Titular da Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia (UNED)
 Prof. Doutor Carlos Alexandre Sarabando Gravato

 Prof. Doutora Isabel O' Neill de Mascarenhas Gaivão
 Professora Auxiliar Convidada da Universidade de Trás-os-Montes e Alto Douro

 Prof. Doutor Carlos Miguel Miguez Barroso
 Professor Auxiliar com Agregação da Universidade de Aveiro

 Prof. Doutor Sofia Isabel Antunes Gomes Guilherme
 Professora Auxiliar Convidada da Universidade de Aveiro

Agradecimentos Chegou a altura de reconhecer e agradecer a todos os seres que de alguma forma contribuíram para a concretização desta tese.

A partir do momento em que tomei a decisão de fazer o doutoramento, soube que tinha que ser nas áreas de conhecimento relacionadas com a fisiologia e a ecotoxicologia. Após partilhar esta vontade com algumas colegas, estas disseram-me para ir falar com a Sofia Guilherme.

Por isso, em primeiro lugar, quero agradecer à Doutora Sofia Guilherme por ter aceitado fazer esta viagem pelo conhecimento e por ter partilhado o seu saber e a sua experiência comigo. Obrigada pelos momentos de ensino, partilha e lazer. Obrigada pela amizade, pelo ouvido e pelo ombro. Obrigada pelas palavras e pela dedicação. A Sofia é um ser muito bonito e quem tem o prazer de a conhecer pode considerar-se uma pessoa de sorte. Quem tem o prazer de trabalhar com ela também.

Logo de seguida quero agradecer ao Professor Doutor Mário Pacheco também por ter aceitado entrar no barco comigo e com a Fia. Sem o professor nada disto teria sido possível. Obrigada pelo ensino, pela orientação, pela motivação e pela paciência ao longo deste percurso. Obrigada pelos momentos mais abertos que permitiram encurtar a distância aluna-Orientador.

Quero agradecer a toda a equipa do Fisiotox, aos presentes e aos que por aqui passaram, pela força (que foi mesmo muita), pela motivação, pelas partilhas das vossas histórias e pelos momentos de convívio (mesmo durante as colheitas). Dentro do grupo há 2 pessoas a quem quero agradecer de forma especial:

À Ni, que sempre esteve ao meu lado, tanto quando estava sentada no laboratório ou no outro lado do telefone. É um prazer falar com a Ni tanto sobre ciência como sobre séries ou qualquer outro assunto. A Ni sempre ouviu os meus desabafos e receios e sempre conseguiu pintar de cor-de-rosa o quadro mais cinzento. Obrigada por teres partilhado comigo as tuas próprias histórias e por me fazeres ver que não estava sozinha.

À Vi, por seres tão nova, tão pequena e tão grande e madura ao mesmo tempo. Quero agradecer-te por seres um exemplo dentro do laboratório, e por seres uma amiga dentro e fora do DBio. Tens um feitio especial que eu já não sei viver sem! Obrigada pela tua amizade e disponibilidade (menos pelo telefone. Há limites, eu sei!).

Também quero agradecer à Charo por me ter aberto as portas do seu laboratório e da sua casa. Obrigado por todo o conhecimento e ajuda partilhada. Obrigada à Lola e ao Óscar pela ajuda e apoio durante a estadia em Madrid.

Obrigada a todo o Staff do Dbio, em especial ao Eng. Armando Costa, ao Eng. Fernando Cozinheiro, à D. Celeste por todo o apoio prestado nesta aventura.

À Malta, a todos, por estes anos em que crescemos e partilhamos juntos a Vida. Em especial à Rita e à Rosinha por todos os abracinhos e sorrisos, passeios e caminhadas, cafés e laranjadas (cerveja não rimava).

Quero agradecer também às minhas biólogas e cidadãs do mundo pelo apoio, amizade e força! Carla, Raquel e Carina, vocês têm um lugar especial dentro de mim.

Danny, Jux, Yuri e Lila, manos que Deus deu, obrigado pela vossa amizade e carinho! Obrigada por acreditarem em mim.

À família Macatráfio por me fazerem dançar, sorrir e ser feliz! A vida é tão mais divertida com vocês por perto.

Aos Peres, aos Marçais e aos Pereiras, aos de longe e aos de perto, por todo o apoio e carinho. Em especial à Ana pela ajuda com as ilustrações, e à prima Beta por ter partilhado comigo algum do seu conhecimento científico.

À minha mana de outra mãe, a Janete, agradeço por estes quase 30 anos de partilha de vida. Fazes parte das memórias mais felizes da minha infância, e por isso és e serás sempre parte do que sou. És das pessoas em quem mais orgulho tenho e é de facto um prazer e uma honra ser tua mana e amiga. Obrigada pelas tuas palavras de força e encorajadoras. Obrigada por me fazeres acreditar em mim.

Aos meus pais por acreditarem em mim e por me apoiarem em todos os momentos (mesmo naqueles em que não tinham a certeza do eu andava a fazer). Obrigado pelo vosso amor e carinho, por ainda cuidarem de mim, e acima de tudo por mostrarem da melhor forma que sabem que me amam e que têm orgulho em mim.

Ao melhor presente que os meus pais me deram, a Té e a Lene. Amo-vos como a mim mesma, e seria capaz de virar este mundo do avesso por vocês. Lene, obrigada por me teres dado as melhores sobrinhas do mundo; e obrigada também a ti, Salva por cuidares deste tesouro tão precioso para mim. Obrigada por tudo, e por todos estes anos de amor e carinho. Té, mais que mana mais velha, foste um modelo e um exemplo; és parte de mim e eu sei que sou parte de ti; contribuíste em muito para o meu crescimento, para a transformação de menina a mulher, e por isso te sou tão grata. Obrigado, também a ti, Luís, cunhado e padrinho, meu exemplo, por estares sempre disponível para ajudar, para ouvir e para amar.

Ao Mikado e à Melodia, por me fazerem tanta companhia e por me fazerem sorrir com as vossas gatatadas.

Ao Carlos, meu melhor amigo, meu primeiro amor e companheiro de vida, agradeço-te por acreditares em mim, e por me inspirares a ser uma pessoa melhor todos os dias, e a correr atrás dos meus sonhos. Obrigada por me fazeres rir quando mais ninguém consegue. Obrigado pelo teu abraço mágico que consegue tirar-me do lugar mais escuro, e colocar-me no lugar mais florido, solar e com brisa de mar; consegues agarrar no meu barco em rodopio e colocá-lo outra vez a andar em frente. A vida contigo é mais bonita, mais feliz e mais fácil. Amote (sem espacinho).

Por último, agradeço a Deus, por me ter acompanhado até aqui, por me ter ajudado a conquistar mais esta etapa, e por me ter dado a conhecer seres tão maravilhosos.

palavras-chave

Pesticidas; Genotoxicidade; Metilação; Intergeracional

Resumo

O dano no ADN pode resultar em mutações, causando transformações malignas (em células somáticas) e/ou com potencial para originar alterações herdáveis (se ocorrer em gametas). Portanto, o impacto real dos pesticidas, através da genotoxicidade, só pode ser rigorosamente avaliado se for alcançado o entendimento da forma como uma exposição parental se traduz na prole, prevendo a repercussão na mesma. Nesse sentido, há a necessidade de perceber a capacidade de reversão do dano após a cessação da exposição, possibilitando uma melhor previsão das consequências, tanto na geração presente como nas subsequentes. Para além disso, é fundamental esclarecer em que medida o impacto dos pesticidas pode ser modulado pelo estado fisiológico do organismo, assim como, pelas condições ambientais.

Os níveis de pesticidas nos sistemas aquáticos aumentaram em todo o mundo devido ao seu uso intensivo e/ou indevido, nas práticas agrícolas. Muitos dos componentes das formulações comerciais de pesticidas são estáveis ao longo do tempo e podem ser transportados na água e no ar para áreas distantes de sua fonte de emissão. Consequentemente, o uso destes agentes tem afetado diversos ecossistemas, ameaçando organismos não-alvo. Em particular, o biota aquático pode ser exposto a agrotóxicos, gerando riscos a diversos níveis, com destaque para a instabilidade no ADN. Para além do impacto na integridade do ADN, vários estudos mostraram que os pesticidas podem ter um impacto a nível epigenético. Sabe-se que as alterações epigenéticas podem ser transmitidas por mitose e meiose, o que significa que essas modificações podem ser mantidas ao longo da vida do organismo e transpostas para a geração seguinte. Além disso, uma vez que uma dada geração pode ser afetada por múltiplas exposições a pesticidas, o conhecimento sobre as alterações induzidas, bem como a sua transmissão intergeracional, é crucial para entender os fenómenos de vulnerabilidade ou resistência adquiridos, como elementos-chave do impacto real na população.

O Procambarus clarkii, também conhecido como o lagostim vermelho do Louisiana, é uma espécie nativa do sul dos Estados Unidos e nordeste do México, embora, atualmente, possa ser encontrado em águas fluviais em todos os continentes, exceto na Austrália e na Antártida. O lagostim vermelho é visto como um paradigma de sucesso devido à sua plasticidade ecológica, apresentando alta resistência em condições adversas (por exemplo, cenários de contaminação por pesticidas). Assim, e considerando a sua ampla distribuição, este lagostim foi selecionado como "organismo-teste" para a realização do presente estudo ecogenotoxicológico. Partindo dos anteriores pressupostos, este trabalho, dividido em 2 fases, teve como objetivo na 1^a fase (i) avaliar o potencial para induzir dano no ADN dos herbicidas glifosato e penoxsulame, dos inseticidas dimetoato e imidaclopride e dos fungicidas pirimetanil e imazalil, numa exposição de curto prazo. A 2^a fase teve como objetivos: (ii) avaliar a genotoxicidade do penoxsulame a longo prazo; (iii) aumentar o conhecimento sobre os efeitos das exposições parentais, considerando a integridade do metiloma e do ADN na prole; (iv) contribuir para a implementação do conceito de pesticidovigilância.

Na 1ª fase, começou-se por avaliar o potencial espermiotóxico dos pesticidas acima mencionados, no curto prazo, em concentrações ambientalmente relevantes (ou seja, glifosato 9 e 90 μg L⁻¹, penoxsulame 2,3 e 23 µg L⁻¹, dimetoato 2,4 e 24 µg L⁻¹, imidaclopride 13,1 e 131 µg L⁻¹, pirimetanil 2,2 e 22 µg L⁻¹ e imazalil 16 e 160 µg L⁻¹), através de uma abordagem *ex vivo*. A integridade do ADN nos espermatozoides foi afetada pelas concentrações mais elevadas de glifosato, pirimetanil e imazalil, bem como por ambas as concentrações de penoxsulame e dimetoato. O imidaclopride foi o único pesticida (inseticida) que apresentou propriedades pró-oxidantes, apesar da ausência de danos inespecíficos no ADN. Esta (primeira) fase também demonstrou a adequabilidade da abordagem ex vivo para triagem de espermiotoxicidade, destacando o impacto de pesticidas em espécies não-alvo, como P. clarkii, devido ao papel crítico da integridade do ADN dos espermatozoides no sucesso da população. Como o penoxsulame mostrou ser o pesticida mais espermiotóxico, foi então o eleito para os testes subsequentes a realizar na 2ª fase.

Assumindo que os efeitos nocivos dos pesticidas no ambiente podem ser estendidos além da escala temporal da exposição, a 2ª fase desta investigação começou com a avaliação da progressão do dano genético após uma exposição (7 dias) ao penoxsulame (Px: 23 µg L-1) e um após o período de pós-exposição (70 dias), considerando células somáticas e espermatozoides do lagostim. A mesma abordagem foi aplicada ao genotóxico-modelo metanosulfonato de etilo (EMS; 5 mg L⁻¹), como via complementar para melhorar o conhecimento sobre a dinâmica da genotoxicidade (indução de dano no ADN vs. recuperação). Os resultados desta etapa demonstraram a genotoxicidade do Px em todas as células/órgãos testados (i.e., brânquias, hepatopâncreas e espermatozoides), mostrando também especificidades celulares e de género, com as células branquiais mostrando-se mais vulneráveis nas fêmeas, enquanto os machos demonstraram maior suscetibilidade no que concerne a células/órgãos internos (i.e., hepatopâncreas e espermatozoides). Em relação à ação do genotóxico-modelo, os lagostins foram incapazes de recuperar do dano induzido no ADN pelo EMS nas brânquias e no hepatopâncreas (em ambos os géneros), bem como nos espermatozoides. Os gametas masculinos mostraram ser o tipo celular mais vulnerável, enquanto o dano no ADN do hepatopâncreas só foi percetível após o período pós-exposição. Assim, ficou claro que a caracterização do risco genotóxico de um determinado agente deve integrar um conjunto de informações, abordando diferentes tipos de danos no ADN, especificidades de células/órgãos e género, bem como uma avaliação de longo prazo da progressão temporal do dano.

A hipótese de que o dano a longo prazo causado pelo Px vai além da geração exposta foi testada através da observação de alterações na metilação e na integridade do ADN da prole, após uma exposição parental. Portanto, considerando um contexto intergeracional e o potencial genotóxico do Px, seguiram-se duas etapas (dentro da fase 2, supracitada). A primeira, consistiu na procura do entendimento da ação do Px sobre o metiloma de células musculares esqueléticas em duas gerações de lagostins.

Assim, os organismos de F₀ e da sua descendência (F₁) foram expostos a Px (23 µg L⁻¹) e a EMS (5 mg L⁻¹). Os indivíduos adultos (F₀) não apresentaram alterações no metiloma após a exposição ao herbicida. No entanto, a hipometilação que se observou nos juvenis da geração F1 não expostos (com exposição parental a Px) demonstrou que o histórico de exposição, per se, pode modular o epigenoma, apontando um efeito epigenético intergeracional. Nos descendentes F_1 do grupo exposto a Px, a hipermetilação foi mais pronunciada nos machos do que nas fêmeas. Além disso, o EMS induziu hipometilação em fêmeas adultas (F_0), destacando uma especificidade de género. O papel modulador de exposições passadas (parentais) em relação aos efeitos do penoxsulame ou EMS mostrou também depender do estágio de desenvolvimento da prole. Estes resultados provaram que uma influência indireta (ou seja, eventos de exposição ocorridos na geração anterior) pode ter um impacto maior na dinâmica epigenética do que exposições diretas. A segunda etapa incluiu exposições indiretas, adotando uma abordagem ex vivo, onde a integridade do ADN de espermatozoides dos indivíduos da geração F1 foi avaliada após uma exposição a Px ou EMS, com e sem a influência de uma exposição parental (F₀), aos mesmos compostos. A exposição parental, isoladamente, não afetou a integridade do ADN dos espermatozoides da geração F1 (não expostos). No entanto, o histórico de exposição a Px aumentou a vulnerabilidade a lesões oxidativas de ADN na prole exposta ao mesmo agente. Os descendentes da geração exposta a EMS pareceram desenvolver mecanismos de proteção do ADN expressos quando também foram expostos a esse desafio genotóxico específico, revelando traços protetores advindos da história parental, revelando-a como um escudo toxicológico. O potencial espermiotóxico do Px só foi observado com um histórico de exposição parental a EMS, revelando, desta vez, a história de vida (exposição a Px) como uma "sombra" toxicológica (características negativas) para a descendência.

Globalmente, os presentes resultados demonstraram que as recomendações de procedimentos regulatórios para proteção do ambiente aquático devem ser aprimoradas. Portanto, a presente investigação reforça a importância de uma avaliação (epi)genotóxica (combinando dois biomarcadores, a integridade do ADN e a metilação do ADN) abrangendo várias gerações. Além disso, no quadro da autorização de comercialização de pesticidas, deve-se considerar uma avaliação contínua desses agentes para determinar seu real impacto ambiental, o que pode ser considerado como um apelo à criação do conceito pesticidovigilância.

keywords

Pesticides; Genotoxicity; DNA methylation; Intergenerational

abstract

The DNA damage may result in mutations, leading to malignant transformation (in somatic cells) and/or having the potential to cause altered heritable traits (if it occurs in gametes). Therefore, the real impact of agrochemicals through genotoxicity can be thoroughly assessed only if the understanding on how a parental exposure is translated into the offspring is achieved, predicting the repercussion on the prole. In the same direction, there is a need to unveil the ability of damage reversion after the exposure cessation, enabling a better forecast of the consequences both at the present and subsequent generations. In addition, it is critical to clarify in what extent this potential impact of agrochemicals can be modulated by the organism physiological state and surrounding environmental conditions.

The levels of pesticides in water have increased worldwide due to their intensive use and/or misuse in the modern agricultural domain. Many components of pesticide formulations are stable over time and can be transported in water and air far from their point source. Consequently, the use of these agents has affected several ecosystems, threatening non-target organisms. In particular, aquatic biota can be exposed to waterborne pesticides, generating health risks at several levels, with emphasis on genomic instability. In addition to the impact on DNA integrity, several studies have shown that pesticides can have an epigenotoxic impact. It is known that epigenetic changes can be transmitted by mitosis and meiosis, which means that these modifications can be maintained throughout the organism's life and transported to the next generation. Moreover, since each generation might be affected by multiple exposures to pesticides, the knowledge about the induced alterations, as well as their intergenerational transmission, is crucial to understand the phenomena of acquired vulnerability or resistance as key determinants to the real impact on the population.

Procambarus clarkii, the red swamp crayfish, is a native species to the southern United States and north-eastern Mexico, though, nowadays, can be found in inland waters on all continents except Australia and Antarctica. This crayfish is seen as a paradigm of success due to its ecological plasticity, showing high resistance in adverse conditions (*e.g.*, pesticide contamination scenarios). Thus, and considering its wide distribution, this crayfish was selected as a "tool organism" to perform the current ecogenotoxicological study. Bearing all this in mind, this biphasic work aimed (i) to assess the DNA damaging potential of the herbicides glyphosate and penoxsulam, the insecticides dimethoate and imidacloprid, and the fungicides pyrimethanil and imazalil (Phase 1).

In a 2nd phase, it was aimed: (ii) to evaluate the penoxsulam long-term genotoxicity; (iii) to increase the knowledge concerning the effects of parental exposures on offspring, considering methylome and DNA integrity; (iv) to contribute to the implementation of the pesticidovigilance concept. Within phase 1, it was first assessed the short-term (7 days) spermiotoxic potential of the above-mentioned pesticides, at environmentally relevant concentrations (i.e., glyphosate at 9 and 90 µg L⁻¹, penoxsulam at 2.3 and 23 µg L⁻¹, dimethoate at 2.4 and 24 μ g L⁻¹, imidacloprid at 13.1 and 131 μ g L⁻¹, pyrimethanil at 2.2 and 22 μg L⁻¹, and imazalil at 16 and 160 μg L⁻¹), through an *ex vivo* approach. Sperm DNA integrity was affected by the higher concentrations of glyphosate, pyrimethanil and imazalil, as well as by both concentrations of penoxsulam and dimethoate. Imidacloprid was the only pesticide (insecticide) displaying prooxidant properties, despite the absence of non-specific DNA damage. This (first) phase also demonstrated the suitability of the ex vivo approach to spermiotoxicity screening, highlighting the impact of pesticides on non-target species, such as P. clarkii, due to the critical role of sperm DNA integrity on the population's success. Since penoxsulam showed to be the most spermiotoxic pesticide, it was then elected to perform phase 2.

Assuming that harmful effects of environmental noxious compounds can be extended beyond the exposure time scale, phase 2 began with the evaluation of the genetic damage progression following an exposure (7 days) to penoxsulam (Px: 23 µg L⁻¹) and a post-exposure period (70 days), considering crayfish somatic and germ cells. The same approach was applied to the model genotoxicant ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; 5 mg L⁻¹), as a complementary path to improve the knowledge concerning the genotoxicity dynamics (DNA damage induction vs. recovery). The outcomes of this stage of work pointed out Px genotoxicity in all cells/organs tested (i.e., gills, hepatopancreas and spermatozoa), also disclosing cells- and gender-specificities, with gill cells showing to be more vulnerable in females, while males demonstrated higher susceptibility when internal cells/organs (*i.e.*, hepatopancreas and spermatozoa) were considered. Regarding the model genotoxicant, crayfish were unable to recover from the DNA damage induced by EMS in gills and hepatopancreas (both genders), as well as in spermatozoa. Male gametes proved to be the most vulnerable cell type, while DNA damage in hepatopancreas was only perceptible after the post-exposure period. Thus, it became clear that the characterization of the genotoxic hazard of a given agent must integrate a complete set of information, addressing different types of DNA damage, cell/organ- and genderspecificities, as well as a long-term appraisal of the temporal progression of damage.

The supposition that the long-term damage caused by Px went beyond the exposed generation was confirmed by the effects on methylome and sperm DNA currently reported in the prole, following a parental exposure. Therefore, considering an intergenerational context and the demonstration of the Px genotoxic potential, two steps followed (within the above-mentioned phase 2). The first one consisted in the understanding of the action of Px on methylome of skeletal muscle cells in two crayfish generations.

Thus, F_0 and its progeny (F_1) were exposed to Px (23 µg L⁻¹) and to EMS (5 mg L⁻¹). Adult crayfish (F_0) didn't present alterations in the methylome following the herbicide exposure. However, the hypomethylation occurring in unexposed F_1 juveniles (with parental exposure to Px) demonstrated that the history of exposure, *per se*, can modulate the epigenome, pointing out an intergenerational epigenetic effect. In F_1 descendants of the Px-exposed group, hypermethylation was more pronounced in males than females. Moreover, EMS induced hypomethylation in adult females (F_0), highlighting a gender-specificity.

The modulatory role of past (parental) exposures to penoxsulam or EMS showed also to depend on the offspring developmental stage. These outcomes proved that an indirect influence (*i.e.*, exposure events occurring in the preceding generation) can have a higher impact on epigenetic dynamics than direct exposures. The second step included indirect exposures, adopting an ex vivo approach, where the DNA integrity of F1 spermatozoa was evaluated following a Px or EMS exposure, with and without the influence of a parental exposure (F_0) to the same compounds. The parental exposure, alone, did not affect the DNA integrity of F_1 spermatozoa (unexposed). However, the historical of a Px exposure increased the vulnerability to oxidative DNA lesions in the Px-exposed offspring. The descendants from the generation exposed to EMS seemed to develop DNA protection mechanisms expressed when they were also exposed to this specific genotoxic challenge, unveiling protective traits arising from the parental history, disclosing it as a toxicological shield. The spermiotoxic potential of Px was only observed with a parental exposure background to EMS, disclosing, this time, life history (Px-exposure) as a toxicological "shadow" (negative traits) to progeny.

Overall, the present findings demonstrated that the recommendations of regulatory procedures for aquatic environment protection must be improved. Therefore, the current research pointed out the importance of performing an (epi)genotoxic evaluation (combining two useful biomarkers, namely DNA integrity and DNA methylation) encompassing several generations. Moreover, during pesticide marketing authorization, it should be considered a continuous evaluation of these agents in order to determine their real environmental impact, which can be regarded as a call for pesticidovigilance.

Table of Contents

1. General introduction		
1.1	Genome and epigenome analysis in ecogenotoxicology	23
1.2	Aquatic contamination by pesticides	36
1.3	Procambarus clarkii as a tool in (epi)genotoxicity assessment	45
1.4	Aims and thesis structure	49
Refe	erences	51
2. DNA of crayfish spermatozoa as a target of waterborne pesticides – an <i>ex vivo</i> approach as a tool to short-term spermiotoxicity screening		
2.1	Introduction	68
2.2	Materials and Methods	71
2.3	Results	76
2.4	Discussion	80
2.5	Conclusion	
Refer	rences	
3. Improving knowledge on genotoxicity dynamics in somatic and germ cells of crayfish (<i>Procambarus clarkii</i>)		
3.1	Introduction	98
3.2	Materials and Methods	
3.3	Results	106
3.4	Discussion	113
3.5	Conclusions	121
Refer	rences	
4. Intergenerational patterns of DNA methylation in <i>Procambarus clarkii</i> following exposure to genotoxicants – a conjugation in past simple or past continuous?		
4.1	Introduction	130
4.2	Materials and Methods	133
4.3	Results	139
4.4	Discussion	143
4.5	Conclusions	153
Refer	rences	

5. Unveiling the nexus between parental exposure to toxicants and heritable spermiotoxicity - is life history a shield or a shadow?		
5.1	Introduction	
5.2	Materials and methods167	
5.3	Results	
5.4	Discussion	
5.5	Conclusions	
References		
6. General discussion and Final Remarks		
6.1 con	<i>Procambarus clarkii</i> as a non-model organism in ecogenotoxicology: weighing the pros and s201	
6.2	Different approaches in ecogenotoxicology assays	
6.3	Pesticide risk assessment relying on (epi)genotoxic data	
6.4	The environment calls for pesticidovigilance	
6.5	Final Remarks	
References		

Chapter I

General Introduction

1. General introduction

1.1 Genome and epigenome analysis in ecogenotoxicology

In ecotoxicology it is important to comprehend the molecular mechanisms that underlying the response of organisms to different chemical and physical environmental stressors (Šrut, 2021). It has been shown that the exposure to environmental pollutants can induce DNA damage (Barranger et al., 2016; Guilherme et al., 2015; Marques et al., 2014) and alter the epigenome, namely the DNA methylation (Rondon et al., 2017; Yauk et al., 2008). Some authors pointed out to the complex interaction between DNA damage and DNA methylation, since it has been shown that the presence of DNA lesions could interfere with DNMT activity (Akcha et al., 2021; Yauk et al., 2008). Even after the initial stressor has been removed, environmental-induced epigenetic alterations can last for a long time and even be passed on to following generations (Mirbahai and Chipman, 2014). Thus, if chemical exposure to one generation can have effects on multiple subsequent non-exposed generations, the risk assessment of these chemicals should incorporate this time interval between effects and exposure in previous generations (Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2014). Considering this, DNA damage and DNA methylation parameters present highly promising tools as sensitive and predictive biomarkers of environmental exposure in the field of ecotoxicology.

DNA damage

The genome is the central base, where the organism cell's information is encoded by the genes. The genome's integrity is vital for every living being and interferes with the organism' biological levels, *i.e.*, from gene to protein, cell to tissue, and then to organism, population, and, at the top, ecosystem. A single change in the DNA molecule can induce major biological effects, such as interrupting normal cell functions, and even resulting in cell death. For instance, mutations in some genes are associated with later stages of progression of some types of tumors, and the formation of DNA adducts (products of the

23

covalent reaction of electrophilic molecules with DNA) may be a beginning of the process of carcinogenesis (Phillips and Arlt, 2009). At the level of the germline cell, severe implications not only for the individual but also for the entire population since it may cause reproductive impairment, teratogenesis and, very importantly, tumorigenesis (Martins and Costa, 2017).



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of genotoxic sources and DNA damage (based on Chatterjee and Walker, 2017).

Genotoxicants may induce on the genome point mutations, deletions, insertions, gene amplifications, chromosomal rearrangements, or numerical chromosomal changes (aneuploidy) (Phillips and Arlt, 2009). In the field of ecotoxicology, the evaluation of the genotoxicants potential presents in the environment has become an essential tool, aiming to assess the actual risk to organisms, as well as to help in the development of protection and mitigation regulatory strategies against these compounds. According to the EU, risk assessment of carcinogens includes hazard identification and characterization (dose-response), and exposure assessment (*e.g.*, intensity, frequency, pathway and duration of the exposure). These pillars are then merged into the assessment of potential risks for cancer induction in exposed populations (European Commission, 2009).

DNA damage caused by genotoxic promoters can take numerous forms (Fig. 1), and it can result in:

24

- breaks in the sugar-phosphate backbone of the molecule, either in one strand (single strand break; SSB) or in both strands of the double helix (doublestrand breaks; DSB);
- (ii) covalent binding of the genotoxicant;
- (iii) the most abundant oxidation lesion in DNA, the 8-oxo-dGuo; it can be formed by free radical attack on DNA or through normal aerobic metabolism (Phillips and Arlt, 2009).

To assess genotoxicity, the occurrence of DNA-adducts, chromosomal aberrations, sister chromatid exchanges, and micronuclei frequency could be used as biomarkers (EC, 2009b). Most genotoxicants do not react directly to DNA, but may be metabolically activated, inside the cells, to produce reactive intermediates and, some of them, can also induce oxidative DNA damage (Phillips and Arlt, 2009). In reaction to the DNA damage, vertebrate organisms have developed DNA repair mechanisms such as base excision repair (BER), nucleotide excision repair (NER), mismatch repair (MMR), homologous recombination (HR) and non-homologous end joining (NHEJ), which are active throughout different stages of the cell cycle, allowing the cells to repair the DNA injuries (Chatterjee and Walker, 2017). DNA repair mechanisms (e.g., BER) were also reported in invertebrates (Braga et al., 2021; Pruski and Dixon, 2002). Some genotoxic agents may interfere with the DNA repair ability, and persistent genotoxic damage depends upon the balance between repair and replacement of damaged cells (El-Bibany et al., 2014). In fact, failures in antioxidant defense and in DNA repair may increase base oxidation and DNA strand breaks (Azqueta et al., 2009). As mentioned above, studies on aquatic invertebrates have shown that DNA damage can lead to genotoxicity, mutation, cell death, and carcinogenesis, with long-term consequences of which may include embryonal aberrations (Barranger et al., 2014) reduced hatching rates, gamete development, and reduced fitness (Lewis and Galloway, 2009).

Chapter I

Alkaline comet assay as a methodology to assess DNA damage

The DNA damage assessment provide an early warning signal of genotoxic exposure (Rybakovas et al., 2009). As shown in Fig. 1, there are several forms of damage and for each type of harm there is one or more techniques to detect and evaluate them (e.g., Figueroa-González and Pérez-Plasencia, 2017). One of the most common techniques to measure DNA strand breaks (single or double) in eukaryotic cells is the alkaline comet assay (Collins, 2004). This method was developed in 1984 by Ostling and Johanson (1984), when they demonstrated the migration of DNA fragments from nuclei under a neutral condition (used to detect double-strand DNA breaks). Later, Singh et al. (1988) showed that an alkaline condition substantially increased the specificity and reproducibility of the assay. The alkaline comet assay (Fig. 2) is considered sensitive, inexpensive, and fast, having been used in genotoxicity testing for in vitro screening of innovative cosmetics, medications, and chemicals, for many years (Azqueta and Collins, 2014). Also, is one of the most commonly used methods in ecotoxicology since it can easily quantify small amounts of DNA damage (Azqueta and Collins, 2014; Collins, 2004; de Lapuente et al., 2015, Tice et al., 2000). It is also used to detect UV-induced pyrimidine dimers, oxidized bases and alkylation damage following the introduction of lesion-specific endonucleases (Collins and Azqueta, 2012). Moreover, this assay can be applied to a single-cell suspension of material from any animal tissue (Phillips and Arlt, 2009).

The comet assay require preparations with dissociated cells, either cells already in suspension (*e.g.* spermatozoon) or cells previously separated from the tissues (*e.g.* gills and hepatopancreas cells) (Sahlmann et al., 2017). Cells with high DNA damage display increased migration of the genetic material from the nucleus resembling the shape of comet-like structures (Fig. 3). The level of damage is measured by the stained DNA tail intensity (Azqueta et al., 2009; Phillips and Arlt, 2009). As mentioned, a simple alteration to the original protocol allows the comet assay to detect specific DNA damage, *e.g.,* oxidative DNA damage, for instance the lesion-specific bacterial repair enzymes Endonuclease III (EndoIII) and formamidopyrimidine DNA glycosylase (FPG) which

recognize oxidized pyrimidines and purines, respectively (Azqueta et al., 2009; Collins, 2014).



Fig. 2. Procedure of the comet assay. (1) microtube with cell suspension; (2) cell suspension embedded in agarose;
(3) lysis (pH 10); (4) alkaline unwinding and electrophoresis (pH 13); (5) representation of stained comet-shaped nucleoids.

As mentioned, a simple alteration to the original protocol allows the comet assay to detect specific DNA damage, *e.g.*, oxidative DNA damage, for instance the lesion-specific bacterial repair enzymes Endonuclease III (EndoIII) and formamidopyrimidine DNA glycosylase (FPG) which recognize oxidized pyrimidines and purines, respectively (Azqueta et al., 2009; Collins, 2014). The enzymes create an apurinic/apyrimidinic site by removing the damaged base; endonucleases specifically detect oxidized pyrimidines, and formamidopyrimidine DNA glycosylases detect 8-oxo-7,8-dihydroguanine and ring opened-purines (Figueroa-González and Pérez-Plasencia, 2017).

Besides, comet assay application gained great relevance in the field of ecotoxicology, where mammals, amphibians, fish, and invertebrate species are used as

bioindicators for environmental genotoxicants (de Lapuente et al., 2015; Frenzilli et al., 2009; Jha, 2008; Lee and Steinert, 2003).



Fig. 3. Schematic representation of visual comet classification into five categories (0: no tail; to 4: almost all DNA in tail) proposed by Collins et al., 1997 (Figure adapted from Valencia et al., 2011).

In ecotoxicology context, this technique is used in many studies to assess DNA damage and repair (Braga et al., 2021; Marques et al., 2014) and has a widespread application considering genotoxicity testing of *in vitro* (Bajpayee et al., 2013), *ex vivo* (Marçal et al., 2020) and *in vivo* (Braga et al., 2021) approaches. Though the knowledge regarding DNA damage and repair in invertebrates species is still scarce, crustaceans (Costa et al., 2014; Sahlmann et al., 2007), and other invertebrates (Gallo et al., 2018; Zang et al., 2000) have served as useful indicator species in ecogenotoxicological studies. Among invertebrates, different cell types were used in the comet assay, being the hemocytes the most examined (Barranger et al., 2016; da Silva Rocha et al., 2012; Klobučar et al., 2012; Lacaze et al., 2010; Lewis et al., 2010; Lewis and Galloway, 2009; Malev et al., 2010; Noventa et al., 2011; Patetsini et al., 2013; Raimundo et al., 2010; Wilson et al., 2018; El-shorbagy and Hamdi, 2017; Martins et al., 2013; Raimundo et al., 2016; Valant and Drobne, 2012; Wang et al., 2009) and spermatozoa (Caldwell et al., 2011; Erraud et al., 2018; Lacaze et al., 2011; Nagarajappa et al., 2006).

General Introduction

DNA methylation in epigenotoxicity

"Epigenetic modifications can be considered as the punctuation marks in the genome."

Professor Marnie Blewitt

It could be said that if the DNA code was an history written in a book, the epigenetic markers will be those that will allow to understand it.

Epigenetics refers to an annotation in the form of chemical marks on top of the DNA code (which is present in every cell), but the pattern of gene expression (*i.e.*, which genes are expressed or non-expressed) determines the cell type and function (Head et al., 2012). The term epigenetics was first introduced in 1942 by Conrad Waddington and was used to describe the class of internal and external interactions between the environment and the genes leading to the development of phenotype (Tronick and Hunter, 2016; Waddington, 1942). Nowadays, it is clear that epigenetic processes can also be passed down from generation to generation in organisms (Tollefsbol, 2011). Moreover, another important aspect of epigenetic markers is that they are susceptible to chemical and nonchemical environmental factors (Gavery and Roberts, 2017, Head et al., 2012, Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2014). The epigenome serves as a link between the changing environment and the genome (stable and resistant to environmental changes) (Fig. 4).

Effects of early life experiences, such as toxic exposure or malnutrition, can show up later in life and even be passed to future generations (Head et al., 2012; Kucharski et al., 2008; Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2011). Epigenetic mechanisms have been increasingly used to explain the rapid adaptation of species, since this cannot be justified only by the action of natural selection on genetic variants (Carneiro and Lyko, 2020). Ardura et al. (2017) considered epigenetics as a DNA signature that affects gene expression and enables a rapid reaction of organisms to environmental changes. Indeed, epigenetic mechanisms could promote phenotypic plasticity and adaptation to different environments, therefore, the extent to which environmental effects can trigger epigenetic responses is particularly interesting for understanding the role of epigenetics in animal adaptation (Verhoeven et al., 2016).



Fig. 4. Schematic diagram relating the genome, epigenome and environment with respect to transgenerational phenotypic characters (adapted from Ho and Burggren, 2010).

Epigenetic biomarkers have been identified as a potential risk-assessment tool in the future. Epigenetics-related alterations can change in response to a variety of environmental circumstances, influencing the gene expression and, as a result, the phenotype of the organism (Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2014). Once the epigenetic changes to gene expression are it can potentially affect not only the organism but the future generations' evolutionary paths (Anway et al., 2008; Head et al., 2012; Oppold et al., 2015). Over time clear pathways or biomarkers of heritable epigenetic alteration may become

General Introduction

apparent, which may enable risk assessors to predict the likelihood of heritable contamination-induced epigenetic changes (Shaw et al., 2017).

In laboratory experiments, several authors have investigated the epigenetic mechanisms underlying environmentally induced phenotypes under controlled conditions (Gavery and Roberts, 2010; Kucharski et al., 2008; Nilsen et al., 2016; Vandegehuchte et al., 2010b). An important characteristic regarding epigenetic marks is that they can be easily influenced by environmental signals, but, unlike mutations, they are potentially reversible and can be affected by competing signals, as it was showed by the example of the study with the Agouti mouse (Dolinoy et al., 2010), where deleterious changes on the fetal epigenome were reversed with maternal dietary supplementation.

Epigenetics markers include DNA methylation, histone modifications and noncoding RNA activity, influencing gene expression primarily through the local modification of chromatin (Hu and Barrett, 2017). DNA methylation is the most studied epigenetic marker, mainly in mammalians (Carneiro and Lyko, 2020; Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2011; Yagound et al., 2020), which consist in the addition of a methyl group, from the methyl donor S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) to the fifth carbon atom of cytosine (or at the sixth nitrogen atom of adenine in bacteria) (Šrut, 2021) in certain CpG dinucleotides (Bird, 2002). CpG islands (regions of the genome that contain a large number of CpG dinucleotide repeats) are often located around gene promotor regions, playing a role in regulating gene transcription (Šrut, 2021). Methylation can also occur within gene bodies, and it is a prevalent type of CpG methylation in invertebrates. This important transfer reaction is catalyzed by the DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs). The position of DNA methylation (i.e., within the gene, at the transcription start site or in the promotor) will determine the effects on gene expression (Norouzitallab et al., 2016). For instance, the hypermethylation of a gene promoter is associated with a decreased expression of that gene, while the hypomethylation of non-coding region has been linked to chromosome instability (Collotta et al., 2013).

Chapter I

DNA methylation marks, in mammals, are erased and re-established twice during embryogenesis, which constitute a significant barrier to transfer of epigenetic information via DNA methylation between generations (Yagound et al., 2020). However, in nonmammalian species, such as in fish, it seems that there is an absence of global DNA methylation remodeling during embryogenesis and so the transfer of DNA methylation patterns across generations can occur (Yagound et al., 2020). Likewise, invertebrates seemed to lack epigenetic reprogramming, which could allow the transfer of DNA methylation through generations (Yagound et al., 2020).

The first studies concerning invertebrate organisms stated that DNA methylation was linked with the cell memory system, the silence and repress of genomic repeated DNA sequences, the mode of development and amount of cell (Regev et al., 1998). Some invertebrates as *Caenorhabditis elegans* lack this epigenetic marker (Simpson et al., 1986) and others, such as the Drosophila melanogaster, has only 0.034% of methylated cytosines (Capuano et al., 2014). Other insects, crustaceans and mollusk has their DNA methylated from 1-15% (Fallet et al., 2020; Šrut, 2021; Vogt et al., 2015). The DNA methylation has been comprehensively studied in the marble crayfish, *Procambarus fallax* (Martin et al., 2010; Vogt, 2008). The methylome of this crayfish showed that 41% of genes are substantially methylated, while 26% are unmethylated (Falckenhayn, 2016 apud Vogt, 2018). CpGspecific DNA methylation is seen in genes and repetitions, while most repeats are hypomethylated, except for repeats within genes, which have greater methylation levels (Vogt, 2018). Similar to many other invertebrates, the DNA methylation modification in the crayfish is directed to the gene bodies of housekeeping genes. When compared to mammals, the methylation and demethylation machinery of marbled crayfish, although effective, is simple (Vogt, 2018). The marble crayfish shares crucial features of DNA methylation such as CpG methylation, gene body methylation and repeated methylation with many other animals (Vogt, 2018). DNA methylation seems to be associated with P. fallax successful adaptation to different environments, where it seems that its genome can adapt to specific environmental conditions (Carneiro and Lyko, 2020).

In an ecotoxicological context, an epigenetic approach could be beneficial since epigenetic marks on specific genes, or even global DNA methylation, could be used as biomarkers for stressor exposure or harmful effects, since exposure to non-genotoxic compounds has been shown to induce DNA methylation changes (Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2011). For instance, global DNA methylation could serve as broad indications of accumulated stress during the lifespan of an organism (Head et al., 2012). Considering inter- and transgenerational studies, epigenetic inheritance could explain why a population is: (i) slow to recover after, for instance, remediation of contaminated sediments; (ii) rapidly adapted to local contamination; (iii) able to thrive in very contaminated areas (Head et al., 2012). The presence of environmental chemicals (e.g., metals, pesticides, endocrine-disruptors) and alterations in environmental conditions (e.g., temperature and salinity changes, nutritional deficiencies) are significantly more likely to affect gene expression through epigenetic processes than by mutations (Ardura et al., 2017; Cribiu et al., 2018; Oppold et al., 2015; Rondon et al., 2016; Šrut, 2021; Vandegehuchte et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2001). Most of the studies, regarding DNA methylation changes induced by contaminants, are performed in vertebrates (Anway et al., 2005; Head, 2014; Nilsen et al., 2016; Pilsner et al., 2010; Yauk et al., 2008), being only a few addressed in invertebrate species (Gavery and Roberts, 2010; Vandegehuchte, et al., 2010; Vogt et al., 2015). In invertebrates, some authors observed changes in the DNA methylation concerning specific genes (e.g. Jeremias et al., 2018; Vandegehuchte et al., 2010), while others studied the global DNA methylation (Akcha et al., 2021; Lian et al., 2015; Oppold et al., 2015; Vandegehuchte et al., 2009a). Among the numerous intergenerational effects that can be selected to assess the effect of environmental toxics at population-level (e.g. hatching rate, embryo development, embryo abnormalities, among others), the epigenetic inheritance (Head, 2014), such as the changes in global genome methylation, can be a starting point once, and as mentioned above, modifications in this epigenetic marker may affect severely the whole individual. For instance, global DNA methylation changes in germline, induced by environmentally factors can be inter- and transgenerational transmitted (Guerrero-Bosagna et al., 2014). These germline epigenetic modifications also induce epigenetic

Chapter I

alterations in somatic tissues which correlate with transgenerational transcriptome changes and phenotypic abnormalities (Nilsson and Skinner, 2015).

It can be considered that environmental genotoxicants can also have epigenotoxics potential. Yauk et al. (2008) observed DNA strands breaks and hypermethylation in mice spermatozoa (after being exposed to environmental contaminants). These authors suggest that the DNA damage caused an increase in DNMT activity (DNMTs are known to be upregulated during DNA damage and bind with high affinity to many DNA lesions), which resulted in the observed hypermethylation (Yauk et al., 2008).

So far, it is known that:

- (i) changes in DNA methylation can affect species' phenotype negatively (*e.g.* cancer occurrence) or positively (*e.g.* increase adaptation) (Sargsyan et al., 2019);
- stressing environmental conditions may induce changes in the global methylation levels (Aniagu et al., 2008; Cleary et al., 2019), that could be involved in phenotypic plasticity which can be important for adaptation to changing environmental conditions (Bossdorf et al., 2008; Suarez-Ulloa et al., 2015);
- (iii) the direction of the change in global methylation may depend on particular stressors, *i.e.*, some chemicals present in environment may reduce methylation while others tend to increase it (Akcha et al., 2012; Rondon et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2001).

DNA methylation assessment

There are three basic approaches to assess the methylation state of DNA: (i) the methylation sensitive amplification polymorphism (MSAP) method (Pérez-Figueroa, 2013); (ii) the full genome sequencing via bisulphite sequencing that profiles the genomic-scale methylation patterns; and (iii) the kit based quantitative tools such as ELISAs that capture

global DNA methylation patterns (Kurdyukov and Bullock, 2016). ELISA-like methods are spectrophotometric assays that can detect the levels of methylated cytosines in a sample of genomic DNA. These methods are examples of the tools that have become commercially available as the field of epigenetics expands in biomedical science and have already been used in animals' studies. The limitation of this approach is that the data reflect only global levels with no information about changes in specific regions of the genome; however, this is an affordable and approachable method to gain insight into changes in global patterns (*e.g.*, tissue-wide, or as a function of developmental stage) of DNA methylation between discrete samples (Hofmann, 2017).

Intergenerational effects

The transfer of epigenetic marks can contribute positively to the offspring equipment, being a gift to the success of the population (*e.g.*, stress adaptation); however, there may be situations in which the altered epigenetic marks lead to the production of hazardous phenotypes (*e.g.*, tumor development). In this later situation, the inter- or transgenerational inheritance could be a burden for the population (Skinner et al., 2011). The term transgenerational inheritance is only used to describe epigenetic modifications that are able to persist from F_1 (or F_2) generation to their respective offspring F_2 (or F_3), or later generations, in the absence of direct exposure to the factor that initiated the change (Xavier et al., 2019). While, intergenerational epigenetic inheritance is used to define epigenetic modifications in response to direct exposure to environmental factors that are transmitted from one generation to the next, *i.e.*, from parent's generation to the offspring's generation (F₁) (Fig. 4) (Heard and Martienssen, 2014).

Intergenerational and multigenerational studies are crucial to ecotoxicology field, since the cause (*e.g.* a chemical exposure) and effect (*e.g.* DNA damage) don't need to occur at the same time, life stage, or even generation (Head et al., 2012). Some studies have reported that the parental exposure can have an impact on the prole' DNA integrity (Lewis and Galloway, 2009) and on DNA methylation pattern (Ding et al., 2020, Rondon et al., 2017). Changes in DNA methylation, even with the environmental stressor remotion, the

Chapter I

alteration can last for generations (Anway et al., 2006; Yauk et al., 2008). One of the most cited study concerning the impact of parental exposure, observed that pesticide-treated pregnant rats produced male offspring with lower sperm number and viability, and the effect persisted up to the F_4 generation and was correlated with altered patterns of DNA methylation (Anway et al., 2005).

The potential consequences of environmental chemical exposures for the health of non-exposed future generations should be considered in the ecological risk assessment process (Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2011), taking into account the cause-effect relationships between specific environmental factors and the subsequent epigenetic modifications (Rondon et al., 2017). Epigenetic inheritance (*e.g.*, intergenerational) points out the long-term effects of pollutants, which affect how organisms cope with current and historical pollution burdens. The understanding of contaminant-related risks is critical for reducing environmental and health impacts, developing appropriate regulations, and implementing appropriate risk management strategies, all while taking into account the biological and functional effects caused by various exposure levels and pathways (Shaw et al., 2017). Furthermore, to really comprehend the influence of epigenetic alterations on organisms, as well as their adaptation to changing environmental conditions, it is critical to link epigenetic modifications to gene expression patterns and, as a result, with phenotypes. Some authors stated that species adaptation would benefit from relaxed gene expression control, i.e., low levels of DNA methylation would increase transcriptional opportunities and enhance activity of transposable elements (Roberts and Gavery, 2012).

1.2 Aquatic contamination by pesticides

Environmental fate and risk

Freshwater contamination in surface and groundwater is a great worldwide concern, being its protection part of the European Water Framework Directive (WFD) milestones (European Commission, 2008), and integrated in the United Nations
Sustainable Developmental Goals. In the last century, approximately 80 000 new chemicals (*e.g.* fertilizers, plasticizers, surfactants, PCBs, PAHs, metals and pesticides) have been release into the environment (Selvaraju et al., 2021).

Pesticides are synthesized or natural substances that can prevent, destroy, or control harmful organisms (denominated as pests), protect plants or plant by-products during production, storage, and transport. These compounds can be classified based on their chemical structure (*e.g.*, organophosphates, neonicotinoids, azoles), target (*e.g.*, fungicides, herbicides, insecticides) or mode of action (*e.g.*, acetylcholinesterase inhibitors, calcium channels inhibitors) (Collotta et al., 2013).



Fig. 5. Pesticide fate (adapted from Zacharia, 2011).

Pesticides can be found almost everywhere worldwide (Fig. 5), since due to their physical and chemicals properties, can enter water bodies through surface runoff, leaching, and/or erosion (Khan and Law, 2005). Furthermore, pesticide residues can reach the atmosphere (through drift, evaporation, and wind erosion processes) and contaminate surface waters, soils and biota via precipitation (Dubus et al., 2000). These compounds are one of the main contributors to the decrease of groundwater quality (Skevas, 2020) and,

therefore the control of pesticides misuse and their permanence in the environment is still a major challenge (Hofstetter et al., 2010). The intensive use of these kind of compounds in agriculture is related to the need of increasing production, considering the high global demand for food. Bearing in mind the pesticides ubiquity in the environmental scenario, ecotoxicological studies have grown significantly in recent decades from the standpoint of environmental protection (Lushchak et al., 2018).

The magnitude of damage caused by pesticides on aquatic environment is very difficult to estimate, since even when employed in accordance with acceptable agricultural practices, they have the potential to disrupt the ecosystem's natural equilibrium, and create significant ecological changes (Lushchak et al., 2018; Negro et al., 2011). Moreover, since pesticides have different modes of action, and the information of their effects stills scarce, their impact on non-target species is of great importance (Negro et al., 2011). Considering this, the biochemical responses assessment concerning the pesticide-exposed organisms is an approach that can show the overall environmental quality (McCarty et al., 2002). It is well described that pesticides can enter into organisms in a variety of ways, depending on the species, metabolic characteristics, and toxin bioavailability (Hodgson, 2012). If a chemical has already entered an organism, it must be able to cope with it via biotransformation and excretion into the environment (or a combination of these mechanisms) to neutralize or limit the negative effects (Lushchak et al., 2018). Pesticides can be eliminated by the organism, in one of two ways: via excretion in their natural state or, after biotransformation with other substances (Van der Oost et al., 2003). However, it is important to consider that biotransformation can, occasionally, produce more harmful chemicals than the original compound.

Pesticides can alter the endocrine system, induce neurological problems, and have an impact on the immune system, reproduction, and development (Khan and Law, 2005). Pesticides can also increase the ROS (reactive oxygen species) levels (Slaninová et al., 2009). ROS can react with important cellular macromolecules, causing, for example, enzyme inactivation, lipid peroxidation, and DNA damage, which can eventually lead to cell death (via necrosis or apoptosis). More specifically, several studies have demonstrated that certain pesticides are known to cause unintended damage on DNA of non-target aquatic organisms, namely strand breaks (Çavaş and Könen, 2007; Guilherme et al., 2015), mutations (Bhuvaneshwari et al., 2013) and epigenetic variations (Baccarelli and Bollati, 2009; Brevik et al., 2018; Sargsyan et al., 2019; Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2011; Zhang et al., 2012).

In 2009, the EU adopted a framework 2009/128/EC Directive on the Sustainable Use of Pesticides (SUDP), which foresees that all farmers (professional users) should adopt practices and choose products with lowest risk to human health and the environment, and where non-chemical methods should be selected whenever possible (EU Directive, 2009). It was also stated that all EU member states should minimize or prohibit pesticide use in specific areas and establish safeguard zones for surface and groundwater used for the abstraction of drinking water, and also create appropriately-sized buffer zones to protect non-target aquatic organisms (EU Directive, 2009).

The concern with non-target species contamination goes further when it is considered, not only considering the individual but also the population's safety. For that reason, it should be considered in the evaluation of ecotoxicology risk the implementation of intergenerational studies. Several studies have been addressed on offspring effects due to parental exposure (Debier et al., 2003; Devaux et al., 2011; Jeremias et al., 2018; Lacaze et al., 2011; Lewis and Galloway, 2009; Santos et al., 2013; White et al., 1999), but only a few focused on pesticides (Barranger et al., 2014; Bouilly et al., 2007; Schlenk et al., 2001).

Top concerning pesticides

According to the latest EU data herbicides, insecticides and fungicides are the most used pesticides in Europe (EUROSTAT, 2019). Within these groups some of the most used active ingredients are: (a) herbicides - glyphosate (organophosphorus) and penoxsulam (triazolopyrimidine); (b) insecticides - dimethoate (organophosphorus) and imidacloprid (neonicotinoid) and, (c) fungicides – pyrimethanil (anilinopyrimidine) and imazalil (azole)

(DGAV, 2016). Therefore, these compounds are of great concern, from the user and from the scientific community that assesses the risk.

Glyphosate [2-(phosphonomethylamino)acetic acid] (Fig. 6) is an active ingredient of commercial formulations, as for instance the well-known Roundup[®]. This compound is the most widely used herbicide worldwide, resulting in contamination of surface waters and raising great concern regarding potential environmental and human health impacts (Van Bruggen et al., 2018). Glyphosate is water-soluble and its half-life in aquatic environment is approximately 30 days.



Fig. 6. Chemical structure of the herbicide glyphosate [2-(phosphonomethylamino)acetic acid] (Pubmed, 2022a).

This compound acts on the shikimate pathway in plants, through the inhibition of the 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase (EPSPS) enzyme, which is involved in the metabolism of aromatic amino acids (Mesnage et al., 2015). Inhibition of EPSPS by glyphosate causes protein shortage, and, consequently, plant death. This compound is approved by the EU until December 15 of 2022, and, according to the press release, it is expected that its market sales growth of 5.1% worldwide until 2027 (Wood, 2021). Despite this information, several studies have pointed the genotoxic potential of this herbicide on aquatic animal species, namely fish (Guilherme et al., 2010; Leveroni et al., 2016; Marques et al., 2014) and shrimp (Hong et al., 2018).

The market sales of the herbicide penoxsulam (Fig. 7) are predicted to grow around 4.1% (worldwide), through 2026 (A. More, 2021). This recent post-emergent herbicide [2-

(2,2-difluoroethoxy) - N - (5, 8 - dimethoxy - [1, 2, 4] triazolo [1, 5-c]pyrimidin- 2 -yl) -6-(trifluoromethyl)benzenesulfonamide], developed by Dow Agrosciences, receivedregistration in 2005 in southern U.S. (Jabusch and Tjeerdema, 2008), and is approved in theEU, until July 31st of 2023. This compound has an excellent herbicidal activity against abroad-spectrum of annual and perennial weeds, especially to broad-leaved weeds andsedges (Walton et al., 2005). After being absorbed by plant species, penoxsulam will inhibitthe acetolactate synthase enzyme (ALS) activities, which leads to the hindrance in thebiosynthesis of branched amino acids valine, leucine, and isoleucine (Walton et al., 2005).It is water-soluble, mobile, hydrolytically stable, and non-volatile, with degradation halflife (DT₅₀) in the aquatic system ranging between 1.28 and 1.96 days (Kogan et al., 201). Asglyphosate, penoxsulam genotoxic potential was observed on aquatic species, bothvertebrates (Cattaneo et al., 201) and invertebrates (Patetsini et al., 2013).



Fig. 7. Chemical structure of the herbicide penoxsulam [2-(2,2-difluoroethoxy)-N-(5,8-dimethoxy-[1,2,4]triazolo[1,5-c]pyrimidin-2-yl)-6-(trifluoromethyl)benzenesulfonamide] (Pubmed, 2022).

Dimethoate [2-dimethoxyphosphinothioylsulfanyl-N-methylacetamide] (Fig. 8), is an organophosphate insecticide that has no longer approvement to be used in the EU (the approval period ended on June 30 of 2019). Despite this, dimethoate continues to be used by several countries, and its market sales growth rate of 5% is predicted (IndustryARC, 2021). This active principle is used as a systemic insecticide for control of a wide variety of insect pests of fruits, vegetables and crop plants, as well as for non-agricultural purposes, such as landscape maintenance and pest control (Van Scoy et al., 2016). Like other organophosphates, dimethoate is also an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor, therefore affecting impulse conduction through synapses and neuromuscular junctions, which is reflected in uncoordinated abnormal behavior of exposed animals (Singh, 2017). The genotoxic potential of dimethoate was already reported in the invertebrate *Procambarus clarkii* (Oskoei, 2018).



Fig. 8. Chemical structure of the insecticide dimethoate [2-dimethoxyphosphinothioylsulfanyl-N-methylacetamide] (Pubmed, 2022b).

Although it has also been banned in Europe (since December 2020), the application of the insecticide imidacloprid (Fig. 9) continues approved by the US-EPA (Reaves, 2020). Imidacloprid [1-(6-chloro-3- pyridylmethyl)-N-nitroimidazolidin-2-ylideneamine] is used as a seed dressing to manage arthropod crop pests and in topical flea and tick control treatments for pets, where it will disrupt synaptic transmissions by acting as a nicotinic acetylcholine receptor agonist (Sohn et al., 2018). Its genotoxic potential was already reported in the aquatic (non-target) species *Rana nigromaculata* (Feng et al., 2004).



Fig. 9. Chemical structure of the insecticide imidacloprid [(NE)-N-[1-[(6-chloropyridin-3-yl)methyl]imidazolidin-2ylidene]nitramide] (Pubmed, 2022b).

Among the major groups of pesticides, fungicides recorded the highest sales volumes in 2011 and 2019. Pyrimethanil (Fig. 10) is one of the most used in EU and US (Araújo et al., 2015). The pyrimethanil (4,6-dimethyl-N-phenylpyrimidin-2-amine) is a type of broad-spectrum fungicide used to prevent and control pathogenic fungus and often used in a variety of fruits and vegetables crops, ornamental trees, and lawns (Meng et al., 2020). It was designed to inhibit the secretion of hydrolase from pathogenic fungus, and thus, preventing infection and killing the pests, and its use was approved in the EU until April 30 of 2022. Pyrimethanil is characterized by its high chemical stability, low biodegradability, and long durability in water, and stable to hydrolytic degradation in water (Meng et al., 2020). To the author's best knowledge, no genotoxic effects on aquatic (non-target) species were reported so far, and the only study demonstrating pyrimethanil genotoxic potential was described in human mononuclear leukocytes (Lebailly et al., 1998).



Fig. 10. Chemical structure of the fungicide pyrimethanil [4,6-dimethyl-N-phenylpyrimidin-2-amine] Pubmed, 2022c).

Along with pyrimethanil, the fungicide imazalil [1-[2-(2,4-dichlorophenyl)-2-prop-2-enoxyethyl]imidazole] (Fig. 11) is also used extensively to protect vegetable and fruit plantations, or post-harvest crops from rot, and to increase the lifetime of products on the market (Jin et al., 2016) This compound belongs to the group of imidazole and triazole derivatives which inhibit fungal cell wall synthesis by interfering with a specific cytochrome P450 enzyme (only found in animals, plants, fungi, and prokaryotes) (Lushchak et al., 2018). As pyrimethanil, no genotoxic potential to (non-target) aquatic species is known, although imazalil genotoxic properties were described on mammals (Đikić et al., 2012).



Fig. 11. Chemical structure of the fungicide imazalil [1-[2-(2,4-dichlorophenyl)-2-prop-2-enoxyethyl]imidazole] (Pubmed, 2022b).

General Introduction

1.3 Procambarus clarkii as a tool in (epi)genotoxicity assessment

Invertebrates are often used as models in ecotoxicology research, both in the field and laboratory studies, due to their wide distribution, accessibility, easy maintenance, and handling. Moreover, these organisms are considered of high interest in what concerns to their limited ethical issues, when compared to vertebrate organisms.

Freshwater decapod crustaceans (*e.g.* shrimps, lobsters, crayfish, hermit crab and crabs) share a number of special features: all stages are 'homotopic', living within the same aquatic or semi-aquatic environment (although there may be habitat partitioning among life stages); most adult decapods are often much larger, than other freshwater invertebrates; many are longer-lived, and most are omnivorous or polytrophic (Reynolds et al., 2013). Freshwater crustaceans were considered as potential sentinel species for genotoxicological studies, due to environmental exposure to possible genotoxicants present in their habitat (Donato et al., 2016; Mistri et al., 2020). Specifically, among freshwater decapod organisms, crayfish were considered as an important component of aquatic ecosystems and are seen as sensitive bioindicators of water pollution (Kuklina et al., 2013). Moreover, crayfish possess key pre-requisites for a laboratory model, such as (i) suitable size (crayfish intern organ/tissues are easily identified), (ii) resistance to handling stress, (iii) high fertility, and (iv) a relatively short generation time (Vogt, 2019).

The red swamp crayfish (Fig. 12), *Procambarus clarkii* (Girard, 1852), native to north-eastern Mexico and south central USA (Lindqvist and Huner, 1999), was introduced for commercial purposes in Europe in the early '70s (Anastácio, 1993). *P. clarkii* can occupy a wide variety of habitats, including subterranean locations, seasonally flooded swamps and marshes, permanent lakes and streams, rivers and rice fields (Reynolds et al., 2013).

45



Fig. 12. Procambarus clarkii male adult dorsal view.

Red swamp crayfish is well adapted to life in seasonally flooded wetlands, feeding on plant and animal food and detritus, and retreating into burrows during periods of low water. *P. clarkii* have short-lifespan, rarely exceeding 12 – 18 months, and may mature between 45- and 125-mm total length. The breeding is in summer and early autumn, although in Kenya there are reports that introduced populations breed throughout the year (Anastácio, 1993), allowing re-flooded habitats to be rapidly recolonized. The technical report of Huner and Barr (1991) presents some methods to artificially produce this species off-season. Based on their work, in this thesis it was developed conditions (*e.g.*, water temperature was approximately 24°C and was completely changed once a week) in laboratory to produce the species *P. clarkii*. Male crayfish (form I: enlarged claws and hooks on the bases of the walking legs) was placed in the mature female aquaria overnight. Females lay and incubate up to 600 eggs in their burrows; they hatch in two to three weeks at 22°C (Reynolds et al., 2013). When most of the juveniles had already left the female's abdomen, the mother had to be removed to avoid cannibalism.

Figures 13 and 14 show the artificial spawning of the red swamp crayfish in laboratory conditions based on the methods described in Hunter and Barr (1984). The reproductive behavior of this species includes a phase in which the male courts the female through a sequence of movements, where the terminal phase of mating consists of the turning of the female and the deposition of the spermatophore by the male (Anastácio, 1993).



Fig. 13. Crayfish mating. (A) Examples of aquariums adapted for reproduction. (B) Mating.



Fig. 14. Female crayfish and juvenile development of *P. clarkii*. (A) Ventral view of an adult female. (B) Female with eggs in early development. (C and D) Female with hatchlings attached to swimmerets beneath the abdomen. (E) Crayfish juveniles.

This crayfish can be daily in contact with chemical and physical challenges/stressors (*e.g.* in rice fields) while, at the same time, being well succeeded, making them potential good organisms to perform ecotoxicological studies (Costa et al., 2018; Esposti et al., 2019). Specifically, *P. clarkii* has been used as a bioindicator for metals (Alcorlo et al., 2006; Mistri et al., 2020; Wei and Yang, 2015; Zhang et al., 2019) and nanoparticles (El-Atti et al., 2019), to study reprotoxic effects (Zhao et al., 2019) and pesticide genotoxicity (Costa et al., 2018). Moreover, crayfish provides tissue amount for analyses comparable to that obtained from fish, such as gills, gonads, hepatopancreas (as observed in Fig. 15), which can make them an alternative to fish (vertebrates) in biological assays, which may be seen as more ethical.



Fig. 15. Dissected crayfish: (A) gills; (B) testes; (C) vas deferent; (D) hepatopancreas.

1.4 Aims and thesis structure

Under the umbrella of the genotoxic risk of waterborne pesticides to aquatic (non-target) species, this thesis aimed: (i) to assess the DNA damaging potential of the herbicides (glyphosate, penoxsulam), insecticides (dimethoate, imidacloprid), and fungicides (pyrimethanil, imazalil); (ii) to evaluate penoxsulam genotoxic long-term effects; (iii) to increase the knowledge concerning parental exposure effects on offspring,

considering their methylome and their DNA integrity, and also (iv) to contribute to the implementation of the pesticidovigilance concept.

To achieve these main goals, the following specific objectives were established:

- the evaluation of the spermiotoxic potential of each pesticide (mentioned above), considering environmental realistic concentrations;
- the assessment of somatic and germinative tissue-specificity response (adult crayfish; somatic and germinative), concerning the genotoxic action of penoxsulam (non-specific and oxidative DNA damage);
- the genotoxic potential of penoxsulam assessment, upon a period of postexposure;
- the evaluation of the parental exposure influence on the offspring (F₁) DNA and methylome integrity, in three different scenarios:
 - after being exposed to the same genotoxicant as their parents (F_o) (juvenile stage F₁);
 - after being exposed to a different genotoxicant as their parents (F_o) (juvenile stage - F_i);
 - \circ after they have grown up in a free-genotoxicant environment (juvenile and adult state F₁).

The present thesis is composed of six chapters. The first chapter corresponds to the general introduction, in which diverse pertinent topics were considered to fully understand the global perspective of the present research. Following, the middle chapters (2 to 5) described the scientific work performed to achieve the thesis' objectives (described above). The thesis ends with a general discussion chapter, in which the results gathered and described in the previous chapters are discussed according to a comprehensive and integrated perspective.

References

- Akcha, F., Spagnol, C., and Rouxel, J. (2012). Genotoxicity of diuron and glyphosate in oyster spermatozoa and embryos. Aquatic Toxicology, 106–107, 104–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2011.10.018.
- Akcha, F., Barranger, A., and Bachère, E. (2021). Genotoxic and epigenetic effects of diuron in the Pacific oyster: *in vitro* evidence of interaction between DNA damage and DNA methylation. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 28(7), 8266–8280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-11021-6.
- Alcorlo, P., Otero, M., Crehuet, M., Baltanás, A., and Montes, C. (2006). The use of the red swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*, Girard) as indicator of the bioavailability of heavy metals in environmental monitoring in the River Guadiamar (SW, Spain). Science of the Total Environment, 366(1), 380–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.02.023.
- Anastácio, P. M. S. G. (1993). Ciclo biológico e produção do Lagostim Vermelho da Louisiana na Região do Baixo Mondego. University of Coimbra. Portugal.
- Aniagu, S. O., Williams, T. D., Allen, Y., Katsiadaki, I., and Chipman, J. K. (2008). Global genomic methylation levels in the liver and gonads of the three-spine stickleback (*Gasterosteus aculeatus*) after exposure to hexabromocyclododecane and 17-β oestradiol. Environment International. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2007.03.009.
- Anway, M. D., Cupp, A. S., Uzumcu, N., and Skinner, M. K. (2005). Toxicology: Epigenetic transgenerational actions of endocrine disruptors and male fertility. Science, 308(5727), 1466–1469. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1108190.
- Anway, M. D., Leathers, C., and Skinner, M. K. (2006). Endocrine disruptor vinclozolin induced epigenetic transgenerational adult-onset disease. Endocrinology, 147(12), 5515–5523. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2006-0640.
- Anway, M. D., Rekow, S. S., and Skinner, M. K. (2008). Transgenerational epigenetic programming of the embryonic testis transcriptome. Genomics, 91(1), 30–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2007.10.002.
- Araújo, C. V. M., Shinn, C., Müller, R., Moreira-santos, M., and Espíndola, E. L. G. (2015). The Ecotoxicity of pyrimethanil for aquatic biota (Issue December). https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.1568.0485.
- Ardura, A., Zaiko, A., Morán, P., Planes, S., and Garcia-Vazquez, E. (2017). Epigenetic signatures of invasive status in populations of marine invertebrates. Scientific Reports, 7(42193). https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP42193.
- Azqueta, A., and Collins, A. R. (2014). The comet assay: high throughput use of FPG (pp. 199–217). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1068-7_12.
- Azqueta, A., Shaposhnikov, S., and Collins, A. R. (2009). DNA oxidation: Investigating its key role in environmental mutagenesis with the comet assay. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 674(1–2), 101– 108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2008.10.013.
- Baccarelli, A., and Bollati, V. (2009). Epigenetics and environmental chemicals. In Current Opinion in Pediatrics. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOP.0b013e32832925cc.
- Bajpayee, M., Kumar, A., and Dhawan, A. (2013). The comet assay: assessment of *in vitro* and *in vivo* DNA damage. Methods in Molecular Biology (Clifton, N.J.), 1044, 325–345. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-62703-529-3_17.
- Barranger, A., Akcha, F., Rouxel, J., Brizard, R., Maurouard, E., Pallud, M., Menard, D., Tapie, N., Budzinski, H., Burgeot, T., and Benabdelmouna, A. (2014). Study of genetic damage in the Japanese oyster induced by an environmentallyrelevant exposure to diuron: Evidence of vertical transmission of DNA damage. Aquatic Toxicology, 146(January), 93–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2013.10.032.

- Barranger, A., Heude-Berthelin, C., Rouxel, J., Adeline, B., Benabdelmouna, A., Burgeot, T., and Akcha, F. (2016). Parental exposure to the herbicide diuron results in oxidative DNA damage to germinal cells of the Pacific oyster Crassostrea gigas. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology, 180, 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2015.11.002.
- Bhuvaneshwari, R., Rajendran, R. B., and Kumar, K. (2013). Induction of DNA damage and GADD45β gene mutation in zebra fish (*Danio rerio*) due to environmentally relevant concentrations of organochlorine pesticides and heavy metals. International Journal of Environmental Research. https://doi.org/10.22059/ijer.2012.600.
- Bird, A. (2002). DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes and Development, 16(1), 6–21. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.947102.
- Bossdorf, O., Richards, C. L., and Pigliucci, M. (2008). Epigenetics for ecologists. Ecology Letters, 11(2), 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1461-0248.2007.01130.x.
- Bouilly, K., Bonnard, M., Gagnaire, B., Renault, T., and Lapègue, S. (2007). Impact of atrazine on aneuploidy in pacific oysters, *Crassostrea gigas*. Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 52(1), 58–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620220129.
- Braga, A. C., Marçal, R., Marques, A., Guilherme, S., Vilariño, Ó., Martins, J. M. L., Gago-Martínez, A., Costa, P. R., and Pacheco, M. (2021). Invasive clams (*Ruditapes philippinarum*) are better equipped to deal with harmful algal blooms toxins than native species (*R. decussatus*): evidence of species-specific toxicokinetics and DNA vulnerability. Science of the Total Environment, 767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144887.
- Brevik, K., Lindström, L., McKay, S. D., and Chen, Y. H. (2018). Transgenerational effects of insecticides implications for rapid pest evolution in agroecosystems. Current Opinion in Insect Science, 26, 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2017.12.007.
- Caldwell, G. S., Lewis, C., Pickavance, G., Taylor, R. L., and Bentley, M. G. (2011). Exposure to copper and a cytotoxic polyunsaturated aldehyde induces reproductive failure in the marine polychaete *Nereis virens* (Sars). Aquatic Toxicology, 104(1–2), 126–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2011.03.018.
- Capuano, F., Mülleder, M., Kok, R., Blom, H. J., and Ralser, M.-. (2014). Cytosine DNA methylation is found in *Drosophila melanogaster* but absent in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, and other yeast species. Analytical Chemistry, 86(8), 3697–3702. https://doi.org/10.1021/AC500447w.
- Carneiro, V. C., and Lyko, F. (2020). Rapid epigenetic adaptation in animals and its role in invasiveness. Integrative and Comparative Biology, 60(2), 267–274. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icaa023.
- Cattaneo, R., Clasen, B., Lucia Loro, V., de Menezes, C. C., Moraes, B., Santi, A., Toni, C., de Avila, L. A., and Zanella, R. (2011). Toxicological responses of *Cyprinus carpio* exposed to the herbicide penoxsulam in rice field conditions. Journal of Applied Toxicology, 31(7), 626–632. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.1606.
- Çavaş, T., and Könen, S. (2007). Detection of cytogenetic and DNA damage in peripheral erythrocytes of goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) exposed to a glyphosate formulation using the micronucleus test and the comet assay. Mutagenesis, 22(4), 263–268. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/gem012.
- Chatterjee, N., and Walker, G. C. (2017). Mechanisms of DNA damage, repair and mutagenesis. Environ Mol Mutagen, 58(5), 253–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.22087.
- Choi, J. Y., Choe, J. R., Koh, J., and Choi, C. Y. C. (2018). Effects of specific light wavelengths on osmotic stress in the ornamental cleaner shrimp *Lysmata amboinensis* (De Man, 1888) (Decapoda: Caridea: Lysmatidae). Journal of Crustacean Biology, 91(10), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcbiol/ruy047.

- Cleary, J. A., Tillitt, D. E., vom Saal, F. S., Nicks, D. K., Claunch, R. A., and Bhandari, R. K. (2019). Atrazine induced transgenerational reproductive effects in medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). Environmental Pollution, 251, 639–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2019.05.013.
- Collins, A. R. (2004). The comet assay for DNA damage and repair. Mol Biotechnol., 26(3), 249–261. https://doi.org/10.1385/mb:26:3:249.
- Collins, A. R. (2014). Measuring oxidative damage to DNA and its repair with the comet assay. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta -General Subjects, 1840(2), 794–800. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2013.04.022.
- Collins, A. R., and Azqueta, A. (2012). Single-Cell Gel Electrophoresis combined with lesion-specific enzymes to measure oxidative damage to DNA. Methods in Cell Biology, 112(C), 69–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-405914-6.00004-4.
- Collins, A., Dušinská, M. R., Franklin, M., Somorovská, M., Petrovská, H., Duthie, S., Fillion, L., Panayiotidis, M., Na Rašlová, K., and Vaughan, N. (1997). Comet assay in human biomonitoring studies: reliability, validation, and applications. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 30, 139–146. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2280(1997)30:2.
- Collotta, M., Bertazzi, P. A., and Bollati, V. (2013). Epigenetics and pesticides. Toxicology, 307, 35–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2013.01.017.
- Costa, R., Pereira, J. L., Santos, M. A., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2018). The role of contamination history and gender on the genotoxic responses of the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* to a penoxsulam-based herbicide. Ecotoxicology, 27(7), 908–918. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-018-1948-y.
- Cribiu, P., Chaumot, A., Geffard, O., Ravanat, J. L., Bastide, T., Delorme, N., Quéau, H., Caillat, S., Devaux, A., and Bony, S. (2018). Natural variability and modulation by environmental stressors of global genomic cytosine methylation levels in a freshwater crustacean, *Gammarus fossarum*. Aquatic Toxicology, 205, 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2018.09.015.
- da Silva Rocha, A. J., Gomes, V., Rocha Passos, M. J. de A. C., Hasue, F. M., Alves Santos, T. C., Bícego, M. C., Taniguchi, S., and Van Ngan, P. (2012). EROD activity and genotoxicity in the seabob shrimp *Xiphopenaeus kroyeri* exposed to benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) concentrations. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology, 34(3), 995–1003. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2012.07.006.
- de Lapuente, J., Lourenço, J., Mendo, S. A., Borràs, M., Martins, M. G., Costa, P. M., and Pacheco, M. (2015). The comet assay and its applications in the field of ecotoxicology: a mature tool that continues to expand its perspectives. Frontiers in Genetics, 6(JUN). https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2015.00180.
- Debier, C., Pomeroy, P. P., Dupont, C., Joiris, C., Comblin, V., Le Boulengé, E., Larondelle, Y., and Thomé, J. P. (2003). Quantitative dynamics of PCB transfer from mother to pup during lactation in UK grey seals *Halichoerus grypus*. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 247, 237–248. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps247249.
- Esposti, D. D., Almunia, C., Guery, M. A., Koenig, N., Armengaud, J., Chaumot, A., and Geffard, O. (2019). Co-expression network analysis identifies gonad- and embryo-associated protein modules in the sentinel species *Gammarus fossarum*. Scientific Reports. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-44203-5.
- Devaux, A., Fiat, L., Gillet, C., and Bony, S. (2011). Reproduction impairment following paternal genotoxin exposure in brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) and Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*). Aquatic Toxicology, 101(2), 405–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.11.017.
- Donato, G. D., De Matthaeis, E., Ronci, L., and Setini, A. (2016). Genotoxicity biomarkers in the amphipod *Gammarus elvirae* exposed *in vivo* to mercury and lead, and basal levels of DNA damage in two cell types. Chemistry and Ecology, 32(9), 843–857. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757540.2016.1201078.

- Đikić, D., Mojsović-Ćuić, A., Čupor, I., Benković, V., Horvat-Knežević, A., Lisičić, D., and Oršolić, N. (2012). Carbendazim combined with imazalil or cypermethrin potentiate DNA damage in hepatocytes of mice. Human and Experimental Toxicology, 31(5), 492–505. https://doi.org/10.1177/0960327111417910.
- Ding, X., Sun, W., Dai, L., Liu, C., Sun, Q., Wang, J., Zhang, P., Li, K., and Yu, L. (2020). Parental exposure to environmental concentrations of tris(1,3-dichloro-2-propyl)phosphate induces abnormal DNA methylation and behavioral changes in F1 zebrafish larvae. Environmental Pollution, 267. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2020.115305.
- Dolinoy, D. C., Weinhouse, C., Jones, T. R., Rozek, L. S., and Jirtle, R. L. (2010). Variable histone modifications at the Avy metastable epiallele. Epigenetics. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.5.7.12892.
- El-Atti, M. A., Desouky, M. M. A., Mohamadien, A., and Said, R. M. (2019). Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticles on red swamp crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii*: Bioaccumulation, oxidative stress and histopathological biomarkers. Egyptian Journal of Aquatic Research, 45(1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejar.2019.01.001.
- El-Bibany, A. H., Bodnar, A. G., and Reinardy, H. C. (2014). Comparative DNA damage and repair in echinoderm coelomocytes exposed to genotoxicants. PLOS ONE, 9(9), e107815. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0107815.
- El-shorbagy, H. M., and Hamdi, S. A. (2017). Implications of white spot syndrome virus disease on DNA integrity, histology and biochemistry of *Procambarus clarkii* in Egypt. 5, 375–386.
- Erraud, A., Bonnard, M., Duflot, A., Geffard, A., Danger, J. M., Forget-Leray, J., and Xuereb, B. (2018). Assessment of sperm quality in palaemonid prawns using comet assay: methodological optimization. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 25(12), 11226–11237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-8754-6.
- EU Directive. (2009). DIRECTIVE 2009/128/EC of the european parliament and of the council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for Community action to achieve the sustainable use of pesticides.
- European Commission. (2008). Groundwater protection in Europe The new groundwater directive consolidating the EU regulatory framework. In Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society. https://doi.org/10.2779/84304.
- European Commission (2009). Scientific opinion on the risk assessment methodologies and approaches for genotoxic and carcinogenic substances (SCHER/SCCP/SCENIHR). http://ec.europa.eu/health/ph_risk/risk_en.htm.
- EUROSTAT. (2019). Agri-environmental indicator consumption of pesticides Statistics Explained. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Agri-environmental_indicator_-__consumption_of_pesticides.
- Fallet, M., Luquet, E., David, P., and Cosseau, C. (2020). Epigenetic inheritance and intergenerational effects in mollusks. Gene, 729, 144166. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GENE.2019.144166.
- Feng, S., Kong, Z., Wang, X., Zhao, L., and Peng, P. (2004). Acute toxicity and genotoxicity of two novel pesticides on amphibian, Rana N. Hallowell. Chemosphere, 56(5), 457–463. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CHEMOSPHERE.2004.02.010.
- Figueroa-González, G., and Pérez-Plasencia, C. (2017). Strategies for the evaluation of DNA damage and repair mechanisms in cancer. Oncology Letters, 13(6), 3982. https://doi.org/10.3892/OL.2017.6002.
- Frenzilli, G., Nigro, M., and Lyons, B. P. (2009). The comet assay for the evaluation of genotoxic impact in aquatic environments. Mutation Research - Reviews in Mutation Research, 681(1), 80–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2008.03.001.
- Gallo, A., Manfra, L., Boni, R., Rotini, A., Migliore, L., and Tosti, E. (2018). Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of CuO nanoparticles in sea urchin spermatozoa through oxidative stress. Environment International, 118(June), 325–333. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.05.034.

- Gavery, M. R., and Roberts, S. B. (2010). DNA methylation patterns provide insight into epigenetic regulation in the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*). BMC Genomics, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-11-483.
- Guerrero-Bosagna, C., Weeks, S., and Skinner, M. K. (2014). Identification of genomic features in environmentally induced epigenetic transgenerational inherited sperm epimutations. PLoS ONE, 9(6). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0100194.
- Guilherme, S., Gaivão, I., Santos, M. A., and Pacheco, M. (2010). European eel (*Anguilla anguilla*) genotoxic and pro-oxidant responses following short-term exposure to Roundup[®] A glyphosate-based herbicide. Mutagenesis, 25(5), 523–530. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/geq038.
- Guilherme, S., Santos, M. A., Gaivão, I., and Pacheco, M. (2015). Genotoxicity evaluation of the herbicide Garlon[®] and its active ingredient (triclopyr) in fish (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) using the comet assay. Environmental Toxicology, 30(9), 1073– 1081. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.21980.
- Head, J. A. (2014). Patterns of DNA methylation in animals: An ecotoxicological perspective. Integrative and Comparative Biology. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icu025.
- Head, J. A., Dolinoy, D. C., and Basu, N. (2012). Epigenetics for ecotoxicologists. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 31(2), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.1707.
- Heard, E., and Martienssen, R. A. (2014). Transgenerational epigenetic inheritance: Myths and mechanisms. Cell, 157(1), 95–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.045.
- Ho, D. H., and Burggren, W. W. (2010). Epigenetics and transgenerational transfer: A physiological perspective. Journal of Experimental Biology, 213(1), 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.019752.
- Hodgson, E. (2012). Pesticide Biotransformation and Disposition. In Pesticide Biotransformation and Disposition. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2009-0-62120-6.
- Hofmann, G. E. (2017). Ecological epigenetics in marine metazoans. Frontiers in Marine Science, 4(JAN), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2017.00004.
- Hofstetter, T. B., von Gunten, U., Egli, T., Schwarzenbach, R. P., and Wehrli, B. (2010). Global water pollution and human health. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 35, 109–136. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-100809-125342.
- Hong, Y., Yang, X., Huang, Y., Yan, G., and Cheng, Y. (2018). Assessment of the oxidative and genotoxic effects of the glyphosate-based herbicide Roundup on the freshwater shrimp, *Macrobrachium nipponensis*. Chemosphere, 210, 896–906. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.07.069.
- Hook, S. E., and Lee, R. F. (2004). Genotoxicant induced DNA damage and repair in early and late developmental stages of the grass shrimp *Paleomonetes pugio* embryo as measured by the comet assay. Aquatic Toxicology, 66(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2003.06.002.
- Hu, J., and Barrett, R. D. H. (2017). Epigenetics in natural animal populations. Journal of Evolutionary Biology, 30(9), 1612– 1632. https://doi.org/10.1111/jeb.13130.
- Huner, J. V., and Barr, J. E. (1991). Red swamp crawfish: biology and exploitation (3rd ed.). https://ntrl.ntis.gov/NTRL/dashboard/searchResults/titledetail/pb91163451.xhtml.
- Hunter, J. V., and Barr, J. E. (1984). Red swamp crawfish: biology and exploitation / J.V. Hunter, J.E. Barr (Revised ed). Louisiana Sea Grant College Program.

- IndustryARC. (2021). Dimethoate Market Research Report: Market size, Industry outlook, Market Forecast, Demand Analysis,Market Share, Market Report 2021-2026. https://www.industryarc.com/Report/16024/dimethoatemarket.html. Accessed: 4 November 2021.
- Information, N. C. for B. (2022a). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 3496, Glyphosate. https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/3496.
- Information, N. C. for B. (2022b). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 37175, Enilconazole. https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/37175.
- Information, N. C. for B. (2022c). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 86287518, Imidacloprid. https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/86287518.
- Jabusch, T. W., and Tjeerdema, R. S. (2008). Chemistry and fate of triazolopyrimidine sulfonamide herbicides. Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 193, 31–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-73163-6_2.
- Jeremias, G., Barbosa, J., Marques, S. M., Schamphelaere, K. A. C. De, Nieuwerburgh, F. Van, Deforce, D., Gonçalves, F. J. M., Pereira, J. L., and Asselman, J. (2018). Transgenerational inheritance of DNA hypomethylation in *Daphnia magna* in response to salinity stress. Environmental Science and Technology, 52(17), 10114–10123. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.8b03225.
- Jha, A. N. (2008). Ecotoxicological applications and significance of the comet assay. Mutagenesis, 23(3), 207–221. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/gen014.
- Jin, Y., Zhu, Z., Wang, Y., Yang, E., Feng, X., and Fu, Z. (2016). The fungicide imazalil induces developmental abnormalities and alters locomotor activity during early developmental stages in zebrafish. Chemosphere, 153(June), 455–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.03.085.
- Khan, M., and Law, F. (2005). Adverse effects of pesticides and related chemicals on enzyme and hormone systems of fish, amphibians and reptiles: a review. Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences.
- Klobučar, G. I. V, Malev, O., Šrut, M., Štambuk, A., Lorenzon, S., Cvetković, Ž., Ferrero, E. A., and Maguire, I. (2012). Genotoxicity monitoring of freshwater environments using caged crayfish (*Astacus leptodactylus*). Chemosphere, 87(1), 62–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2011.11.060.
- Kogan, M., Araya, M., and Alister, C. (2011). Water and sediment dynamics of penoxsulam and molinate in paddy fields: field and lysimeter studies. Pest Management Science, 68, 399–403. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.2276.
- Kucharski, R., Maleszka, J., Foret, S., and Maleszka, R. (2008). Nutritional control of reproductive status in honeybees via DNA methylation. Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1153069.
- Kuklina, I., Kouba, A., and Kozák, P. (2013). Real-time monitoring of water quality using fish and crayfish as bio-indicators: a review. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 185, 5043–5053. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10661-012-2924-2.
- Kurdyukov, S., and Bullock, M. (2016). DNA Methylation analysis: choosing the right method. Biology, 5(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology5010003.
- Lacaze, E., Geffard, O., Bony, S., and Devaux, A. (2010). Genotoxicity assessment in the amphipod *Gammarus fossarum* by use of the alkaline comet assay. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 700(1–2), 32–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2010.04.025.
- Lacaze, E., Geffard, O., Goyet, D., Bony, S., and Devaux, A. (2011). Linking genotoxic responses in *Gammarus fossarum* germ cells with reproduction impairment, using the comet assay. Environmental Research, 111(5), 626–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2011.03.012.

- Lebailly, P., Vigreux, C., Lechevrel, C., Ledemeney, D., Godard, T., Sichel, F., LeTalaër, J. Y., Henry-Amar, M., and Gauduchon, P. (1998). DNA damage in mononuclear leukocytes of farmers measured using the alkaline comet assay: Modifications of DNA damage levels after a one-day field spraying period with selected pesticides. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention, 7(10), 929–940.
- Lee, R. F., and Steinert, S. (2003). Use of the single cell gel electrophoresis/comet assay for detecting DNA damage in aquatic (marine and freshwater) animals. Mutation Research Reviews in Mutation Research, 544(1), 43–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1383-5742(03)00017-6.
- Leveroni, F. A., Caffetti, J. D., and Pastori, M. C. (2016). Genotoxic response of blood, gill and liver cells of *Piaractus* mesopotamicus after an acute exposure to a glyphosate-based herbicide. Firenze University Press, 70(1), 21–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/00087114.2016.1254454.
- Lewis, C., and Galloway, T. (2009). Reproductive consequences of paternal genotoxin exposure in marine invertebrates. Environmental Science and Technology, 43(3), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1021/es802215d.
- Lewis, C., Guitart, C., Pook, C., Scarlett, A., Readman, J. W., and Galloway, T. S. (2010). Integrated assessment of oil pollution using biological monitoring and chemical fingerprinting. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.156.
- Li, Y., Wei, L., Cao, J., Qiu, L., Jiang, X., Li, P., Song, Q., Zhou, H., Han, Q., Diao, X. (2016). Oxidative stress, DNA damage and antioxidant enzyme activities in the pacific white shrimp (*Litopenaeus vannamei*) when exposed to hypoxia and reoxygenation. Chemosphere, 144, 234–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.08.051.
- Lian, S., He, Y., Li, X., Zhao, B., Hou, R., Hu, X., Zhang, L., and Bao, Z. (2015). Changes in global DNA methylation intensity and DNMT1 transcription during the aging process of scallop *Chlamys farreri*. Journal of Ocean University of China 2015 14:4, 14(4), 685–690. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11802-015-2507-2.
- Lindqvist, O. V, and Huner, J. V. (1999). Life history characteristics of crayfish: What makes some of them good colonizers? In: Crayfish in Europe as alien species - how to make the best of a bad situation, 1st ed. pp. 23–30.
- Lushchak, V. I., Matviishyn, T. M., Husak, V. V., Storey, J. M., and Storey, K. B. (2018). Pesticide toxicity: A mechanistic approach. In EXCLI Journal. https://doi.org/10.17179/excli2018-1710.
- Malev, O., Šrut, M., Maguire, I., Štambuk, A., Ferrero, E. A., Lorenzon, S., and Klobučar, G. I. V. (2010). Genotoxic, physiological and immunological effects caused by temperature increase, air exposure or food deprivation in freshwater crayfish *Astacus leptodactylus*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - C Toxicology and Pharmacology, 152(4), 433– 443. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2010.07.006.
- Marçal, R., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2020). DNA of crayfish spermatozoa as a target of waterborne pesticides An *ex vivo* approach as a tool to short-term spermiotoxicity screening. Journal of Hazardous Materials. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123300.
- Marques, A., Guilherme, S., Gaivão, I., Santos, M. A., and Pacheco, M. (2014). Progression of DNA damage induced by a glyphosate-based herbicide in fish (*Anguilla anguilla*) upon exposure and post-exposure periods - Insights into the mechanisms of genotoxicity and DNA repair. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology, 166, 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2014.07.009.
- Martin, P., Dorn, N. J., Kawai, T., Heiden, C. van der, and Scholtz, G. (2010). The enigmatic marmorkrebs (marbled crayfish) is the parthenogenetic form of *Procambarus fallax* (Hagen, 1870). Contributions to Zoology, 79(3), 107–118. https://doi.org/10.1163/18759866-07903003.

- Martins, M., and Costa, P. M. (2017). The comet assay in aquatic (eco)genotoxicology using non-conventional model organisms: relevance, constraints and prospects. In M. L. Larramendy (Ed.), Ecotoxicology and Genotoxicology: Non-traditional Aquatic Models (pp. 1–32). Royal Society of Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.1039/9781782629887-00001.
- Martins, M., Costa, P. M., Ferreira, A. M., and Costa, M. H. (2013). Comparative DNA damage and oxidative effects of carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic sediment-bound PAHs in the gills of a bivalve. Aquatic Toxicology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2013.07.019.
- McCarty, L. S., Power, M., and Munkittrick, K. R. (2002). Bioindicators versus biomarkers in ecological risk assessment. Human and Ecological Risk Assessment, 8(1), 159–164. https://doi.org/10.1080/20028091056791.
- Meng, Y., Zhong, K., Xiao, J., Huang, Y., Wei, Y., Tang, L., Chen, S., Wu, J., Ma, J., Cao, Z., Liao, X., and Lu, H. (2020). Exposure to pyrimethanil induces developmental toxicity and cardiotoxicity in zebrafish. Chemosphere, 255, 126889. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.chemosphere.2020.126889.
- Mesnage, R., Defarge, N., Spiroux de Vendômois, J., and Séralini, G. E. (2015). Potential toxic effects of glyphosate and its commercial formulations below regulatory limits. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 84, 133–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2015.08.012.
- Mirbahai, L., and Chipman, J. K. (2014). Epigenetic memory of environmental organisms: A reflection of lifetime stressor exposures. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 764–765, 10–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2013.10.003.
- Mistri, M., Munari, C., Pagnoni, A., Chenet, T., Pasti, L., and Cavazzini, A. (2020). Accumulation of trace metals in crayfish tissues: is *Procambarus clarkii* a vector of pollutants in Po Delta inland waters? The European Zoological Journal, 87(1), 46–57. https://doi.org/10.1080/24750263.2020.1717653.
- More, A. (2021). Penoxsulam Market 2021: 4.1% CAGR with Top Countries Data, How big is the Penoxsulam Industry? | Latest 113 Pages Report - MarketWatch. https://www.marketwatch.com/press-release/penoxsulam-market-2021-41cagr-with-top-countries-data-how-big-is-the-penoxsulam-industry-latest-113-pages-report-2021-10-21. Accessed: 4 November 2021.
- Nagarajappa, G., A., and Goswami, U. (2006). DNA damage in male gonad cells of green mussel (*Perna viridis*) upon exposure to tobacco products. Ecotoxicology, 15(4), 365–369. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-006-0077-1.
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022a). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 11784975, Penoxsulam. https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/11784975.
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022b). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 3082, Dimethoate. https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/3082.
- National Center for Biotechnology Information. (2022c). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 91650, Pyrimethanil. https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/91650.
- Negro, L., Senkman, E., Montagna, M., Collins, P., Limnología, N. De, Universitaria, C., and El, P. (2011). Freshwater decapods and pesticides: an unavoidable relation in the Modern World. Pesticides in the Modern World - Risks and Benefits, November 2016, 1–31. https://doi.org/10.5772/16735.
- Nilsen, F. M., Parrott, B. B., Bowden, J. A., Kassim, B. L., Somerville, S. E., Bryan, T. A., Bryan, C. E., Lange, T. R., Delaney, J. P., Brunell, A. M., Long, S. E., and Guillette, L. J. (2016). Global DNA methylation loss associated with mercury contamination and aging in the American alligator (*Alligator mississippiensis*). Science of the Total Environment. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.12.059.

- Nilsson, E. E., and Skinner, M. K. (2015). Environmentally induced epigenetic transgenerational inheritance of reproductive disease. Biology of Reproduction, 93(6), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.115.134817.
- Norouzitallab, P., Baruah, K., Biswas, P., Vanrompay, D., and Bossier, P. (2016). Probing the phenomenon of trained immunity in invertebrates during a transgenerational study, using brine shrimp Artemia as a model system. Scientific Reports, 6(October 2015), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep21166.
- Noventa, S., Pavoni, B., and Galloway, T. S. (2011). Periwinkle (*Littorina littorea*) as a sentinel species: A field study integrating chemical and biological analyses. Environmental Science and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1021/es1039612.
- Oppold, A., Kreß, A., Vanden Bussche, J., Diogo, J. B., Kuch, U., Oehlmann, J., Vandegehuchte, M. B., and Müller, R. (2015). Epigenetic alterations and decreasing insecticide sensitivity of the Asian tiger mosquito *Aedes albopictus*. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 122, 45–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.06.036.
- Oskoei, P. M. B. (2018). Unravelling genotoxic effects of pesticides: *in vitro* and *ex vivo* assays as screening tools. University of Aveiro, Portugal.
- Ostling, O., and Johanson, K. J. (1984). Microelectrophoretic study of radiation-induced DNA damages in individual mammalian cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications, 123(1), 291–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-291x(84)90411-X.
- Patetsini, E., Dimitriadis, V. K., and Kaloyianni, M. (2013). Biomarkers in marine mussels, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, exposed to environmentally relevant levels of the pesticides, chlorpyrifos and penoxsulam. Aquatic Toxicology, 126, 338–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.09.009.
- Pavlaki, M. D., Araújo, M. J., Cardoso, D. N., Silva, A. R. R., Cruz, A., Mendo, S., Soares, A. M. V. M., Calado, R., and Loureiro, S. (2016). Ecotoxicity and genotoxicity of cadmium in different marine trophic levels. Environmental Pollution, 215, 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.05.010.
- Pérez-Figueroa, A. (2013). MSAP: a tool for the statistical analysis of methylation-sensitive amplified polymorphism data. Molecular Ecology Resources, 13(3), 522–527. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12064.
- Pilsner, J. R., Lazarus, A. L., Nam, D. H., Letcher, R. J., Sonne, C., Dietz, R., and Basu, N. (2010). Mercury-associated DNA hypomethylation in polar bear brains via the LUminometric Methylation Assay: A sensitive method to study epigenetics in wildlife. Molecular Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04452.x.
- Phillips, D. H., and Arlt, V. M. (2009). Genotoxicity: damage to DNA and its consequences. In EXS. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7643-8336-7 4.
- Pruski, A. M., and Dixon, D. R. (2002). Effects of cadmium on nuclear integrity and DNA repair efficiency in the gill cells of *Mytilus edulis* L. Aquatic Toxicology, 57(3), 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-445X(01)00192-8.
- Raimundo, J., Costa, P. M., Vale, C., Costa, M. H., and Moura, I. (2010). DNA damage and metal accumulation in four tissues of feral Octopus vulgaris from two coastal areas in Portugal. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2010.07.034.
- Reaves, E. (2020). Imidacloprid Proposed Interim Registration Review Decision Case Number 7605. www.regulations.gov. Accessed: 4 November 2021.
- Regev, A., Lamb, M. J., and Jablonka, E. (1998). The role of DNA methylation in invertebrates: Developmental regulation or genome defense? Molecular Biology and Evolution, 15(7), 880–891. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a025992.
- Reynolds, J., Souty-Grosset, C., and Richardson, A. (2013). Ecological roles of crayfish in freshwater and terrestrial habitats. Freshwater Crayfish, 19(2), 197–218. https://doi.org/10.5869/fc.2013.v19-2.197.

- Roberts, S. B., and Gavery, M. R. (2012). Is there a relationship between DNA methylation and phenotypic plasticity in invertebrates? Frontiers in Physiology. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2011.00116.
- Rondon, R., Akcha, F., Alonso, P., Menard, D., Rouxel, J., Montagnani, C., Mitta, G., Cosseau, C., and Grunau, C. (2016). Transcriptional changes in *Crassostrea gigas* oyster spat following a parental exposure to the herbicide diuron. Aquatic Toxicology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2016.03.007.
- Rondon, R., Grunau, C., Fallet, M., Charlemagne, N., Sussarellu, R., Chaparro, C., Montagnani, C., Mitta, G., Bachère, E., Akcha, F., and Cosseau, C. (2017). Effects of a parental exposure to diuron on Pacific oyster spat methylome. Environmental Epigenetics, 3(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/eep/dvx004.
- Rybakovas, A., Barsiene, J., and Lang, T. (2009). Environmental genotoxicity and cytotoxicity in the offshore zones of the Baltic and the North Seas. Marine Environmental Research, 68(5), 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2009.06.014.
- Sahlmann, A., Wolf, R., Holth, T. F., Titelman, J., and Hylland, K. (2017). Baseline and oxidative DNA damage in marine invertebrates. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A, 80(16–18), 807–819. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1352179.
- Santos, R., Palos-Ladeiro, M., Besnard, A., Reggio, J., Vulliet, E., Porcher, J. M., Bony, S., Sanchez, W., and Devaux, A. (2013). Parental exposure to methyl methane sulfonate of three-spined stickleback: contribution of DNA damage in male and female germ cells to further development impairment in progeny. Ecotoxicology 2013 22:5, 22(5), 815–824. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10646-013-1088-3.
- Sargsyan, A., Simonyan, A., Hovhannisyan, G., Arakelyan, M., and Aroutiounian, R. (2019). Application of the comet assay, micronucleus test and global DNA methylation analysis in *Darevskia lizards* as a sentinel organism for genotoxic monitoring of soil pollution. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 842(October 2018), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2018.10.005.
- Schlenk, D., Huggett, D. B., Allgood, J., Bennett, E., Rimoldi, J., Beeler, A. B., Block, D., Holder, A. W., Hovinga, R., and Bedient, P. (2001). Toxicity of fipronil and its degradation products to *Procambarus sp.*: Field and laboratory studies. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 41(3), 325–332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002440010255.
- Selvaraju, V., Baskaran, S., Agarwal, A., and Henkel, R. (2021). Environmental contaminants and male infertility: Effects and mechanisms. Andrologia, 53(1). https://doi.org/10.1111/and.13646.
- Shaw, J. L. A., Judy, J. D., Kumar, A., Bertsch, P., Wang, M. B., and Kirby, J. K. (2017). Incorporating transgenerational epigenetic inheritance into ecological risk assessment frameworks. Environmental Science and Technology, 51(17), 9433– 9445. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b01094.
- Simpson, V. J., Johnson, T. E., and Hammen, R. F. (1986). *Caenorhabditis elegans* DNA does not contain 5-methylcytosine at any time during development or aging. Nucleic Acids Research, 14(16), 6711–6719. https://doi.org/10.1093/NAR/14.16.6711.
- Singh, N. P., McCoy, M. T., Tice, R. R., and Schneider, E. L. (1988). A simple technique for quantification of low levels of DNA damage in individual cells. Experimental Cell Research, 175, 184–191. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(88)90265-0.
- Singh, R. N. (2017). Testicular toxicity of dimethoate in common carp Cyprinus carpio (Linn). 15(1), 152–156.
- Skevas, T. (2020). Evaluating alternative policies to reduce pesticide groundwater pollution in Dutch arable farming. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 63(4), 733–750. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2019.1606618.

- Skinner, M. K., Manikkam, M., and Guerrero-Bosagna, C. (2011). Epigenetic transgenerational actions of endocrine disruptors. Reproductive Toxicology, 31(3), 337–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2010.10.012.
- Slaninová, A., Smutna, M., Modra, H., and Svobodova, Z. (2009). A review: Oxidative stress in fish induced by pesticides. In Neuroendocrinology Letters.
- Sohn, L., Brodie, R. J., Couldwell, G., Demmons, E., and Sturve, J. (2018). Exposure to a nicotinoid pesticide reduces defensive behaviors in a non-target organism, the rusty crayfish *Orconectes rusticus*. Ecotoxicology, 27(7), 900–907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-018-1950-4.
- Šrut, M. (2021). Ecotoxicological epigenetics in invertebrates: Emerging tool for the evaluation of present and past pollution burden. Chemosphere, 282, 131026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.131026.
- Suarez-Ulloa, V., Gonzalez-Romero, R., and Eirin-Lopez, J. M. (2015). Environmental epigenetics: A promising venue for developing next-generation pollution biomonitoring tools in marine invertebrates. In: Marine Pollution Bulletin. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.06.020.
- Tollefsbol, T. (2011). Epigenetics: the new science of genetics. In Handbook of epigenetics: the new molecular and medical genetics (1st ed., pp. 1–6). Elsevier Inc.
- Tronick, E., and Hunter, R. G. (2016). Waddington, Dynamic Systems, and Epigenetics. Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience, 10(JUN), 107. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2016.00107.
- Valant, J., and Drobne, D. (2012). Biological reactivity of TiO₂ nanoparticles assessed by *ex vivo* testing. Protoplasma, 249(3), 835–842. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-011-0298-x.
- Valencia, L. C., García, A., Ramírez-Pinilla, M. P., and Fuentes, J. L. (2011). Estimates of DNA damage by the comet assay in the direct-developing frog *Eleutherodactylus johnstonei* (Anura, Eleutherodactylidae). Genetics and Molecular Biology, 34(4), 681–688. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1415-47572011005000048.
- Van Bruggen, A. H. C., He, M. M., Shin, K., Mai, V., Jeong, K. C., Finckh, M. R., and Morris, J. G. (2018). Environmental and health effects of the herbicide glyphosate. The Science of the Total Environment, 616–617, 255–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.309.
- Van der Oost, R., Beyer, J., and Vermeulen, N. P. E. (2003). Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: a review. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology, 13(2), 57–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1382-6689(02)00126-6.
- Van Scoy, A., Pennell, A., and Zhang, X. (2016). Environmental fate and toxicology of dimethoate. In Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology (Vol. 237). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-23573-8_3.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., De Coninck, D., Vandenbrouck, T., De Coen, W. N., and Janssen, C. R. (2010). Gene transcription profiles, global DNA methylation and potential transgenerational epigenetic effects related to Zn exposure history in *Daphnia magna*. Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex : 1987), 158(10), 3323–3329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2010.07.023.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., Lemière, F., and Janssen, C. R. (2009). Quantitative DNA-methylation in *Daphnia magna* and effects of multigeneration Zn exposure. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - C Toxicology and Pharmacology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2009.05.014.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., and Janssen, C. R. (2011). Epigenetics and its implications for ecotoxicology. In Ecotoxicology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-011-0634-0.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., and Janssen, C. R. (2014). Epigenetics in an ecotoxicological context. Mutation Research Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 764–765, 36–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2013.08.008.

- Vandegehuchte, M. B., Lemière, F., Vanhaecke, L., Vanden Berghe, W., and Janssen, C. R. (2010). Direct and transgenerational impact on *Daphnia magna* of chemicals with a known effect on DNA methylation. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - C Toxicology and Pharmacology, 151(3), 278–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2009.11.007.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., Vandenbrouck, T., Coninck, D. D., De Coen, W. M., and Janssen, C. R. (2010). Can metal stress induce transferable changes in gene transcription in *Daphnia magna*? Aquatic Toxicology, 97(3), 188–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.07.013.
- Verhoeven, K. J. F., vonHoldt, B. M., and Sork, V. L. (2016). Epigenetics in ecology and evolution: what we know and what we need to know. Molecular Ecology, 25(8), 1631–1638. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13617.
- Vogt, G. (2008). The marbled crayfish: A new model organism for research on development, epigenetics, and evolutionary biology. Journal of Zoology, 276(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2008.00473.x.
- Vogt, G. (2018). Investigating the genetic and epigenetic basis of big biological questions with the parthenogenetic marbled crayfish: A review and perspectives. J. Biosci., 43(1), 189–223.
- Vogt, G. (2019). Functional cytology of the hepatopancreas of decapod crustaceans. In Journal of Morphology. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.21040.
- Vogt, G., Falckenhayn, C., Schrimpf, A., Schmid, K., Hanna, K., Panteleit, J., Helm, M., Schulz, R., and Lyko, F. (2015). The marbled crayfish as a paradigm for saltational speciation by autopolyploidy and parthenogenesis in animals. Biology Open. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.014241.
- Waddington, C. H. (1942). The Epigenotype. Endeavour, 18-20. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyr184.
- Walton, L. C., Langston, V. B., Lassiter, R. B., Mann, R. K., and Richburg, J. S. (2005). Penoxsulam EUP and concept results from 2004 in southern US rice. Proc. South. Weed Sci. Soc, 58, 269.
- Wang, L. S., Wang, L., Wang, L., Wang, G., Li, Z. H., and Wang, J.-J. (2009). Effect of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate on the wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) seedlings. Environmental Toxicology, 24(3), 296–303. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.
- Wang, Y., Wang, C., Zhang, J., Chen, Y., and Zuo, Z. (2009). DNA hypomethylation induced by tributyltin, triphenyltin, and a mixture of these in *Sebastiscus marmoratus* liver. Aquatic Toxicology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.06.008.
- Wei, K., and Yang, J. (2015). Oxidative damage induced by copper and beta-cypermethrin in gill of the freshwater crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 113, 446–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.12.032.
- White, P. A., Robitaille, S., and Rasmussen, J. B. (1999). Heritable reproductive effects of benzo[a]pyrene on the fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*). Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 18(8), 1843–1847.
- Wilson, J. T., Pascoe, P. L., Parry, J. M., and Dixon, D. R. (1998). Evaluation of the comet assay as a method for the detection of DNA damage in the cells of a marine invertebrate, *Mytilus edulis* L. Mollusca: Pelecypoda. Mutation Research, 399, 87–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0027-5107(97)00268-6.
- Wood, L. (2021). Global Glyphosate Market Report 2021: The perennial need for weed control in crop cultivation cornerstone for present and future growth of glyphosate Market. https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/globalglyphosate-market-report-2021-the-perennial-need-for-weed-control-in-crop-cultivation---cornerstone-forpresent--future-growth-of-glyphosate-market-301373288.html. Accessed: 4 November 2021.

- Xavier, M. J., Roman, S. D., Aitken, R. J., and Nixon, B. (2019). Transgenerational inheritance: how impacts to the epigenetic and genetic information of parents affect offspring health. Human Reproduction Update, 25(5), 519–541. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmz017.
- Yagound, B., Remnant, E. J., Buchmann, G., and Oldroyd, B. P. (2020). Intergenerational transfer of DNA methylation marks in the honeybee. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 117(51), 32519–32527. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2017094117.
- Yauk, C., Polyzos, A., Rowan-Carroll, A., Somers, C. M., Godschalk, R. W., Van Schooten, F. J., Berndt, M. L., Pogribny, I. P., Koturbash, I., Williams, A., Douglas, G. R., and Kovalchuk, O. (2008). Germ-line mutations, DNA damage, and global hypermethylation in mice exposed to particulate air pollution in an urban/industrial location. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0705896105.
- Zacharia, J. T. (2011). Ecological effects of pesticides. In Pesticides in the Modern World risks and benefits (pp. 129–142).
- Zang, Y., Zhong, Y., Luo, Y., and Kong, Z. M. (2000). Genotoxicity of two novel pesticides for the earthworm, *Eisenia fetida*. Environmental Pollution, 108(2), 271–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0269-7491(99)00191-8.
- Zhang, X., Wallace, A. D., Du, P., Kibbe, W. A., Jafari, N., Xie, H., Lin, S., Baccarelli, A., Soares, M. B., and Hou, L. (2012). DNA methylation alterations in response to pesticide exposure *in vitro*. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.21718.
- Zhang, Y., Li, Z., Kholodkevich, S., Sharov, A., Feng, Y., Ren, N., and Sun, K. (2019). Cadmium-induced oxidative stress, histopathology, and transcriptome changes in the hepatopancreas of freshwater crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*). Science of the Total Environment, 666, 944–955. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.02.159.
- Zhao, D., Zhang, X., Li, X., Ru, S., Wang, Y., Yin, J., and Liu, D. (2019). Oxidative damage induced by copper in testis of the red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* and its underlying mechanisms. Aquatic Toxicology, 207(July 2018), 120–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2018.12.006.
- Zhou, X., Zhu, G., Jilisa, M., and Sun, J. (2001). Influence of Cu, Zn, Pb, Cd and their heavy metalion mixture on the DNA methylation level of the fish (*Carassius auratus*). Zhongguo Huanjing Kexue/China Environmental Science.

DNA of crayfish spermatozoa as a target of waterborne pesticides – an *ex vivo* approach as a tool to short-term spermiotoxicity screening

Journal of Hazardous Materials, 400, 2020

2. DNA of crayfish spermatozoa as a target of waterborne pesticides – an *ex vivo* approach as a tool to short-term spermiotoxicity screening

Keywords

Ecogenotoxicity; DNA damage; Reprotoxicity; Procambarus clarkii

Abstract

The spermiotoxic properties of aquatic contaminants might be the cause of low fertilization rate and decreased prolificacy, affecting the success of the impacted populations. The genotoxic potential of pesticides in spermatozoa as an undesirable effect on non-target organisms, namely aquatic invertebrates with external fertilization, emerges as a key question in ecogenotoxicological research. Thus, this study aimed to clarify if DNA integrity of red swamp crayfish (Procambarus clarkii) spermatozoa is affected by waterborne pesticides at environmentally relevant concentrations. By adopting an *ex vivo* approach, six pesticides were addressed in a short-term assay: herbicides glyphosate (9 and 90 μ g L⁻¹) and penoxsulam (2.3 and 23 μ g L⁻¹); insecticides dimethoate (2.4 and 24 μ g L⁻¹) and imidacloprid (13.1 and 131 μ g L⁻¹); fungicides pyrimethanil (2.2 and 22 µg L⁻¹) and imazalil (16 and 160 µg L⁻¹). Genotoxicity was observed in higher concentrations of glyphosate, penoxsulam, dimethoate, pyrimethanil, and imazalil. Imidacloprid was the only pesticide that did not cause non-specific DNA damage, although displaying pro-oxidant properties. Overall, the present study demonstrated the suitability of the ex vivo approach on spermiotoxicity screening, highlighting the potential ecological impact of pesticides on non-target species, such as *P. clarkii*, compromising sperm DNA integrity and, subsequently, the population success.

2.1 Introduction

Spermatozoa are highly specialized cells, crucial in the definition of genetic and functional traits, as well as in determining the continuous success of the species. The physiological and structural features of this type of cells have been challenging research topics in environmental toxicology, namely concerning aquatic animals with external fertilization, firstly because of its adaptability to the reproductive strategy (Lewis and Ford, 2012), and secondly, for its ability to cope with the environmental pressures immediately following the release into the external milieu. After mating or during fertilization, gametes could be exposed to several aquatic contaminants, which may adversely affect the reproduction processes (Arizza et al., 2009; Lahnsteiner et al., 2005; Lee and Steinert, 2003), leading to the noxious effects on short- and long-term population survival (Jha, 2008). So, there is an environmental concern related to the spermiotoxicity on aquatic populations. In the aquatic invertebrates context, most studies addressed the impact of parental exposures on gametes and offspring (e.g. Barranger et al., 2014; Bouilly et al., 2007; Debier et al., 2003; Devaux et al., 2011; Lewis and Galloway, 2009), while only a few assessed the effects on spermatozoa from the direct exposure to contaminants, namely petroleum aromatic hydrocarbons (Beirão et al., 2018), CuO (Gallo et al., 2018) and ZnO nanoparticles (Oliviero et al., 2019). Hence, more research on spermiotoxic properties of water contaminants is needed as a path to protect those populations, mitigating reproductive impairments and the induction of transmissible disruptions to offspring.

The spermiotoxicity in aquatic invertebrates has been assessed through motility impairments (Esposito et al., 2020), metabolic disorders (*e.g.* acrosome-reaction, mitochondrial activity) (Favret and Lynn, 2010), and DNA damage (Lacaze et al., 2011). Sperm DNA integrity has crucial importance since it will directly influence the quality of the male genome conveyed to the female one, and thus, to progeny. Concomitantly, several studies pointed out the lack of DNA repair machinery on spermatozoa from

distinct species, such as *Pomatoceros lamarckii* (Polychaeta) (Dixon et al., 2002), *Crassostrea gigas* (Bivalvia) (Mai et al., 2013) and *Gammarus fossarum* (Malacostraca) (Lacaze et al., 2011). Therefore, the inability to repair damaged DNA, combined with their lower antioxidant defenses, strongly contribute to making spermatozoa more susceptible to genotoxic agents than oocytes (Mai et al., 2013). Previous studies on aquatic invertebrates' spermatozoa also found a link between the DNA damage and the abnormal development and growth of progeny (Barranger et al., 2014; Caldwell et al., 2011; Lacaze et al., 2011; Oliviero et al., 2019). These facts highlight the interest of spermatozoa as a peculiar cell population, namely in the framework of ecogenotoxicological research. Moreover, the suitability of DNA integrity as a tool for spermiotoxicity assessment gains prominence in species with immotile spermatozoa (due to the lack of a true flagellum), like crayfish and other decapod crustaceans (Kouba et al., 2015; Yazicioglu et al., 2016), where motility cannot be evaluated.

Pesticides runoff from agricultural land and its misuse are a major concern (Hofstetter et al., 2010). Few studies evaluated the pesticide spermiotoxicity on nontarget aquatic invertebrates, relying the available reports on the appraisal of fertilization success (and failure) (Díaz et al., 2015; Mai et al., 2013; Yang et al., 2008), while the assessment of genotoxic effects in spermatozoa remains unexplored. Herbicides, insecticides and fungicides are the most currently used pesticides (FAO, 2019; INE, 2018). Within the first group, glyphosate is the best-selling, but studies regarding its genotoxicity in aquatic invertebrates' spermatozoa are still scarce (Akcha et al., 2012). Akcha et al. (2012) reported that no genotoxic effect was found on oyster spermatozoa after glyphosate exposure. Notwithstanding, glyphosate genotoxicity has been demonstrated in fish blood cells (Guilherme et al., 2010, 2012). Within herbicides, there is a new pre-emergent agent, penoxsulam, for which some studies have already warned for its genotoxic potential on aquatic invertebrates (Patetsini et al., 2013, Costa et al., 2018), although there is no information on sperm cells. Concerning insecticides, dimethoate and imidacloprid are among the most used for agriculture purposes (DGAV,

2015), but no data are available on their genotoxic effects in male gametes of aquatic invertebrates. However, genotoxicity was demonstrated for dimethoate in other cell types (Zang et al., 2000, Oskoei, 2018). In respect to fungicides, pyrimethanil and imazalil are among the most employed on crop production (DGAV, 2015). Although, their genotoxicity was described for human leukocytes (Lebailly et al., 1998) and mice hepatocytes (Dikić et al., 2012), the impact on aquatic invertebrates' spermatozoa remains unknown.

The lack of studies on the risk to spermatozoa of aquatic invertebrates resulting from the exposure to waterborne pesticides is disquieting. Concerning non-target species, the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*, due to the broad range of habitats occupied, is likely to be impacted. Despite the crayfish spermatozoa being transferred to the female within the spermatophores (Niksirat et al., 2014; Niksirat and Kouba, 2016), *P. clarkii* appears as a suitable experimental model, regardless the absence of studies on pesticide spermiotoxicity. Moreover, since its reproduction is external, the vulnerability to waterquality status cannot be discarded.

Organism-based (*in vivo*) approaches including field surveys and/or laboratory experimental exposures represent the methodological frontline of ecotoxicology. *In vivo* assays are designed to achieve the widest range of biological responses, considering a statistical data validation. In the end, the number of organisms used may reach ethically questionable levels. Since the implementation of Directive 2010/63/EU on animal protection scientific purposes, legal requirements based on 3R's principles (replacement, reduction and refinement) were settled out, imposing new approaches for toxicological tests. So, here it is proposed an *ex vivo* approach as an alternative cell-based methodology to screen for potential spermiotoxic effects of pesticides. Spermatozoa of aquatic invertebrates with external fertilization are highly suited for *ex vivo* studies since their natural physical environment at the time of fertilization is easy to simulate on the incubation cell medium. Moreover, it allows a high-throughput toxicological screening,

simplifying complex-toxicology trials into low-cost and low-time consuming assays, providing a larger volume of relevant information with a reduced number of organisms (in the limit, using spermatozoa from a single animal) (Cazarin et al., 2004). The proposed approach was successfully adopted by Santos et al. (2013) to assess toxicologically induced DNA damage in fish spermatozoa.

This work aimed (i) the evaluation of the genotoxic impact of waterborne pesticides on spermatozoa of *P. clarkii*, after a direct exposure through an *ex vivo* approach, (ii) the identification of eventual oxidative DNA damage, and (iii) the contribution to the knowledge of the long-lasting effects. It was tested the herbicides glyphosate and penoxsulam, the insecticides dimethoate and imidacloprid, as well as the fungicides pyrimethanil and imazalil. Accordingly, sperm DNA damage was assessed through the alkaline comet assay, with an extra step including DNA lesion-specific repair enzymes to assess the oxidative DNA damage mechanisms.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Chemicals

All pesticides used, *viz*. glyphosate (CAS 1071-83-6), penoxsulam (CAS 219714-96-2), dimethoate (CAS 60-51-5), imidacloprid (CAS 138261-41-3), pyrimethanil (CAS 53112-28-0) and imazalil (CAS 35554-44-0), with purity above 98% (analytical standard), were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Company (Spain). DNA lesion-specific repair enzymes, namely endonuclease III (EndoIII) and formamidopyrimidine DNA glycosylase (FPG) were purchased from Professor Andrew Collins (University of Oslo, Norway). Trypan blue, proteinase K and all other chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Company (Spain).

2.2.2 Animal maintenance and sperm extraction

Adult male red swamp crayfish specimens (*Procambarus clarkii*), with an average total length of 11.0 \pm 0.9 cm, were collected at Rio Minho (Vila Nova de Cerveira, NW Portugal), a low impacted area concerning the presence of pesticides (Dagnac et al., 2012) as well as other inorganic and organic contaminants (Capela et al., 2016). In the laboratory, crayfish were kept in individual aquaria, during two weeks for acclimation, with the following water conditions: constant temperature (19 \pm 1°C), freshwater (salinity o) with aeration (dissolved oxygen 8.1 \pm 0.5 mg L⁻¹), daily UV disinfection, weekly control of nitrites (0.06 \pm 0.03 mg L⁻¹), nitrates (25 \pm 6.0 mg L⁻¹) and ammonia (<0.1 mg L⁻¹) and pH (7.3 \pm 0.2). Animals were daily fed *ad libitum* with crustacean feed, *Caridina Vita*, produced by Sparos[®] (Olhão, Portugal).

A total of 21 (7 x 3 assays/pesticide classes) crayfish were used to perform the assays. For sperm extraction, the vas deferent of each animal was excised and placed into 1.5 mL of cooled PBS, in a petri dish. Then, the distal section was gently pressed to release the sperm into the PBS medium, making a cell suspension that was immediately used (see point 2.3). Spermatozoa in crayfish consist of a huge acrosome, microtubular radial arms and nucleus, covered by an extracellular capsule, the spermatophore (Niksirat et al., 2013a, b).

2.2.3 Ex vivo assay set-up

An *ex vivo* exposure was performed to each pesticide class (*viz*. herbicides, insecticides, and fungicides), where two active principles of each were tested. Seven crayfish were used as sperm donors to perform each experiment (n=7).

Ex vivo incubations were carried out in 2 mL microtubes, for 2 hours, at $18 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C, with constant rotational movement (0.9 rpm) to avoid cells deposition. Briefly, 200 μ L of
cell suspension in PBS (approx. 3 x 10⁵ spermatozoa) were added to 1.8 mL of the proper medium, *i.e.*, PBS (control condition) or pesticide solution (prepared in PBS).

Two pesticide concentrations were selected based on environmentally relevant concentrations reported in the aquatic environment:

i) herbicides: glyphosate (organophosphate) 9 (G1) and 90 (G2) μ g L⁻¹ (Botta et al., 2009), and penoxsulam (triazolopyrimidine) 2.3 (P1) and 23 (P2) μ g L⁻¹ (Rodrigues and Almeida 2005 *apud* Murussi et al., 2014);

ii) insecticides: dimethoate (organophosphate) 2.4 (D1) and 24 (D2) μ g L⁻¹ (Van Scoy et al., 2016), and imidacloprid (neonicotinoid) 13.1 (I1) and 131 (I2) μ g L⁻¹ (Johnson and Pettis, 2014);

iii) fungicides: pyrimethanil (anilinopyrimidine) 2.2 (Py1) and 22 (Py2) μ g L⁻¹ (Verdisson et al., 2001), and imazalil (azole) 16 (Iz1) and 160 (Iz2) μ g L⁻¹ (Castillo et al., 2006).

At the end of the assay, cell viability was determined by the trypan blue exclusion method (Anderson et al., 2003; Strober, 2001). Sperm cell viability levels were above 90% in all experimental groups.

2.2.4 Genetic damage evaluation

At the end of *ex vivo* exposures, the 2.0 mL microtubes containing cell suspensions were centrifuged at 1,500 rpm, for 5 min, at 4°C. Then, the supernatant was removed, and the pellet was resuspended in 2.0 mL of glycerol (10%) to carry out the cryopreservation step (-20°C), for 48 h, to facilitate the cell lysis. This procedure is required due to the presence of the spermatozoon extracellular capsule. At the end of this step, samples were rapidly thawing at 37°C, the cryoprotectant solution was replaced by PBS, and the comet assay was initiated.

The comet assay alkaline version was performed based on the method presented by Collins (2004) with slight modifications according to Lacaze et al. (2010) and Shaposhnikov et al. (2010). Briefly, 60 μ L of cell suspension was resuspended in 70 μ L low melting point agarose (1%; dissolved in PBS). Twelve drops (gels) with 6 μ L of cell suspension were placed on a pre-coated glass slide with 1% of normal melting-point agarose (1%; dissolved in distilled water), as two rows of 6 gels (6 groups of two replicates), without coverslips, containing approximately 2.2x10³ cells/gel. Gels were left for 5 min at 4°C to let agarose polymerase and then immersed in a lysis solution (2.5 M NaCl, 0.1 M EDTA, 10 mM Tris, 1% Triton X-100, pH 10) overnight. To improve lysis step slides with gels were washed for 5 min in cooled PBS to remove lysis solution and then incubated with proteinase K (PK; 40 μ g mL⁻¹) in the dark, at 37°C, for 60 min.

After PK incubation, three sets of slides were prepared and two of these were incubated with the endonucleases EndoIII or FPG, which convert oxidized pyrimidines and purines in DNA single-strand breaks, respectively (Azqueta et al. 2009), and a third was incubated only with endonuclease buffer (0.1 M KCl, 0.5 mM EDTA, 40 mM HEPES, 0.2 mg mL⁻¹ bovine serum albumin, pH 8). Slides were washed in endonuclease buffer for 3 times, 5 min each, at 4°C. Thirty μ L of each endonuclease (diluted in endonuclease buffer) were placed in each gel. Gels were then immediately incubated in the dark at 37°C for 30 min. Gels without enzyme were incubated only with endonuclease buffer. After incubation, slides were gently placed in a horizontal electrophoresis tank, filled with freshly electrophoresis solution (0.3 M NaOH, 1 mM EDTA, pH 13), for alkaline treatment. DNA was then allowed to unwind for 40 min. Electrophoresis were carried out in the dark, at 4°C. Once finished the electrophoresis, slides were washed in PBS (10 min), distilled water (10 min), and then gels were fixed for 15 min in absolute ethanol.

Slides were stained with ethidium bromide (20 g L⁻¹). Fifty nucleoids per gel were scored, using an Olympus BX 41 fluorescence microscope (400× magnification).

The DNA damage was quantified by visual scoring, where nucleoids were grouped into five discrete comet intensity and length classes (ranging from class o, collecting nucleoids with no tail, to class 4 for nucleoids with almost all DNA in the tail; Collins 2004). A genetic damage indicator (GDI) was calculated as a major endpoint for each assay (GDI, GDI_{EndoIII} and GDI_{FPG}) as follows:

$$GDI = \sum \% \text{ nucleoids class } i \times i$$

where *i* is the number of each defined class (ranging within o-4) and GDI values were inherently expressed as arbitrary units, in a scale of o-400 per 100 scored nucleoids. The difference between GDI_{EndoIII} and GDI (corresponding to NSS_{EndoIII}), as well as between GDI_{FPG} and GDI (corresponding to NSS_{FPG}), was calculated to indicate additional DNA breaks, which occur in net enzyme-sensitive sites solely (Azqueta et al. 2009).

2.2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with the software Statistica 7.0. Normality and homogeneity of variances were confirmed by Shapiro-Wilk's W and Brown-Forsythe (HOV) tests, respectively, in order to meet the required statistical demands, otherwise, a data transformation was applied. One-way ANOVA, followed by the post hoc Dunnett test, was used to compare treated groups with the corresponding control, by each experiment pesticide class. Additionally, the Student's t-test was used to compare treated groups (lower concentration *vs*. higher concentration) within the same pesticide. Differences between groups were considered as significant when p < 0.05 (Zar, 2010).

2.3 Results

The genotoxic assessment using the alkaline comet assay was expressed according to the genetic damage indicator (GDI) values, which translate non-specific DNA damage. With the incorporation of the lesion-specific repair enzymes EndoIII and FPG into the comet assay, it was possible to infer the specific occurrence of oxidative DNA damage, which was expressed by GDI_{EndoIII} and GDI_{FPG}.

2.3.1 Herbicide assay

Considering glyphosate data, spermatozoa exposed to the higher concentration (G2) presented a significant increase (3-fold) of non-specific damage (GDI) in relation to the control group (Ct), as well as in relation to the lowest concentration (G1; 1.7-fold) (Fig. 16A). Oxidative damage measured as GDI_{EndoIII} (Fig. 16B) and GDI_{FPG} (Fig. 16C) showed a pattern of results similar to GDI, with the exception that no differences between exposed groups were detected in the GDI_{FPG}. The net sensitive-sites (NSS) for each enzyme, NSS_{EndoIII} (Fig. 16D) and NSS_{FPG} (Fig. 16E) showed a slight increase in both concentrations relatively to control, although without a statistical significance.

When exposed to penoxsulam, male gametes showed significantly higher GDI values for both concentrations (P1 and P2; 3.1 and 3.7-fold, respectively) in comparison to control (Fig. 1A). Oxidative damage assessment of P1 and P2 groups displayed as GDI_{EndoIII} (Fig. 16B) and GDI_{FPG} (Fig. 16C), showed identical results to GDI, with increases in relation to control of 3.09 and 4.82-fold, respectively. In GDI_{EndoIII}, a significant difference was also found between P1 and P2, with the latter group displaying higher values (1.6-fold). The NSS values showed no statistically significant differences relative to control group or between treatments. However, P2 had a slight NSS_{EndoIII} increase relative to the control group (Fig. 16D; P1 had no measurable net sensitive-sites) as well as NSS_{FPG} for P1 and P2 (Fig. 16E).



Fig. 16. Herbicides genotoxic assessment on crayfish spermatozoa. Mean values of spermatozoa DNA damage measured by alkaline comet assay on male gametes of *P. clarkii* exposed to 9 (G1) and 90 μg L⁻¹ (G2) of glyphosate (light green), and to 2.3 (P1) and 23 μg L⁻¹ (P2) of penoxsulam (dark green). Panels represent: (A) genetic damage indicator of non-specific DNA damage (GDI); (B) global and partial DNA damage (GDI_{EndoIII}), *i.e.*, GDI (green) and additional strand breaks corresponding to net EndoIII-sensitive sites (NSS_{EndoIII}; black); (C) global and partial DNA damage (GDI_{FPG}), *i.e.*, GDI (green) and additional strand breaks corresponding to net FPG-sensitive sites (NSS_{FPG}; black); (D) NSS_{EndoIII}; (E) NSS_{FPG}. Bars represent the standard error. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are: (*) vs. control (Ct); (a) vs. G1; (b) vs. P1.

2.3.2 Insecticide assay

Spermatozoa exposed to dimethoate presented statistically significant increases in GDI levels for both D1 and D2 groups (2.2- and 2.1-fold-increment, respectively), in comparison with the control group (Fig. 17A). Similarly, oxidative damage measured as GDI_{EndoIII} (Fig. 17B) displayed significant increases in both D1 and D2 groups (1.94- and 2.1-fold, respectively), comparing to the control group. Concerning GDI_{FPG} (Fig. 17C), no statistically significant differences were found. It is important to clarify that only D1 values were available as GDI_{FPG} since the sample corresponding to D2 had a mishap. Regarding NSS_{EndoIII}, D1 group had a slight decrease and D2 had a slight increase in relation to the control group (Fig. 17D). In NSS_{FPG}, like in NSS_{EndoIII}, D1 had a slight

decrease relative to the control group (Fig. $_{17E}$). The differences found in NSS_{EndoIII} and NSS_{FPG} were not significantly different.

Considering imidacloprid results, no significant differences were found between exposed and control groups as GDI (Fig. 17A). On the other hand, regarding the oxidative damage presented as GDI_{EndoIII} (Fig. 17B) and GDI_{FPG} (Fig. 17C), I1 group showed significantly higher values than control (2.2- and 1.6-fold, respectively). In NSS_{EndoIII}, I1 and I2 group had an identical increase in relation to the control group (Fig. 17D). In NSS_{FPG}, I1 and I2 groups had a slight decrease in relation to control (Fig. 17E). Even though, differences were not significant in both NSS_{EndoIII} and NSS_{FPG} parameters.



Fig. 17. Insecticides genotoxic assessment on crayfish spermatozoa. Mean values of spermatozoa DNA damage measured by alkaline comet assay on male gametes of *P. clarkii* exposed to 2.4 (D1) and 24 μg L⁻¹ (D2) of dimethoate (light yellow), and to 13.1 (I1) and 131 μg L⁻¹ (I2) of imidacloprid (dark yellow). (A) Genetic damage indicator of non-specific DNA damage, (GDI); (B) global and partial DNA damage (GDI_{EndoIII}), *i.e.*, GDI (yellow) and additional strand breaks corresponding to net EndoIII-sensitive sites (NSS_{EndoIII}; black); (C) global and partial DNA damage (GDI_{FPG}), *i.e.*, GDI (yellow) and additional strand breaks corresponding to net FPG-sensitive sites (NSS_{FPG}; black); (D) NSS_{EndoIII}; (E) NSS_{FPG}. (m.v.) missing value. Bars represent the standard error. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are: (*) vs. control (Ct).</p>

2.3.3 Fungicide assay

Following pyrimethanil exposure, only Py2 presented a significant DNA damage increment (1.37-fold), when compared with control, as GDI (Fig. 18A). In both GDI_{EndoIII} (Fig. 18B) and GDI_{FPG} (Fig. 18C) parameters, no significant differences were displayed. Concerning NSS_{EndoIII}, Py1 and Py2 had a slight increase in relation to control group (Fig. 18D), but in NSS_{FPG}, both groups had a slight decrease also in relation to control (Fig. 18E). There were, also, no significant differences between treatments and the control group.

In what concerns imazalil, spermatozoa exposed to the higher concentration (Iz2) displayed significantly increased GDI values (1.55-fold) (Fig. 18A), compared to the control group. Moreover, Iz2 presented a significantly higher GDI value, 1.3-fold, comparing to Iz1. In relation to oxidative damage, Iz2 presented significantly higher GDI_{EndoIII} values in relation to control (1.47-fold) and Iz1 (1.34-fold) groups (Fig. 18B). A different pattern was observed in GDI_{FPG}, where both exposed groups (Iz1 and Iz2) presented significantly elevated levels (1.2-fold) in relation to the control (Fig. 18C). Differently, to pyrimethanil groups, Iz1 and Iz2 had a slight decrease in NSS_{EndoIII} (Fig. 18D) and a slight increase in NSS_{FPG} (Fig. 18E). Although here also the differences were not significant.

Chapter II



Fig. 18. Fungicides genotoxic assessment on crayfish spermatozoa. Mean values of spermatozoa DNA damage measured by alkaline comet assay on male gametes of *P. clarkii* exposed to 2.2 (Py1) and 22 μg L⁻¹ (Py2) of pyrimethanil (light blue), and to 16 (Iz1) and 160 μg L⁻¹ (Iz2) of imazalil (light blue). (A) Genetic damage indicator of non-specific DNA damage (GDI; (B) global and partial DNA damage (GDI_{EndolII}), *i.e.*, GDI (blue) and additional strand breaks corresponding to net EndolII-sensitive sites (NSS_{EndolII}; black); (C) global and partial DNA damage (GDI_{FPG}), *i.e.*, GDI (blue) and additional strand breaks corresponding to net FPG-sensitive sites (NSS_{FPG}; black); (D) NSS_{EndolII}; (E) NSS_{FPG}. Bars represent the standard error. Statistically significant differences (p<0.05) are: (*) vs. control (Ct); (a) vs. Iz1.

2.4 Discussion

Studies on pesticide toxicity based on LC50 (or LD50) values, despite their recognized usefulness, may lack some relevance and realism since it can be unrelated to the real concentrations found in the aquatic environment. Therefore, in this study, environmentally relevant waterborne concentrations were considered to assess the genotoxic potential of widely applied pesticides on the male germ cells of *Procambarus clarkii*.

During mating, at a given moment and even during a short period of time, the male gametes of *P. clarkii* are in direct contact to the surrounding water, exposing them

to the waterborne contaminants (McLay and van den Brink, 2016). Based on this information, and with the intuit of mimics what happens on the aquatic environment, the *ex vivo* approach was adopted as an alternative cell-based methodology. The results revealed that this approach allowed achieving a considerable amount of information, reducing costs and time consumed, where six pesticides (two concentrations of each) were tested, using a reduced number of individuals. In this direction and in line with the reduction goal of the 3R's principles, it should be highlighted that an 80% reduction on the number of animals sacrificed was achieved (21 crayfish instead of 105 that would be required for the equivalent experiment adopting the *in vivo* approach). Overall, the proposed *ex vivo* approach demonstrated its effectiveness, considering jointly the cell viability (trypan blue exclusion method) and the DNA integrity (comet assay) appraisals, as values > 90% were ensured for cell viability and, for instance, the capacity to detect effects at low levels of exposure and to distinguish pesticide concentrations differing by one order of magnitude (10x).

2.4.1 Spermatozoa DNA damage induced by herbicides

The existing research upon glyphosate reprotoxicity concerns mainly vertebrates (Anifandis et al., 2018; Lopes et al., 2014; Sánchez et al., 2017) while most of the studies in invertebrates addressed other parameters than genotoxicity, such as endocrine disruption and alterations on spermatogenesis (*e.g.* Gonçalves et al., 2018; Lopes et al., 2014; Nardi et al., 2017; Yousef et al., 1995). Specifically, Omran and Salama (2013) conducted a study with the freshwater mollusk *Biomphalaria alexandrina* where it was demonstrated that glyphosate interferes with testosterone, leading to azoospermia.

To the authors' knowledge, the only study regarding invertebrates' sperm cells in this framework was developed by Akcha et al. (2012), who tested glyphosate and diuron on the oyster. The glyphosate concentrations tested by Akcha et al. (2012) were below the maximum levels reported in the environment (Botta et al. 2009) and no

genotoxic effects were detected, which agrees with the current observations for the lower tested concentration. In the present study, the higher concentration of glyphosate induced DNA damage on crayfish sperm cells, pointing out a concentration-dependent profile of response.

Webster et al. (2014) detected an up-regulation of the mRNA of antioxidant enzymes in the gonads of zebrafish males exposed to glyphosate (10 000 μ g L⁻¹), suggesting possible oxidative stress in the gonads. Inline, Lopes et al. (2014) hypothesized that a redox impairment and oxidative stress could be the mechanism responsible for glyphosate-induced damage to lipids and DNA in zebrafish Danio rerio spermatozoa. In addition, Guilherme et al. (2010) described the glyphosate potential to oxidatively damage DNA in blood cells of the teleost Anguilla anguilla. Given these previous findings, and in view of the knowledge about the low DNA repair capacity of male gametes, in the present study, it should be expected the occurrence of oxidative DNA damage. However, this hypothesis was not confirmed by the current NSS_{EndoIII} and NSS_{FPG} data, which can be explained by the fact that the effects reported by Webster et al. (2014) and Lopes et al. (2014) concern a concentration around 100 times higher than that currently tested (and the maximum level measured in the environmental waters as well). Anyhow, it is possible to observe an increasing tendency of these parameters in the exposed groups, advising that the absence of a glyphosate pro-oxidant action on the crayfish sperm cells shouldn't be assumed as a closed question.

Penoxsulam is the most recent pesticide in the market among those tested in the present study. Consequently, its genotoxic potential has been scarcely addressed and no scientific studies focused on gametes were found, which reinforces the novelty of this research. Nevertheless, the genotoxicity of this compound to somatic cells, following *in vivo* exposures at environmentally realistic concentrations, was previously described. Patetsini and co-workers (2013) demonstrated the penoxsulam genotoxicity in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* hemocytes. Also, Costa et al. (2018) exposed two populations of

82

Procambarus clarkii (from a pesticide-free local *vs.* from a penoxsulam contaminated area) to a penoxsulam-based herbicide (Viper[®]), demonstrating that only that historically impacted presented DNA damage on gill cells. Hence, the penoxsulam genotoxic potential to sperm cells is described for the first time in the present study. Moreover, this compound could be considered highly genotoxic to crayfish's male gametes, since even the lower tested concentration (2.3 µg L⁻¹), which is 10 times below of the environmental found concentration, induced DNA damage.

Regarding the penoxsulam pro-oxidant potential, the present results tone down the assumption of those processes as key determinants of the DNA damage measured (despite the overall tendency towards NSS rise in treated groups and the GDI_{EndoIII} increase of in P₂ group when compared to P₁). Moreover, no studies are available pointing out penoxsulam as an oxidative stress inducer.

2.4.2 Spermatozoa DNA damage induced by insecticides

To the authors' knowledge, there are no studies relatively to dimethoate genotoxicity on male gametes, concerning both invertebrates and vertebrates. Regarding dimethoate spermiotoxicity in vertebrates, a few studies reported pernicious effects, such as a decreased sperm cell concentration (Hassanin and El Asely, 2015), reduced motility, low viability, and increased abnormal morphology (Jallouli et al., 2015). Additionally, and regarding the eventual effect of dimethoate on the progeny fitness, a study with the freshwater crustacean *Daphnia magna*, involving a parental exposure, demonstrated that high concentrations could lead to a reduction in number and weight of offspring, strengthening the idea that this insecticide can affect germ cells (Andersen et al., 2006). Despite their intrinsic interest, these studies tested dimethoate concentrations highly above those found in the aquatic environment.

The present study, as the first linking dimethoate spermiotoxicity and DNA integrity, reinforced its biological risk since environmentally relevant concentrations

showed to be genotoxic to male gametes of *P. clarkii*, even at the lower concentration, regarding both GDI and GDI_{EndoIII}. Regarding the oxidative damage assessment, dimethoate did not come out as a pro-oxidant, since, unlike the previous pesticides, the NSS parameters did not show any increasing tendency.

Again, in what concerns imidacloprid genotoxic effects on male gametes, there is a lack of information. The few existing studies pointed this compound as reprotoxic to vertebrates (Lonare et al., 2016; Xia et al., 2016). Particularly in rats, imidacloprid caused spermatozoa malformations as well as a reduction in spermatozoa number and viability (Lonare et al., 2016). In aquatic animals, imidacloprid induced histopathological alterations on testis and a low sperm amount in fish (*Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*) (Xia et al., 2016). In the mentioned studies, the concentrations tested were found to be very high and environmentally non-relevant. So, the information provided should be taken cautiously to predict the real biological and environmental impact of imidacloprid.

Despite the absence of non-specific DNA damage, displayed by GDI parameter for both imidacloprid tested concentrations, the present findings bring new insights regarding the oxidative DNA damage occurrence on *P. clarkii*'s spermatozoa. NSS data did not unequivocally corroborate this pathway, but the observed increasing tendency for both tested concentrations presented by the NSS_{EndoIII} parameter should not be neglected. Furthermore, the analysis of the GDI_{EndoIII} and GDI_{FPG} parameters demonstrated that imidacloprid, at the lower tested concentration, might act as a prooxidant, affecting equally pyrimidines and purines. Moreover, an inverse concentrationeffect relationship was apparent, mainly on the induction of purine lesions. This response profile has been frequently described in different somatic cells and explained on the basis of the modulation of the DNA damage repair. However, this explanation cannot be extended to spermatozoa due to the lack of DNA repair machinery in these cells (Dixon et al., 2002; Lewis and Ford, 2012; Mai et al., 2013). So, the inverse concentration-effect relationship observed for oxidatively damaged DNA may be justified by the action of the

84

antioxidant defense system of the sperm cell. In a recent scientific review concerning reactive oxygen species (ROS) and antioxidants in invertebrates and vertebrates (Len et al., 2019), it was described that, in the presence of oxidative events (*e.g.* cryopreservation) for sperm cells, the antioxidants catalase and GSH play a protective role, leading to a decrease in DNA damage. Therefore, in the present study, the high concentration of imidacloprid promoted the threshold conditions enabling the activation of the cellular antioxidant defenses, in contrast with the lower concentration where that threshold was not reached, and therefore, the oxidative damage on sperm cell DNA was barred.

2.4.3 Spermatozoa DNA damage induced by fungicides

Considering that pyrimethanil was described as causing reproduction and embryonic development impairments in a freshwater snail (*Physella acuta*) (Seeland et al., 2013) and that reprotoxicity could be related to DNA breaks on spermatozoa (Devaux et al., 2015), it would be conceivable to hypothesize its genotoxic potential to invertebrate male gametes.

As an important contribution, the current study demonstrated a mild spermiotoxic potential of pyrimethanil, relying on the ability of the higher concentration tested ($_{22} \mu g L^{-1}$) to exert genotoxic damage (measured only as GDI) to spermatozoa of *P. clarkii*. In what concerns the involvement of oxidative pressures, it can be regarded as a negligible DNA damage mechanism associated with this compound, within the tested conditions.

A few studies have been carried out concerning imazalil male reprotoxicity in invertebrate and vertebrate species, though it is noteworthy the absence of genotoxic studies. Pennati and co-workers (2006) pointed out imazalil as a spermiotoxic agent in *Phallusia mammillata* (ascidian), translated into a decrease in sperm viability, inhibition in fertilization and impairment of embryological development, though an environmentally unrealistic concentration was tested.

85

Here, imazalil showed to be genotoxic to crayfish male gametes. In addition, it was also shown that the spermiotoxic effect is dose-dependent (see GDI and GDI_{EndoIII}). DNA oxidation seems not to be a prominent damaging process for imazalil, though the observation that, for the lower concentration, DNA breaks occurred only in the presence of FPG recommends some caution on this assertion.

2.4.4 The potential impact of pesticides on the crayfish population success

The fact that male gametes have a high content in unsaturated fatty acids, including in crayfish (Subramoniam, 1993), makes them highly susceptible ROS (Luño et al., 2015). Additionally, the DNA repair machinery down-regulation during late spermatogenesis, namely on spermiogenesis phase (González-Marín et al., 2012), leads to a narrower range of possibilities to mitigate the genotoxic impact in spermatozoa. Nevertheless, some studies pointed that DNA repair machinery of the oocyte, and also of the early embryos, could have also the capacity to repair the male gametes' DNA, despite depending on the damage amount (the oocyte machinery only repair spermatozoa DNA if harmed less than 8%) (Baumgartner et al., 2007; González-Marín et al., 2012) and nature (*e.g.* Single-stranded DNA breaks and DNA adducts induced by oxidative stress are repaired but double-stranded DNA breaks may not) (García-Rodríguez et al., 2019; Kumar et al., 2017).

On the other hand, during spermiogenesis, the ability to complete apoptosis is also lost, meaning that gametes with severe DNA damage cannot be eliminated, which could lead, for instance, to unsuccessful fertilization (González-Marín et al., 2012; Lacaze et al., 2011).

As stated above, reprotoxicity was causally associated with DNA breaks on spermatozoa (Devaux et al., 2015). Moreover, DNA damage in these cells can have a severe impact on fertilization rate, embryonic development and offspring number, and, consequently, on population fitness (Baumgartner et al., 2007; González-Marín et al., 2012; Kumar et al., 2017; Lewis and Ford, 2012; Lewis and Galloway, 2009; Lonare et al., 2015). Bearing in mind the limiting physiological features of spermatozoa above mentioned and the observed genotoxic effects caused by all the tested pesticides, it can be inferred the likelihood of ecological risk to the *P. clarkii* populations, even when short exposures are considered. The possibility of a risk overestimation cannot be neglected as the above-mentioned role of the DNA repair machinery lent by the oocyte was not into play in the current study. As mentioned above single-stranded DNA breaks (SSBs) are a direct consequence of oxidative attacks on sperm DNA (González-Marín et al., 2012) and low levels of SSBs are easily repaired by the oocyte (García-Rodríguez et al., 2019). Thus, if the DNA oxidized bases present in the groups I1 (GDI_{EndoIII} and GDI_{FPG}) and Iz1 (GDI_{FPG}) become single-stranded breaks they could be repaired by the oocyte machinery.

Overall, it is possible to propose a pesticide hierarchy in terms of ecological risk as follows: penoxsulam = dimethoate > imazalil > glyphosate = pyrimethanil > imidacloprid.

It must be also kept in mind that pesticides utilization is not only based on the application of the active ingredients (Demetrio et al., 2014; Guilherme et al., 2015), but also on commercial formulations, which may be complex chemical mixtures. Since the commercial formulations were not tested herein, it was not possible to assess the eventual additive, synergistic or antagonistic effects. Furthermore, and considering the adopted experimental design, there is also a lacuna concerning the evaluation of the inherent effects of the corresponding metabolites generated by active compounds decomposition, which is also an approach ecologically relevant (Guilherme et al., 2014; Guzzella et al., 1997).

Future studies should look at the formulation of more specific pesticides, with less impact on non-target species and on the aquatic environment.

87

2.5 Conclusion

The genotoxicity evaluation of waterborne pesticides on spermatozoa of *Procambarus clarkii*, a non-target organism, was assessed after a direct exposure. In this spermiotoxic screening study, the *ex vivo* approach proved to be very effective since it allowed to point out a genotoxic impact of pesticides and to distinguished DNA damage magnitudes between different levels of exposure.

Environmental relevant concentrations of glyphosate, penoxsulam, dimethoate, pyrimethanil and imazalil showed spermiotoxic properties through a DNA damaging action. Moreover, imidacloprid revealed to oxidatively damage DNA.

Spermatozoa in crayfish during and after mating are protected against environmental stresses by the spermatophore layers. Hence, further investigation involving the exposure of spermatozoa with intact spermatophores is recommended to clarify their protective role against potential genotoxins in freshwater crayfish before fertilization.

Overall, the present study highlighted the potential ecological impact of pesticides on non-target species, such as *P. clarkii*, compromising sperm DNA integrity and, subsequently, the population success.

References

- Akcha, F., Spagnol, C., and Rouxel, J. (2012). Genotoxicity of diuron and glyphosate in oyster spermatozoa and embryos. Aquatic Toxicology, 106–107, 104–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2011.10.018.
- Andersen, T. H., Tjørnhøj, R., Wollenberger, L., Slothuus, T., and Baun, A. (2006). Acute and chronic effects of pulse exposure of *Daphnia magna* to dimethoate and pirimicarb. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 25(5), 1187–1195. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-465R1.1.
- Anderson, D., Schmid, T. E., Baumgartner, A., Cemeli-Carratala, E., Brinkworth, M. H., and Wood, J. M. (2003). Oestrogenic compounds and oxidative stress (in human sperm and lymphocytes in the comet assay). Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 544(2–3), 173–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2003.06.016.
- Anifandis, G., Katsanaki, K., Lagodonti, G., Messini, C., Simopoulou, M., Dafopoulos, K., and Daponte, A. (2018). The effect of glyphosate on human sperm motility and sperm DNA fragmentation. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 15(6), 1117. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15061117.
- Arizza, V., Di Fazio, G., Celi, M., Parrinello, N., and Vazzana, M. (2009). Cadmium, Copper and Tributyltin effects on fertilization of *Paracentrotus lividus* (Echinodermata). Italian Journal of Animal Science, 8(SUPPL 2), 839–841. https://doi.org/10.4081/ijas.2009.s2.839.
- Azqueta, A., Shaposhnikov, S., and Collins, A. R. (2009). DNA oxidation: Investigating its key role in environmental mutagenesis with the comet assay. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 674(1–2), 101– 108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2008.10.013.
- Barranger, A., Heude-Berthelin, C., Rouxel, J., Adeline, B., Benabdelmouna, A., Burgeot, T., and Akcha, F. (2016). Parental exposure to the herbicide diuron results in oxidative DNA damage to germinal cells of the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea* gigas. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology, 180, 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2015.11.002.
- Baumgartner, A., Cemeli, E., and Anderson, D. (2007). The comet assay in male reproductive toxicology. Cell Biol Toxicol, 25(1), 81–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10565-007-9041-y.
- Beirão, J., Litt, M. A., and Purchase, C. F. (2018). Chemically-dispersed crude oil and dispersant affects sperm fertilizing ability, but not sperm swimming behaviour in capelin (*Mallotus villosus*). Environmental Pollution, 241, 521–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.05.080
- Botta, F., Lavison, G., Couturier, G., Alliot, F., Moreau-Guigon, E., Fauchon, N., Guery, B., Chevreuil, M., and Blanchoud, H. (2009). Transfer of glyphosate and its degradate AMPA to surface waters through urban sewerage systems. Chemosphere, 77(1), 133–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.05.008.
- Bouilly, K., Bonnard, M., Gagnaire, B., Renault, T., and Lapègue, S. (2007). Impact of atrazine on aneuploidy in pacific oysters, *Crassostrea gigas*. Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 52(1), 58–63. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620220129.
- Capela, R., Raimundo, J., Santos, M. M., Caetano, M., Micaelo, C., Vale, C., Guimarães, L., and Reis-Henriques, M. A. (2016). The use of biomarkers as integrative tools for transitional water bodies monitoring in the Water Framework Directive context - A holistic approach in Minho river transitional waters. Science of the Total Environment, 539, 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.08.113
- Castillo, L. E., Martínez, E., Ruepert, C., Savage, C., Gilek, M., Pinnock, M., and Solis, E. (2006). Water quality and macroinvertebrate community response following pesticide applications in a banana plantation, Limon, Costa Rica. Science of the Total Environment, 367(1), 418–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.02.052.

- Cazarin, K. C. C., Corrêa, C. L., and Zambrone, F. A. D. (2004). Redução, refinamento e substituição do uso de animais em estudos toxicológicos: uma abordagem atual. Revista Brasileira de Ciências Farmacêuticas, 40(3), 289–299. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-93322004000300004.
- Collins, A. R. (2004). The comet assay for dna damage and repair. Mol Biotechnol., 26(3), 249–261. https://doi.org/10.1385/mb:26:3:249.
- Costa, R., Pereira, J. L., Santos, M. A., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2018). The role of contamination history and gender on the genotoxic responses of the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* to a penoxsulam-based herbicide. Ecotoxicology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-018-1948-y.
- Dagnac, T., García-Chao, M., Fernández-Álvarez, M., Castro-Insua, J., García-Pomar, M. I., and Llompart, M. (2012). Study of the presence of priority pesticides in surface water of river basins located in two areas of intensive dairy farming in the NW Spain (Galicia). International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry, 92(8), 995–1011. https://doi.org/10.1080/03067319.2011.603188.
- Debier, C., Pomeroy, P. P., Dupont, C., Joiris, C., Comblin, V., Le Boulengé, E., Larondelle, Y., and Thomé, J. P. (2003). Quantitative dynamics of PCB transfer from mother to pup during lactation in UK grey seals *Halichoerus grypus*. Marine Ecology Progress Series, 247, 237–248. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps247249.
- Demetrio, P. M., Bonetto, C., and Ronco, A. E. (2014). The effect of cypermethrin, chlorpyrifos, and glyphosate active ingredients and formulations on *Daphnia magna* (straus). Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 93(3), 268–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-014-1336-0.
- Devaux, A., Fiat, L., Gillet, C., and Bony, S. (2011). Reproduction impairment following paternal genotoxin exposure in brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) and Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus*). Aquatic Toxicology, 101(2), 405–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2010.11.017.
- DGAV. (2015). Guia dos Produtos Fitofarmacêuticos. Lista dos produtos com venda autorizada. 1-249.
- Díaz, S., Arceo, B., Martínez-Tabche, L., Alvarez-González, I., López, E. L., and Madrigal-Bujaidar, E. (2015). Toxicity induced by dieldrin and chlorpyrifos in the freshwater crayfish *Cambarellus montezumae* (Cambaridae). Revista de Biología Tropical, 63(1), 83–96. https://doi.org/10.15517/rbt.v63i1.13665.
- Đikić, D., Mojsović-Ćuić, A., Čupor, I., Benković, V., Horvat-Knežević, A., Lisičić, D., and Oršolić, N. (2012). Carbendazim combined with imazalil or cypermethrin potentiate DNA damage in hepatocytes of mice. Human and Experimental Toxicology, 31(5), 492–505. https://doi.org/10.1177/0960327111417910.
- Dixon, D. R. (2002). Marine invertebrate eco-genotoxicology: a methodological overview. Mutagenesis, 17(6), 495–507. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/17.6.495.
- Esposito, M. C., Boni, R., Cuccaro, A., Tosti, E., and Gallo, A. (2020). Sperm motility impairment in free spawning invertebrates under near-Future level of ocean acidification: uncovering the mechanism. Frontiers in Marine Science, 6, 794. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00794.
- FAO, and Tubiello, F. N. (2019). Pesticides Use. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/rp/metadata. Accessed: 9 October 2020.
- Gallo, A., Boni, R., and Tosti, E. (2018). Sperm viability assessment in marine invertebrates by fluorescent staining and spectrofluorimetry: A promising tool for assessing marine pollution impact. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 147(July 2017), 407–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.07.069.
- García-Rodríguez, A., Gosálvez, J., Agarwal, A., Roy, R., and Johnston, S. (2019). DNA damage and repair in human reproductive cells. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 20(1), 31. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20010031.

- González-Marín, C., Gosálvez, J., and Roy, R. (2012). Types, causes, detection and repair of DNA fragmentation in animal and human sperm cells. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 13(11), 14026–14052. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms131114026.
- Guilherme, S., Gaivão, I., Santos, M. A., and Pacheco, M. (2010). European eel (Anguilla anguilla) genotoxic and pro-oxidant responses following short-term exposure to Roundup[®] - A glyphosate-based herbicide. Mutagenesis, 25(5), 523– 530. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/geq038.
- Guilherme, S., Gaivão, I., Santos, M. A., and Pacheco, M. (2012). DNA damage in fish (*Anguilla anguilla*) exposed to a glyphosate-based herbicide Elucidation of organ-specificity and the role of oxidative stress. Mutation Research Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 743(1–2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2011.10.017.
- Guilherme, S., Santos, M. A., Gaivão, I., and Pacheco, M. (2014). DNA and chromosomal damage induced in fish (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) by aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA)-the major environmental breakdown product of glyphosate. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 21(14), 8730–8739. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-2803-1.
- Guilherme, S., Santos, M. A., Gaivão, I., and Pacheco, M. (2015). Genotoxicity evaluation of the herbicide Garlon[®] and its active ingredient (triclopyr) in fish (*Anguilla anguilla* L.) using the comet assay. Environmental Toxicology, 30(9), 1073– 1081. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.21980.
- Guzzella, L., Gronda, A., and Colombo, L. (1997). Acute toxicity of organophosphorus insecticides to marine invertebrates. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 59, 313–320. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001289900481.
- Hassanin, A., and El Asely, A. (2015). Alternation of pituitary-testicularaxis in the Nile Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) exposed to dimethoate: an immunohistochemical and hormonal study. Journal of Advanced Veterinary Research, 5(1), 1–7.
- Hofstetter, T. B., von Gunten, U., Egli, T., Schwarzenbach, R. P., and Wehrli, B. (2010). Global water pollution and human health. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 35, 109–136. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-100809-125342.
- INE. Intituto Nacional de Estatística (2018). Estatísticas do Ambiente 2017.
- Jallouli, M., Dhouib, I. E. B., Dhouib, H., Gharbi, N., and El Fazaa, S. (2015). Effects of dimethoate in male mice reproductive parameters. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 73(3), 853–858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yrtph.2015.10.010.
- Jha, A. N. (2008). Ecotoxicological applications and significance of the comet assay. Mutagenesis, 23(3), 207–221. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/gen014.
- Johnson, J. D., and Pettis, J. S. (2014). A survey of imidacloprid levels in water sources potentially frequented by honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) in the eastern USA. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 225(11), 2127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-014-2127-2.
- Kumar, S. B., Dada, R., and Gupta, N. P. (2017). Environmental toxicants-induced male reproductive toxicity: role of oxidative stress. In S. C. Sikka and W. J. G. Hellstrom (Eds.), Bioenvironmental issues affecting men's reproductive and sexual health (pp. 305–322). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801299-4.00019-0.
- Lacaze, E., Geffard, O., Bony, S., and Devaux, A. (2010). Genotoxicity assessment in the amphipod *Gammarus fossarum* by use of the alkaline comet assay. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 700(1–2), 32–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2010.04.025.

- Lacaze, E., Geffard, O., Goyet, D., Bony, S., and Devaux, A. (2011). Linking genotoxic responses in *Gammarus fossarum* germ cells with reproduction impairment, using the comet assay. Environmental Research, 111(5), 626–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2011.03.012.
- Lahnsteiner, F., Berger, B., Grubinger, F., and Weismann, T. (2005). The effect of 4-nonylphenol on semen quality, viability of gametes, fertilization success, and embryo and larvae survival in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquatic Toxicology, 71(4), 297–306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2004.11.007.
- Lebailly, P., Vigreux, C., Lechevrel, C., Ledemeney, D., Godard, T., Sichel, F., LeTalaër, J. Y., Henry-Amar, M., and Gauduchon, P. (1998). DNA damage in mononuclear leukocytes of farmers measured using the alkaline comet assay: Modifications of DNA damage levels after a one-day field spraying period with selected pesticides. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention, 7(10), 929–940.
- Lee, R. F., and Steinert, S. (2003). Use of the single cell gel electrophoresis/comet assay for detecting DNA damage in aquatic (marine and freshwater) animals. Mutation Research Reviews in Mutation Research, 544(1), 43–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1383-5742(03)00017-6.
- Len, J. S., Koh, W. S. D., and Tan, S. X. (2019). The roles of reactive oxygen species and antioxidants in cryopreservation. Bioscience Reports, 39(8), BSR20191601. https://doi.org/10.1042/bsr20191601.
- Lewis, C., and Ford, A. T. (2012). Infertility in male aquatic invertebrates: A review. Aquatic Toxicology, 120–121, 78–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.05.002.
- Lewis, C., and Galloway, T. (2009). Reproductive consequences of paternal genotoxin exposure in marine invertebrates. Environmental Science and Technology, 43(3), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1021/es802215d.
- Lonare, M., Kumar, M., Raut, S., More, A., Doltade, S., Badgujar, P., and Telang, A. (2016). Evaluation of ameliorative effect of curcumin on imidacloprid-induced male reproductive toxicity in wistar rats. Environmental Toxicology, 31(10), 1250–1263. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.22132.
- Lopes, F. M., Junior, A. S. V., Corcini, C. D., Da Silva, A. C., Tavares, G., and Da Rosa, C. E. (2014). Effect of glyphosate on the sperm quality of zebrafish *Danio rerio*. Aquatic Toxicology, 155, 322–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2014.07.006.
- Luño, V., Gil, L., Olaciregui, M., Jerez, R. A., de Blas, I., and Hozbor, F. (2015). Antioxidant effect of lemon balm (*Melissa officinalis*) and mate tea (*llex paraguensys*) on quality, lipid peroxidation and DNA oxidation of cryopreserved boar epididymal spermatozoa. Andrologia, 47(9), 1004–1011. https://doi.org/10.1111/and.12370
- Mai, H., Morin, B., Pardon, P., Gonzalez, P., Budzinski, H., and Cachot, J. Ô. (2013). Environmental concentrations of irgarol, diuron and S-metolachlor induce deleterious effects on gametes and embryos of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*. Marine Environmental Research, 89, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2013.04.003.
- Mañas, F., Peralta, L., Raviolo, J., Ovando, H. G., Weyers, A., Ugnia, L., Cid, M. G., Larripa, I., and Gorla, N. (2009). Genotoxicity of glyphosate assessed by the comet assay and cytogenetic tests. Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology, 28(1), 37–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2009.02.001.
- McLay, C., and van den Brink, A. (2016). Crayfish growth and reproduction. In M. Longshaw and P. Stebbing (Eds.), Biology and Ecology of Crayfish (pp. 62–116). Taylor and Francis Group. https://doi.org/10.1201/b20073-4.
- Murussi, C. R., Thorstenberg, M. L., Leitemperger, J., Costa, M., Clasen, B., Santi, A., Menezes, C., Engers, V. K., and Loro, V. L. (2014). Toxic effects of penoxsulam herbicide in two fish species reared in Southern Brazil. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 92(1), 81–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-013-1137-x.

- Niksirat, H., and Kouba, A. (2016). Subcellular localization of calcium deposits in the noble crayfish Astacus astacus spermatophore: Implications for post-mating spermatophore hardening and spermatozoon maturation. Journal of Morphology. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.20509.
- Niksirat, H., Kouba, A., and Kozák, P. (2014). Post-mating morphological changes in the spermatozoon and spermatophore wall of the crayfish *Astacus leptodactylus*: Insight into a non-motile spermatozoon. Animal Reproduction Science. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anireprosci.2014.07.017.
- Niksirat, H., Kouba, A., Pšenička, M., Kuklina, I., and Kozák, P. (2013a). Ultrastructure of spermatozoa from three genera of crayfish *Orconectes, Procambarus* and *Astacus* (Decapoda: Astacoidea): New findings and comparisons. Zoologischer Anzeiger, 252(2), 226–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcz.2012.06.002.
- Niksirat, H., Kouba, A., Rodina, M., and Kozák, P. (2013b). Comparative ultrastructure of the spermatozoa of three crayfish species: Austropotamobius torrentium, Pacifastacus leniusculus, and Astacus astacus (Decapoda: Astacidae). Journal of Morphology, 274(7), 750–758. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.20132.
- Oliviero, M., Schiavo, S., Dumontet, S., and Manzo, S. (2019). DNA damages and offspring quality in sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* sperms exposed to ZnO nanoparticles. Science of the Total Environment, 651(2019), 756–765. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.09.243.
- Omran, N. E., and Salama, W. M. (2013). The endocrine disruptor effect of the herbicides atrazine and glyphosate on *Biomphalaria alexandrina* snails. Toxicology and Industrial Health, 32(4), 656–665. https://doi.org/10.1177/0748233713506959.
- Oskoei, P. M. B. (2018). Unravelling genotoxic effects of pesticides: *in vitro* and *ex vivo* assays as screening tools. University of Aveiro, Portugal.
- Patetsini, E., Dimitriadis, V. K., and Kaloyianni, M. (2013). Biomarkers in marine mussels, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, exposed to environmentally relevant levels of the pesticides, chlorpyrifos and penoxsulam. Aquatic Toxicology, 126, 338–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.09.009.
- Sánchez, J. A. A., Varela, A. S., Corcini, C. D., da Silva, J. C., Primel, E. G., Caldas, S., Klein, R. D., and Martins, C. D. M. G. (2017). Effects of Roundup formulations on biochemical biomarkers and male sperm quality of the livebearing *Jenynsia multidentata*. Chemosphere, 177, 200–210. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.02.147.
- Santos, R., Palos-Ladeiro, M., Besnard, A., Porcher, J. M., Bony, S., Sanchez, W., and Devaux, A. (2013). Relationship between DNA damage in sperm after *ex vivo* exposure and abnormal embryo development in the progeny of the threespined stickleback. Reproductive Toxicology, 36, 6–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2012.11.004.
- Schlenk, D., Huggett, D. B., Allgood, J., Bennett, E., Rimoldi, J., Beeler, A. B., Block, D., Holder, A. W., Hovinga, R., and Bedient,
 P. (2001). Toxicity of fipronil and its degradation products to *Procambarus sp.*: Field and laboratory studies.
 Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 41(3), 325–332.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s002440010255.
- Seeland, A., Albrand, J., Oehlmann, J., and Müller, R. (2013). Life stage-specific effects of the fungicide pyrimethanil and temperature on the snail *Physella acuta* (Draparnaud, 1805) disclose the pitfalls for the aquatic risk assessment under global climate change. Environmental Pollution, 174, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2012.10.020.
- Shaposhnikov, S., Azqueta, A., Henriksson, S., Meier, S., Gaivão, I., Huskisson, N. H., Smart, A., Brunborg, G., Nilsson, M., and Collins, A. R. (2010). Twelve-gel slide format optimised for comet assay and fluorescent *in situ* hybridisation. Toxicology Letters, 195(1), 31–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2010.02.017.
- Strober, W. (2001). Trypan blue exclusion test of cell viability. Current Protocols in Immunology, Appendix 3(3B). https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.ima03bs21.

- Subramoniam, T. (1993). Spermatophores and sperm transfer in marine crustaceans. Advances in Marine Biology, 29(C), 129–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2881(08)60131-5.
- Van Scoy, A., Pennell, A., and Zhang, X. (2016). Environmental fate and toxicology of dimethoate. In Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology (Vol. 237). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-23573-8_3.
- Verdisson, S., Couderchet, M., and Vernet, G. (2001). Effects of procymidone, fludioxonil and pyrimethanil on two non-target aquatic plants. Chemosphere, 44(3), 467–474. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00468-9.
- Webster, T. M. U., Laing, L. V., Florance, H., and Santos, E. M. (2014). Effects of glyphosate and its formulation, Roundup, on reproduction in zebrafish (*Danio rerio*). Environmental Science and Technology, 48(2), 1271–1279. https://doi.org/10.1021/es404258h.
- Xia, X., Xia, X., Huo, W., Dong, H., Zhang, L., and Chang, Z. (2016). Toxic effects of imidacloprid on adult loach (*Misgurnus anguillicaudatus*). Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology, 45, 132–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2016.05.030.
- Yang, G., Kille, P., and Ford, A. T. (2008). Infertility in a marine crustacean: Have we been ignoring pollution impacts on male invertebrates? Aquatic Toxicology, 88(1), 81–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2008.03.008.
- Zang, Y., Zhong, Y., Luo, Y., and Kong, Z. M. (2000). Genotoxicity of two novel pesticides for the earthworm, *Eisenia fetida*. Environmental Pollution, 108(2), 271–278. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-7491(99)00191-8.
- Zar, J. (2010). Multiple Comparisons. In Biostatistical analysis (5th ed., pp. 226–248). Prentice Hall International Inc.

Improving knowledge on genotoxicity dynamics in somatic and germ cells of crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*)

Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 63:6, 2022

3. Improving knowledge on genotoxicity dynamics in somatic and germ cells of crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*)

Keywords

Freshwater crustacea; Ecogenotoxicity; Long-term effects; Post-exposure period; Herbicide.

Abstract

The harmful effects of pesticides can be extended beyond the exposure time scale. Appraisals combining exposure and long-term post-exposure periods appear as an unavoidable approach in pesticide risk assessment, thus allowing a better understanding of the real impact of agrochemicals in non-target organisms. This study aimed to evaluate the progression of genetic damage in somatic and germ tissues of the crayfish Procambarus clarkii, also seeking for gender-specificities, following exposure (7 days) to penoxsulam (23 μ g L⁻¹) and a post-exposure (70 days) period. The same approach was applied to the model genotoxicant ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; 5 mg L⁻¹) as a complementary mean to improve knowledge on genotoxicity dynamics (induction vs. recovery). Penoxsulam induced DNA damage in all tested tissues, disclosing tissue- and gender-specificities, where females showed to be more vulnerable than males in the gills, while males demonstrated higher susceptibility in what concerns internal organs, *i.e.*, hepatopancreas and gonad. Crayfish were unable to recover from the DNA damage induced by EMS in gills and hepatopancreas (both genders) as well as in spermatozoa. The genotoxicity in the hepatopancreas was only perceptible in the post-exposure period. Oxidative DNA lesions were identified in hepatopancreas and spermatozoa of EMS-exposed crayfish. The spermatozoa proved to be the most vulnerable cell type. It became clear that the characterization of the genotoxic hazard of a given agent must integrate a complete set of information, addressing different types of DNA damage,

tissue- and gender-specificities, as well as a long-term appraisal of temporal progression of damage.

3.1 Introduction

Pesticide application is an important procedure in intensive agriculture, as an attempt to respond to global food demand. According to the report data of regulation No 1107/2009 (European Union; EU), there are almost 500 active substances (pesticides) approved in Europe, with a substantial number belonging to the class of herbicides (Amat et al., 2013). Though recognizing a trade-off between environmental impact and productivity benefits, a critical and elucidative analysis of the pesticide regulation was carried out by Milner and Boyd (2017), establishing a parallel with pharmaceuticals due to the similarities in terms of society dependence on their use, risk of inadequate/unproportionate applications, and the need to sustain high standards of human and environmental safety. Milner and Boyd (2017) concluded that pharmaceuticals and pesticides are differently regulated after approval, with the latter being monitored far less effectively. Surprisingly and worryingly, it stands out that postapproval or long-term monitoring of the effects is not clearly imposed to the pesticide authorization holders by the EU and United States regulations. Bearing this in mind, the role of environmental research emerges as a key element while the combination of exposure and long-term post-exposure appraisals, using non-target organisms, becomes a critical approach for pesticide risk assessment, allowing for a better understanding of the real impact of these agrochemicals on the impacted wild populations.

Due to their chemical and physical properties, herbicides can reach adjacent environmental compartments through surface runoff, leaching and erosion (Khan and Law, 2005). Consequently, their dispersion from land could lead to contamination of aquatic habitats. Thus, the toxicity of herbicides on aquatic organisms is a major concern all around the world (Lushchak et al., 2018). Several studies in aquatic invertebrates have demonstrated that herbicides can have noxious effects on endocrine (Lagadic et al. 2007; Omran and Salama 2013) and nervous systems (Matozzo et al., 2018), also effecting antioxidant and ROS levels (Cochón et al., 2007), as well as DNA integrity (Costa et al., 2018; Patetsini et al., 2013). In fact, some herbicides have a pro-oxidant potential, which can induce oxidative DNA damage (Barranger et al., 2016; Marques et al., 2014).

The DNA damaging actions can lead to DNA adducts, single and/or double strand breaks, and in some cases base lesions can cause depurination or depyrimidination (Phillips and Arlt, 2009). In addition, the fate of lesions will depend upon repair and replacement of damaged cells (El-Bibany et al., 2014). Since DNA plays a pivotal role on organism's development, survival and reproduction, its integrity and stability are critical factors to constantly consider in the assessment of environmental hazard of herbicides.

Penoxsulam, a triazolopyrimidine herbicide, originally developed for weed control in rice cultivation, is also registered for use on turf, trees, vines and to control aquatic vegetation (Billington et al., 2010). It was classified as a reduced-risk herbicide by the US-EPA, showing no evidence of genotoxic potential measured by mutational and cytogenetics methodologies, such as Ames and micronucleus tests (Billington et al., 2010). However, another tool used to evaluate DNA integrity - the alkaline comet assay - demonstrated that exposures to environmentally relevant concentrations of penoxsulam generate DNA strand breaks in bivalves (alone, as active ingredient) (Patetsini et al. 2013) and crayfish (as a penoxsulam-based commercial formulation) (Costa et al., 2018).

Freshwater crustaceans have been suggested to be suitable sentinel species for genotoxicological studies due to their response to toxicants (Donato et al., 2016). Moreover, Stara and co-workers (2016) highlighted that crayfish are an interesting alternative to aquatic vertebrates, since they provide comparable tissues for analysis and similar responsivity to environmental pollution. The red swamp crayfish is currently

considered to be a major freshwater pest and is present in at least 15 European countries (Souty-Grosset, 2016). This species, which can inhabit highly impacted areas [contaminated, for instance, with herbicides (Anastácio, 1993; Costa et al., 2018)], became an appropriate non-model organism for ecogenotoxicological research. Gill's crayfish are directly exposed to waterborne herbicides, playing thus an important toxicokinetic role (Grosell et al., 2002; Henry et al., 2012; Peterson, 2015), while hepatopancreas plays similar functions to liver and pancreas of aquatic vertebrates. This tissue/organ, thus, represents the main structure of crayfish for metabolism and detoxification, leading to the elimination of xenobiotics that may enter the body. Regarding germ cells, the DNA integrity of spermatozoa appears as a crucial factor to the reproductive fitness and, ultimately, to the success of populations, but it remains poorly explored within the context of crayfish response to aquatic stressors, including pesticides.

Ecogenotoxicological studies concerning the effects of herbicides on non-target organisms are scarce. Only a few have gone beyond studies of the immediate effects of exposure to investigate long-lasting consequences, including following exposure cessation (*e.g.* Guilherme et al., 2014; Marques et al., 2014). To the authors' knowledge, there is no information regarding the progression of DNA damage in invertebrates during post-exposure periods. Nevertheless, in the fish *Anguilla anguilla*, following the exposure to environmentally realistic concentrations of a glyphosate-based herbicide, liver cells were able to recover from the genetic damage within one day (Marques et al., 2014), while in blood cells, the DNA integrity only returned to basal levels after 14 days, though oxidative DNA damage was still detectable (Guilherme et al., 2014). These outcomes showed that different tissues present distinct response patterns to the same genotoxicant. Therefore, within the context of pesticide genotoxicity evaluation, the integration of tissue-specific vulnerabilities must be considered.

Considering the gaps in scientific knowledge of penoxsulam toxicity, the focus of the present work is on progression of the genetic damage in different tissues (somatic and germ cells) of the crayfish *P. clarkii*, upon a waterborne exposure and a subsequent post-exposure period. The aims of this study are to (i) assess tissue-specific DNA damage (including oxidative DNA damage) on somatic cells (gills and hepatopancreas) and male gametes; (ii) identify gender specificity; (iii) evaluate the progression of the DNA damage in crayfish upon a long-term post-exposure period; (iv) increase knowledge concerning the actual magnitude of risk posed by this herbicide to crayfish populations. For these purposes, DNA damage was assessed through the alkaline comet assay with the incorporation of the DNA lesion-specific bacterial repair enzyme endonuclease III (EndoIII) (Collins, 2004). The alkaline comet assay allows the detection of unspecific DNA damage (such as alkali-labile sites, single and double strand breaks), as well as the detection of specific DNA lesions, such as oxidized bases, through the addition of the EndoIII. Furthermore, the model genotoxicant ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS), already tested in invertebrates (Carmona et al., 2011; Kumar et al., 2014) including crayfish (Costa et al., 2018), was used as a complementary approach to improve knowledge on genotoxicity dynamics (induction *vs.* recovery).

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Chemicals

Penoxsulam (CAS: 219714-96-2) and ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; CAS: 62-50o) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Company (Spain). The DNA lesionspecific repair enzyme endonuclease III (EndoIII) was purchase from Professor Andrew Collins (University of Oslo, Norway). All other chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Company (Spain).

3.2.2 Animal maintenance

Adult specimens of *Procambarus clarkii* (commonly known as red swamp crayfish of Louisiana), from both genders, with an average length of 11.00 ± 0.89 cm, were collected at Rio Minho (Vila Nova de Cerveira, NW Portugal), a low impacted area concerning the presence of pesticides, as well as inorganic and organic contaminants (Castro-Valencia et al., 2019; Rocha et al., 2021; Vera et al., 2021). In the laboratory, crayfish were kept in aquaria (60 L), separated by gender, during two weeks for acclimation, with the following water conditions: constant temperature ($19 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C), freshwater (salinity o), with aeration (dissolved oxygen $8.1 \pm 0.5 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$), UV disinfection, weekly control of nitrites (0.06 ± 0.03 mg L⁻¹), nitrates ($25 \pm 6.0 \text{ mg L}^{-1}$) and ammonia (<0.1 mg L⁻¹) and pH (7.3 ± 0.2). During acclimation period, animals were daily fed *ad libitum* with the crustacean feed Caridina Vita, produced by Sparos[®] (Olhão, Portugal).

3.2.3 Experimental assay

To respond to the defined objectives, the experimental design encompassed two periods: exposure and post-exposure, with the duration of 7 and 70 days, respectively. An equal number of males and females were randomly separated into three groups: (i) exposed to $_{23} \mu g L^{-1}$ of penoxsulam (Px group), (ii) exposed to $_5 mg L^{-1}$ of the model genotoxicant EMS (EMS group), and (iii) maintained in uncontaminated water (NC; negative control group). In the exposure period, animals were kept in individual aquaria (1 L) and experimental medium was renewed daily (100%). At the end of the exposure period, 7 animals from each condition and gender were sampled. Thereafter, to perform the post-exposure evaluation, 10 crayfish from each condition and gender were transferred to uncontaminated water and sampled after 70 days. The post-exposure period was intended to offer the animals in captivity conditions as close as possible to those experienced in the wild, mimicking a recovery in the field. For this reason, once the animals had reached sexual maturity, the temperature was set to $_{23}^{\circ}C$ and animals

were grouped in couples to allow reproduction. Individualized couples were kept in 6o-L tanks (3-4 couples per tank). Every two days, the water conditions were checked to maintain the medium in similar conditions to the acclimation period, see section 2.2, and the water was completely renewed weekly. Following spawning (around 35 to 45 days after couples' formation), each crayfish was isolated in 1 L aquaria.

At each sampling time, crayfish were sacrificed, and somatic tissues (gills and hepatopancreas, in both genders) and vas deferent (in males) were excised. Briefly, after the carapace removal, gills and hepatopancreas were collected in 2.0 mL of chilled PBS in a petri dish (separately). Both somatic tissues were carefully cut and triturated to create a cell suspension. Finally, for sperm extraction, each excised vas deferent was placed into 2.0 mL of cooled PBS. Then, the distal section was gently pressed to release the mature sperm into the PBS medium, making a cell suspension. A volume of 1.5 mL of spermatozoa cell suspension was centrifuged at 200 g, for 5 min, at 4°C. Then, the supernatant was removed, and the pellet was resuspended in 2.0 mL of glycerol (10%) to carry out the cryopreservation step (-20°C), for 48 h, to facilitate the cell lysis. This procedure is required due to the presence of a spermatozoa extracellular capsule. At the end of this step, samples were rapidly thawed at 37°C, the cryoprotectant solution was replaced by PBS, and the comet assay procedure was initiated.

In the exposure period, there was no mortality in the negative control group. Groups exposed to penoxsulam and EMS had no mortality in males, although there was 10 and 20% mortality in females, respectively. In the post-exposure period, there was no mortality in females from the negative control group, although there was 10% mortality in males of the negative control group and in groups pre-exposed to penoxsulam and EMS (both genders).

3.2.4 DNA damage assessment

The alkaline version of the comet assay was performed based on the method presented by Collins (2004) with slight modifications according to Lacaze et al. (2010) and Costa et al. (2018). Briefly, 20 μ L of cell suspension for gills and hepatopancreas, or 60 μ L of spermatozoa suspension, were resuspended in 70 μ L low melting point agarose (1%; dissolved in PBS). Eight drops with 6 μ L of cell suspension were placed on a precoated glass slide with 1% of normal melting-point agarose (dissolved in distilled water), as two rows of 4 gels (4 groups of two replicates). Gels were left for 5 min at 4°C to let agarose polymerize and then immersed in a lysis solution (2.5 M NaCl, 0.1 M EDTA, 10 mM Tris, 1% Triton X-100, pH 10) overnight. To improve spermatozoa lysis step, slides were washed for 5 min in cold PBS to remove lysis solution and then incubated with proteinase K (40 μ g mL⁻¹ dissolved in ultrapure water) at 37°C, for 60 min.

After lysis, two sets of slides were prepared and one of these was incubated with the endonuclease III (EndoIII), to convert oxidized pyrimidines in DNA single-strand breaks (Azqueta et al., 2009), and the other set was incubated only with endonuclease buffer (o.1 M KCl, o.5 mM EDTA, 40 mM HEPES, o.2 mg mL⁻¹ bovine serum albumin, pH 8). Slides were washed in endonuclease buffer 3 times, 5 min each, at 4°C. Thirty μ L of each endonuclease (diluted in endonuclease buffer) were placed in each gel. Gels were then immediately incubated in the dark at 37°C for 30 min. Gels without enzyme were incubated only with endonuclease buffer. After incubation, slides were gently placed in a horizontal electrophoresis tank, filled with fresh electrophoresis solution (o.3 M NaOH, 1 mM EDTA, pH 13), for alkaline treatment. Due to cell specificities, gills DNA and hepatopancreas DNA were then allowed to unwind for 20 min, and spermatozoa DNA for 40 min. Electrophoresis was performed under 1.04 V cm⁻¹ for 15 min (for gills samples), o.83 V cm⁻¹ for 20 min (for hepatopancreas samples), and o.6 V cm⁻¹ for 24 min (for spermatozoa samples). Lysis, DNA unwinding, and electrophoresis were carried out in the dark at 4°C. Once electrophoresis was finished, slides were washed in PBS (10 min) followed by distilled water (10 min), and then gels were fixed for 15 min in absolute ethanol.

Slides were stained with ethidium bromide (20 g L^{-1}). Fifty nucleoids per gel were scored, using a Leica DMLS fluorescence microscope ($400\times$ magnification). The DNA damage was quantified by visual scoring, where nucleoids were grouped into five discrete comet intensity and length classes (ranging from class o, collecting nucleoids with no tail, to class 4 for nucleoids with almost all DNA in the tail; Collins 2004). A genetic damage indicator (GDI), was calculated as a major endpoint for each assay as follows:

$$GDI = \sum \% \text{ nucleoids class } i \times i$$

where *i* is the number of each defined class (ranging within o-4) and GDI values were inherently expressed as arbitrary units, in a scale of o-400 per 100 scored nucleoids. The difference between GDI_{EndoIII} (genetic damage indicator of slides treated with EndoIII) and GDI was calculated to indicate additional DNA breaks (corresponding to NSS_{EndoIII}), which occurs in net enzyme-sensitive sites solely (Azqueta et al., 2009).

3.2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with the software Statistica 7.0. Firstly, data were tested for normality (Shapiro-Wilk's W test) and homogeneity (Brown-Forsyth HOV test) to meet the required statistical demands. Data were transformed (log_{10} or sqrt) when it was not possible to meet these requirements. A one-way ANOVA was performed in somatic and germ cells data, followed by the post hoc Dunnett test. A t-test was used to compare the results between genders (male *vs.* female) in somatic cells (*i.e.,* gills and hepatopancreas). Differences between groups were considered as significant when p < 0.05 (Zar, 2010).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Genotoxic assessment on crayfish gills

Non-specific DNA damage

In the exposure period, a significant increase of GDI values was observed in *Procambarus clarkii* exposed to Px for both males and females compared to unexposed controls (1.63- and 1.60-fold, respectively; p < 0.001) (Fig. 19A). Females exposed to Px had GDI values that were significantly increased when compared to males (1.22-fold; p = 0.024). The same pattern was observed in the negative control groups (NC), where females had a 1.24-fold higher GDI value than males (p = 0.016). Males exposed to EMS had their GDI values significantly higher (1.56-fold) than the control group (p < 0.001). Likewise, females exposed to EMS presented significantly higher DNA breaks when compared to NC (1.46-fold; p = 0.003).

For the post-exposure, a prolonged effect of Px was only observed in females, which displayed a significant increase in GDI in relation to the unexposed group (1.6-fold; p = 0.017) (Fig. 19A); moreover, when both genders of crayfish previously exposed to Px were compared, females presented a significantly higher level of damage (1.83-fold; p < 0.001). Concerning groups exposed to EMS, both genders kept GDI values significantly higher than the corresponding NC group (2.00- and 2.14-fold increase, respectively for males and females; both gender with p < 0.001).

Oxidative DNA damage

After the seven-day exposure, $GDI_{EndoIII}$ data (Fig. 19B) showed no significant differences between the Px-exposed crayfish (both genders) and the NC group. Likewise, groups exposed to the model genotoxicant EMS did not differ statistically from the NC group. On the other hand, NSS_{EndoIII} data (Fig. 19C) showed that males and females exposed to penoxsulam presented lower values compared to the respective NC groups

(3.17- and 3.38-fold, respectively; both gender with p < 0.001). EMS-exposed groups presented NSS_{EndoIII} results similar to those described for Px-exposed groups.

Regarding the post-exposure period, no significant differences between the Px and NC groups (both genders) were detected as $GDI_{EndoIII}$ and $NSS_{EndoIII}$, although Px females showed a higher $GDI_{EndoIII}$ value compared to males (1.85-fold) (Fig. 19B). In contrast, EMS groups displayed a significantly elevated $GDI_{EndoIII}$ value in comparison to the respective NC groups [(1.71-fold (p = 0.002) for males and 1.84-fold for females (p < 0.001)]. No differences between the treated groups and the respective negative control were found for $NSS_{EndoIII}$ results.




3.3.2 Genotoxic assessment on crayfish hepatopancreas

Non-specific DNA damage

No significant differences were observed between the Px-exposed groups and their respective negative control (NC). Crayfish exposed to the model genotoxic and also did not show any difference with the corresponding NC (Fig. 20A).

After 70 days in uncontaminated medium, male crayfish exposed to penoxsulam changed their response pattern, showing higher GDI values when compared to NC (2.14-fold; p < 0.001) (Fig. 20A). Despite the absence of a significant alteration in relation to the respective control, females of Px group presented significantly lower DNA damage when compared to Px males (1.37-fold; p = 0.03) (Fig. 2A). The EMS groups (both genders) displayed GDI values significantly higher than their respective NC groups (males 2.08-fold, p < 0.001; females 2.01-fold, p = 0.002) (Fig. 20A).





Oxidative DNA damage

After 7 days of exposure, there were no significant changes between the Pxexposed groups and their negative controls (NC). Similarly, crayfish exposed to EMS showed no significant differences to the control groups (Fig. 20B). No significance differences were observed in the NSS_{EndoIII} parameter between Px-exposed crayfish and their respective NC group. In contrast, both genders of the EMS group showed NSS_{EndoIII} values that were significantly higher than the control groups (males: 5.59-fold, p = 0.01; females: 73.84-fold, p = 0.013) (Fig. 20C).

Concerning the post-exposure period, no significant differences were observed in the GDI_{EndoIII} parameter between the pre-exposed groups (Px and EMS) and the negative control group. Concerning the NSS_{EndoIII}, despite the lack of statistically significant differences, it is possible to observe a tendency to lower levels on Px groups of both genders when compared to their respective control groups (males: 3.67-fold; females: 6.73-fold) (Fig. 2oC). Females from EMS group presented a significant decrease in the NSS_{EndoIII} parameter in relation to those from NC group (p = 0.015).

3.3.3 Genotoxic assessment on crayfish spermatozoa

Non-specific DNA damage

Spermatozoa of crayfish exposed for 7 days to penoxsulam showed a significant increase in DNA damage measured as GDI in relation to NC group (2.19-fold; p < 0.001) (Fig. 3A). In the same direction, the EMS group presented a higher GDI value comparing to the NC group (1.70-fold; p < 0.001) (Fig. 21A).

After the post-exposure, the Px group had a GDI level that was significantly higher than spermatozoa of the control group (1.87-fold; p < 0.001) (Fig. 3A). Similarly, EMS group revealed a GDI value above that of the NC group (2.25-fold; p < 0.001) (Fig. 21A).



Fig. 21. Genotoxic assessment on crayfish spermatozoa. Mean values of DNA damage measured by the comet assay on male gametes of *P. clarkii*'s exposed to 23 μg L⁻¹ of Px, 5 mg L⁻¹ of ethyl metasulfosonate (genotoxic model; GM), or to uncontaminated water (negative control; NC). Crayfish were exposed for 7 days (grey background) and submitted to a period under xenobiotic-free water for 70 days (white background). (A) Genetic damage indicator of non-specific DNA damage (GDI); (B) global and partial DNA damage (GDI_{Endoll}), *i.e.*, GDI and additional strand breaks corresponding to net EndollI-sensitive sites (NSS_{Endoll}; striped area); (C) NSS_{Endoll}. Bars represent the standard error of the mean. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are: (*) vs. respective negative control group (NC).</p>

Oxidative DNA damage

GDI_{EndoIII} results demonstrated that spermatozoa from both Px-exposed and EMS-exposed crayfish presented significantly higher) DNA damage when compared to NC group (1.19- and 2.42-fold, respectively; both with p < 0.001) (Fig. 21B). Regarding the NSS_{EndoIII} data, no significant difference was observed between Px-exposed and NC groups (Fig. 21C). On the other hand, spermatozoa from the EMS group presented a significant NSS_{EndoIII} elevation in relation to the NC group (3.97-fold; p < 0.04).

With regard to the post-exposure condition, no significant differences were observed in $GDI_{EndoIII}$ results between Px and NC groups (Fig. 21B), while EMS group presented a significantly higher value comparing NC group (2.04-fold; p = 0.002) (Fig. 21B). The NSS_{EndoIII} data did not show any significant difference (Fig. 21C).

3.4 Discussion

The assessment of DNA damage on crayfish cells/tissues, *viz.* gills, hepatopancreas and spermatozoa, following the removal of the genotoxicant source, appears to be a crucial step in improving the understanding of the dynamics of herbicide-induced toxicity. Therefore, and considering a long-term evaluation, the genotoxic assessment on post-exposure (*i.e.*, in organisms that stopped the contact with the pesticide) may help to improve risk assessment, allowing for more effective regulation of penoxsulam use. In fact, when the agrochemicals are used on a large scale [which can be extended up to 10 years (European Commission, 2009)], it is necessary to improve data collection, detection, assessment and monitoring so as to help with prevention of adverse effects such as on non-target plants and animals. What is needed is long-term monitoring, termed pesticidovigilance by Milner and Boyd (2017). The present study contributes to knowledge on the long-lasting effects of Px, having shown that its genotoxic potential in a non-target organism occurs 70 days after the exposure cessation.

However, to fully understand the magnitude of the risk posed by penoxsulam to aquatic populations, further studies regarding the absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion of the parental compound, and as well as its metabolites, are needed. A detailed discussion of tissue responses is presented below.

3.4.1 The tissue- and gender-specific progression of genetic damage

Response profiles of somatic cells/tissues

Crayfish gills provide a selective interface between the external environment and the internal milieu, raising the possibility that there may be a permanent threat of accumulating toxic substances from the aqueous phase (Henry et al., 2012). Some ecotoxicological studies with crustacean gills' epithelium showed that specific amino acids form complexes with waterborne contaminants, promoting its influx across the gills (Henry et al., 2012; Vogt, 2019).

The observation that *P. clarkii*' gills (of both genders) were vulnerable to the genotoxic action of penoxsulam, could mean that the herbicide compromised, at least partially, vital functions such as breathing, osmoregulation, and acid-base balance. The gill data showed that female crayfish were more susceptible to the genotoxic effects of Px compared to males. The differential genotoxic extent on males and females has been studied in some invertebrate species (Almeida et al., 2011, 2013; Gagné et al., 2008; Weber et al., 2013). Gagné et al. (2008) observed that males of the mussel *Mytilus edulis* (from areas contaminated with organotins and/or aromatic hydrocarbons) tended to exhibit higher DNA damage in gills than females. In a similar study, this gender-related response pattern was observed in *M. galloprovincialis*, where males' hemocytes presented higher DNA damage (Almeida et al., 2011). Nevertheless, in the clam *Ruditapes decussatus*, females' hemocytes were more sensitive to environmental genotoxicants than males (Almeida et al., 2013), in line with the current gill results for Px. A different perspective was expressed by Weber and co-workers (2013), who stated that, in the freshwater

amphipod *Quadrivisio aff. Lutzi*, highly variable responses in DNA damage were observed to be mostly related to organism physiological condition rather than to gender. In agreement, no gender-specific responses were observed in the gills of the EMS-exposed crayfish. Overall, current and previous studies demonstrate the difficulty of predicting a gender-specific patterns of DNA damage, which clearly depend on the species. Moreover, the type of genotoxicant appears as a factor that superimpose to gender as determinant of vulnerability to genetic insults.

Alkylating agents (e.q., EMS, the model genotoxicant used in this study) are mutagenic and genotoxic (Drabløs et al., 2004), but they are not primarily DNA strandbreaking agents, although alkylation of phosphodiester bonds may result in some strand breakage (Štambuk et al., 2008). Lesions revealed by the comet assay upon treatment with direct alkylating agents are therefore likely to be apurinic/apyrimidinic sites (AP sites) (Štambuk et al., 2008). Moreover, the DNA base most affected by EMS-like compounds is guanine (Drabløs et al., 2004). Bearing this in mind, and also taking into account the fact that EndoIII removes the altered (oxidized) pyrimidine bases (leaving AP sites that will be converted into breaks) (Azqueta and Collins, 2014), it would be expected that the current GDI_{EndoIII} values for EMS-exposed gills would be significantly elevated. A possible explanation for this not having occurred, and which would also justify the decrease in the NSS_{EndoIII} values, would be an activation of the crayfish DNA repair enzymes, as previously reported on other invertebrate species (Accomando et al., 1989 apud Štambuk et al., 2008). For instance, the repair of DNA alkylation damage [reported in gill and digestive gland cells of *M. galloprovincialis* after *in vivo* exposure to dimethyl sulphate (an alkylating agent)] may have been enhanced by induction of DNA polymerase β (an enzyme directly related to DNA repair) (Accomando et al., 1989 *apud* Štambuk et al., 2008).

In this study no evidence was shown that penoxsulam is an oxidative agent for gill DNA. In the face of an eventual oxidizing potential of Px to crayfish gills, an elevation

of GDI_{EndoIII} level is expected, which didn't occur. To the authors' knowledge, there are no reports concerning the penoxsulam potential to induce oxidative DNA damage on crustaceans. However, it was reported that it can induce oxidative stress in fish (Cattaneo et al., 2011; Murussi et al., 2014) and mussels, by increasing ROS levels (Patetsini et al., 2013).

The DNA repair mechanisms (*e.g.*, base excision repair or nucleotide excision repair) function to correct DNA damage arising spontaneously or after exposure to environmental genotoxicants (Hoeijmakers, 2001; Hook and Lee, 2004). Therefore, after a prolonged post-exposure period, unless those molecular pathways have been affected, it would be expected that there would be a decrease on the magnitude of DNA lesions. This is exactly what was observed in gills of male crayfish following 70 days of recovery in Px-free medium, in contrast to females, reinforcing the higher vulnerability of this gender to the tested herbicide. This gender-specific profile can reflect a compromised DNA repair capacity in females, but also differences in other processes, such as damage tolerance, cell cycle checkpoints and cell death pathways.

The cellular turnover of gills' epithelial cells, occurring in a short-term scale (hours) (Goss et al., 1995), may result in the elimination of cells with DNA lesions, also contributing to the emergence of recovery signals perceptible in males. This factor is present in crayfish of both genders and exposed to both agents tested, and thus, it could be hypothesized that it would affect recovery equally in the different contexts. However, it cannot be overlooked that Px and EMS can also modulate (increase or decrease) the cellular turnover rate.

Although it is not surprising that organisms, particularly males, are affected by the exposure to the model genotoxicant (EMS), it should be noted that there was persistence of genetic damage (assessed by the comet) after a long period of time past. In future investigations, it will be critical to assess the DNA repair ability in similar exposure/post-exposure scenarios.

The hepatopancreas cells, of both crayfish genders, appear to be less susceptible to DNA damage than gill cells, if one considers the absence of non-specific DNA breaks (GDI data) for the period of exposure both to penoxsulam and EMS. Likewise, when specific DNA damage (*i.e.*, damage measured as GDI_{EndoIII}) was considered in the same period, the hepatopancreas DNA showed no pro-oxidant vulnerability following exposure to penoxsulam. However, in regard to the EMS exposure (for both genders), the elevation of NSS_{EndoIII} levels provides divergent evidence. Contrary to what was observed in gill cells during the exposure period (where data suggested an efficient action of the antioxidant system as a whole or, specifically, the repair system in relation to the oxidant injury to DNA), in the hepatopancreas cells the oxidative damage emerged, suggesting that the exposure to EMS didn't trigger, in a first stage, antioxidant defenses (upstream and/or downstream to the DNA injury) in an extent proportional to the challenge. It is therefore important to integrate a complete set of information concerning, for instance, the type of damage and tissue-specificities, prior to forming firm conclusions.

Penoxsulam was shown to have a late genotoxic effect (as non-specific DNA damage) on male hepatopancreas. A similar profile was detected for EMS, for both genders. Since hepatopancreas is the main site for detoxification of xenobiotics (cytochrome P450, glutathione peroxidase, and glutathione S-transferase may play a significant role) (Vogt, 2019). The increased non-specific DNA damage currently detected in the post-exposure period could be indicative of a time-related accumulation of penoxsulam and EMS active metabolites with DNA damaging potential, eventually coupled with an exhaustion of defense mechanisms.

Kogan et al. (2011) performed a 3-year study on the dynamics and principal dissipation mechanisms of penoxsulam in water. It was stated that, in the first 6 hours after application, 45–55% of the initially applied amount was dissipated and the DT_{50} (dissipation time, which is the time required for a concentration decline to half of the

Chapter III

initial value) values in field water varied from 1.28 to 1.96 days (Kogan et al., 2011). In mammalian tissues, according to the US-EPA report, most (>90%) of the penoxsulam administered was excreted within 36-48 hours (US-EPA, 2004). To the authors' knowledge, there is no information regarding the toxicokinetics of penoxsulam in fish or aquatic invertebrates. In any case, the current research shows that 70 days after the end of a direct uptake of the tested agents from the external milieu, hepatopancreas have their DNA damaged due to past exposure to penoxsulam (in males), as well as to EMS (males and females). Furthermore, the present data highlighted the importance of studying prolonged post-exposure periods to thoroughly evaluate the real hazard posed by pesticides, detecting late effects, and reducing the risk of false negative results.

The post-exposure results also revealed a gender-related profile, as hepatopancreas showed to be more affected by the penoxsulam in males than in females, contrary to what was observed in the gill cells. These contrasting profiles show that the identification of gender-specificity in this context must consider the tissue/organ. It has been suggested that fish bioaccumulation is rather due to gender-specific contaminant elimination (through gametes emission) rather than to differential accumulation (Mounier et al., 2020). Bodiguel et al. (2009) used a mechanistic model to study the dynamics of PCB bioaccumulation in the European hake (Merluccius merluccius) and observed that female concentrations decreased suddenly during spawning, due to the loss of PCBs (polychlorinated biphenyls) contained in the eggs. Also, the female fish Acipenser sinensis showed a propensity to bioaccumulate more PFAs (perfluorinated acids) in the oocytes and in liver, although the former presented 2.5-fold more concentrations than liver (Peng et al., 2010). So, it is plausible that the hepatopancreas' high DNA integrity in the female exposed to penoxsulam may also rely on an ability to transfer contaminants to oocytes and subsequent elimination during spawning. This strategy achieved by females can allow an easier recovery from contaminant exposure and, thus, a protective action in regard to the hepatopancreas. On the other hand, it can

result in gender-specific reproductive and early development disruptions, and, consequently, be translated into effects at population level.

Overall, the integrated analysis of exposure and post-exposure data for hepatopancreas disclosed antiparallel patterns for temporal variation in regard to nonspecific and oxidative DNA damage. This interesting divergence, illustrative of the complexity of DNA damaging/protective processes, is expressed in the late action of penoxsulam and EMS in terms of non-oxidative damage and an early and recoverable effect in terms of oxidative damage.

Response profiles of spermatozoa

The effects of Px on P. clarkii spermatozoa was already demonstrated in an ex vivo study of our research group, where a concentration (2.3 µg L⁻¹), which was 10-time lower than the one currently tested, was found to be genotoxic (Marçal et al., 2020). Despite involving a different experimental approach, the results of this previous study (ex vivo exposure) support those obtained here (in vivo). This reinforces the agreement between our previous (Marçal et al., 2020) and current studies, and it should be emphasized that there is a lack of evidence on the penoxsulam potential to oxidatively damage DNA on crayfish spermatozoa. This observation contrasts with what was presently demonstrated for EMS. The elevated concentration of unsaturated fatty acids in the spermatozoa (Subramoniam, 1993) makes them highly susceptible to reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Luño et al., 2015). Adding to this, the lack of efficient DNA repair machinery was described in human spermatozoa (González-Marín et al., 2012), but also in invertebrates (Dixon et al., 2002), and in crustaceans (Erraud et al., 2019). Therefore, in the presence of DNA integrity challenge, namely those with a pro-oxidant potential, considerable levels of oxidative DNA damage would be expected (as can be seen in spermatozoa of crayfish exposed to EMS). Thus, due to the lack of information concerning the penoxsulam oxidative action on the spermatozoon DNA, the present Chapter III

results suggest that penoxsulam does not exert an oxidative action on the crayfish male gametes.

No signs of recovery were perceptible on DNA integrity of spermatozoa after a period of 70 days without contamination, both for crayfish previously exposed to penoxsulam and EMS. As mentioned above, unlike somatic cells and female gametes, spermatozoa lack the ability to repair their DNA (Mai et al., 2013), being thus this result somewhat expected. Nevertheless, this outcome also raises a question towards the possibility of an early effect of penoxsulam on spermatogonia, the primordial germ cells, rather than on the mature spermatozoa sampled. To the authors' knowledge, the life span of the crayfish mature spermatozoa is still unclear, either inside the vas deferens or inside the spermatophore (when it has not yet been released). In Cambaridae, it is known that the female can carry the spermatophore up to 28 weeks until they are oviposited in the spring or early summer (Cumberlidge et al., 2015), but, to the authors' knowledge, there is no information regarding how long the Cambaridae males can retain the spermatophore until release. So, without the information concerning the crayfish spermatozoa lifespan, it is difficult to discern whether these gametes showed DNA damage due to exposure 70 days previously or if damage corresponds to recently formed cells under the effect of a persistent tissue burden of Px and EMS (in the parental form or, most likely, as metabolites). Furthermore, once the DNA damage on sperm cells could compromise not only the reproductive success (in the exposed generation), but also the viability of embryo and subsequent stages in the succeeding generation(s). As such, the impact of the penoxsulam in the crayfish wild populations could be associated with an increased risk of a transgenerational impacts.

3.5 Conclusions

Px was shown to be genotoxic to the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. The exposure to this herbicide induced non-specific DNA damage in the somatic tissues and spermatozoa, but no clear indications of oxidative injury were found.

In an attempt to identify the most vulnerable gender, it was pointed out that the pattern deeply depends on the tissue. Female crayfish were more vulnerable to penoxsulam in the gills, where the DNA damage was not reversible following the post-exposure period. The male crayfish demonstrated to be more vulnerable in what concerns internal organs (*i.e.*, hepatopancreas and gonad), which showed an inability to recover from the DNA damage induced by penoxsulam. Crayfish were unable to recover from the DNA damage in gills and hepatopancreas (of both genders), and in spermatozoa induced by the EMS.

It should be noted that genotoxicity in the hepatopancreas was only perceptible in the post-exposure period. Hepatopancreas and spermatozoa recover from the oxidative DNA damage induced by EMS exposure. For hepatopancreas, it may be that there is an improvement in antioxidant shielding, while processes able to prevent nonoxidative damage were increasingly weakened over time.

The spermatozoa proved to be the cell most vulnerable, which, from an ecological perspective, represents a worrying finding due to the prospective threat to future generations.

Finally, it became clear that a conclusion on the genotoxic hazard of a given agent must consider a complete set of information, including different types of DNA damage, as well as tissue- (somatic and germ) and gender-specificity, and a long-term assessment of DNA damage.

References

- Accomando, R., Viarengo, A., Zonchedu, A., and Orunesu, M. (1989). Biochemical characterization of the DNA polymerase activity present in isolated nuclei from mussel tissues: a possible system for the evaluation of the rate of DNA repair. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology. B, Comparative Biochemistry, 93(4), 747–751. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-0491(89)90040-0.
- Almeida, C., Pereira, C. G., Gomes, T., Cardoso, C., Bebianno, M. J., and Cravo, A. (2013). Genotoxicity in two bivalve species from a coastal lagoon in the south of Portugal. Marine Environmental Research. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2013.04.008.
- Almeida, C., Pereira, C., Gomes, T., Bebianno, M. J., and Cravo, A. (2011). DNA damage as a biomarker of genotoxic contamination in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* from the south coast of Portugal. Journal of Environmental Monitoring, 13(9), 2559–2567. https://doi.org/10.1039/c1em10190k.
- Amat, L., Debusschere, T., Dijk, V., Djordjevic, B., Faust, M., Ito, K., Hausemer, P., Joas, A., Maréchal, A., and Traon, D. (2013).
 Ad-hoc study to support the initial establishment of the list of candidates for substitution as required in Article 80(7) of Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009.
- Anastácio, P. M. S. G. (1993). Ciclo biológico e produção do lagostim vermelho da Louisiana na região do Baixo Mondego. University of Coimbra. Portugal.
- Azqueta, A., and Collins, A. R. (2014). The comet assay: high throughput use of FPG (pp. 199–217). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1068-7_12.
- Azqueta, A., Shaposhnikov, S., and Collins, A. R. (2009). DNA oxidation: Investigating its key role in environmental mutagenesis with the comet assay. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 674(1–2), 101– 108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2008.10.013.
- Barranger, A., Heude-Berthelin, C., Rouxel, J., Adeline, B., Benabdelmouna, A., Burgeot, T., and Akcha, F. (2016). Parental exposure to the herbicide diuron results in oxidative DNA damage to germinal cells of the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea* gigas. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology, 180, 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2015.11.002.
- Billington, R., Gehen, S. C., and Hanley, T. R. (2010). Toxicology of Triazolopyrimidine Herbicides. In Hayes' Handbook of Pesticide Toxicology (pp. 1865–1885). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374367-1.00087-2.
- Bodiguel, X., Maury, O., Mellon-Duval, C., Roupsard, F., Le Guellec, A.-M., and Loizeau, V. (2009). A dynamic and mechanistic model of PCB bioaccumulation in the European hake (*Merluccius merluccius*). Journal of Sea Research, 62(3), 124– 134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2009.02.006.
- Carmona, E. R., Guecheva, T. N., Creus, A., and Marcos, R. (2011). Proposal of an *in vivo* comet assay using haemocytes of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 52(2), 165–169. https://doi.org/10.1002/EM.20604.
- Castro-Valencia, A., Arce-Ruiz, R. M., and Saiz-Hernández, J. A. (2019, July). Status of the peninsular spanish basins according to the quality of their bodies of water. 5th International Congress on Water, Waste and Energy Management (WWEM-19).
- Cattaneo, R., Clasen, B., Lucia Loro, V., de Menezes, C. C., Moraes, B., Santi, A., Toni, C., de Avila, L. A., and Zanella, R. (2011). Toxicological responses of *Cyprinus carpio* exposed to the herbicide penoxsulam in rice field conditions. Journal of Applied Toxicology, 31(7), 626–632. https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.1606.

- Cochón, A. C., Della Penna, A. B., Kristoff, G., Piol, M. N., San Martín de Viale, L. C., and Verrengia Guerrero, N. R. (2007). Differential effects of paraquat on oxidative stress parameters and polyamine levels in two freshwater invertebrates. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2006.11.010.
- Collins, A. R. (2004). The comet assay for DNA damage and repair. Mol Biotechnol., 26(3), 249–261. https://doi.org/10.1385/mb:26:3:249.
- Costa, R., Pereira, J. L., Santos, M. A., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2018). The role of contamination history and gender on the genotoxic responses of the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* to a penoxsulam-based herbicide. Ecotoxicology, 27(7), 908–918. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-018-1948-y.
- Di Donato, G., De Matthaeis, E., Ronci, L., and Setini, A. (2016). Genotoxicity biomarkers in the amphipod *Gammarus elvirae* exposed *in vivo* to mercury and lead, and basal levels of DNA damage in two cell types. Chemistry and Ecology, 32(9), 843–857. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757540.2016.1201078.
- Dixon, D. R., Pruski, A. M., Dixon, L. R. J., and Jha, A. N. (2002). Marine invertebrate eco-genotoxicology: a methodological overview. Mutagenesis, 17(6), 495–507. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/17.6.495.
- Drabløs, F., Feyzi, E., Aas, P. A., Vaagbø, C. B., Kavli, B., Bratlie, M. S., Peña-Diaz, J., Otterlei, M., Slupphaug, G., and Krokan, H. E. (2004). Alkylation damage in DNA and RNA—repair mechanisms and medical significance. DNA Repair, 3(11), 1389–1407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2004.05.004.
- El-Bibany, A. H., Bodnar, A. G., and Reinardy, H. C. (2014). Comparative DNA damage and repair in echinoderm coelomocytes exposed to genotoxicants. PLOS ONE, 9(9), e107815. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0107815.
- Emmanouil, C., Sheehan, T. M. T., and Chipman, J. K. (2007). Macromolecule oxidation and DNA repair in mussel (*Mytilus edulis* L.) gill following exposure to Cd and Cr(VI). Aquatic Toxicology, 82(1), 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2007.01.009.
- Erraud, A., Bonnard, M., Geffard, O., Coulaud, R., Poret, A., Duflot, A., Forget-Leray, J., Geffard, A., and Xuereb, B. (2019). Signification of DNA integrity in sperm of *Palaemon serratus* (Pennant 1777): Kinetic responses and reproduction impairment. Marine Environmental Research, 144, 130–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2019.01.005.
- European Commission. (2009). REGULATION (EC) no 1107/2009 of the European parliament and of the council of 21 October 2009. In Official Journal of the European Union (Vol. 24, Issue 8).
- Gagné, F., Burgeot, T., Hellou, J., St-Jean, S., Farcy, É., and Blaise, C. (2008). Spatial variations in biomarkers of *Mytilus edulis* mussels at four polluted regions spanning the Northern Hemisphere. Environmental Research, 107(2), 201–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2007.09.013.
- González-Marín, C., Gosálvez, J., and Roy, R. (2012). Types, causes, detection and repair of DNA fragmentation in animal and human sperm cells. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 13(11), 14026–14052. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms131114026.
- Goss, G., Perry, S., and Laurent, P. (1995). Ultrastructural and morphometric studies on ion and acid-base transport processes in freshwater fish. In C. M. Wood and T. J. Shuttleworth (Eds.), Cellular and Molecular Approaches to Fish Ionic Regulation (pp. 257–284). Academic Press.
- Grosell, M., Brauner, C. J., Kelly, S. P., McGeer, J. C., Bianchini, A., and Wood, C. M. (2002). Physiological responses to acute silver exposure in the freshwater crayfish (*Cambarus diogenes diogenes*) A model invertebrate? Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620210220.
- Guilherme, S., Santos, M. A., Gaivão, I., and Pacheco, M. (2014). Are DNA-damaging effects induced by herbicide formulations (Roundup[®] and Garlon[®]) in fish transient and reversible upon cessation of exposure? Aquatic Toxicology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2014.06.007.

- Henry, R. P., Lucu, Č., Onken, H., and Weihrauch, D. (2012). Multiple functions of the crustacean gill: Osmotic/ionic regulation, acid-base balance, ammonia excretion, and bioaccumulation of toxic metals. Frontiers in Physiology. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00431.
- Hoeijmakers, J. H. (2001). Genome maintenance mechanisms for preventing cancer. Nature, 411(6835), 366–374. https://doi.org/10.1038/35077232.
- Hook, S. E., and Lee, R. F. (2004). Genotoxicant induced DNA damage and repair in early and late developmental stages of the grass shrimp *Paleomonetes pugio* embryo as measured by the comet assay. Aquatic Toxicology, 66(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2003.06.002.
- Khan, M., and Law, F. (2005). Adverse effects of pesticides and related chemicals on enzyme and hormone systems of fish, amphibians and reptiles: a review. Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences.
- Kogan, M., Araya, M., and Alister, C. (2011). Water and sediment dynamics of penoxsulam and molinate in paddy fields: field and lysimeter studies. Pest Management Science, 68, 399–403. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.2276
- Kumar, M. K. P., Shyama, S. K., Sonaye, B. S., Naik, U. R., Kadam, S. B., Bipin, P. D., D'costa, A., and Chaubey, R. C. (2014). Evaluation of γ-radiation-induced DNA damage in two species of bivalves and their relative sensitivity using comet assay. Aquatic Toxicology, 150, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2014.02.007.
- Lacaze, E., Geffard, O., Bony, S., and Devaux, A. (2010). Genotoxicity assessment in the amphipod *Gammarus fossarum* by use of the alkaline comet assay. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 700(1–2), 32–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2010.04.025.
- Lagadic, L., Coutellec, M. A., and Caquet, T. (2007). Endocrine disruption in aquatic pulmonate molluscs: Few evidences, many challenges. In Ecotoxicology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-006-0114-0.
- Luño, V., Gil, L., Olaciregui, M., Jerez, R. A., de Blas, I., and Hozbor, F. (2015). Antioxidant effect of lemon balm (*Melissa officinalis*) and mate tea (*llex paraguensys*) on quality, lipid peroxidation and DNA oxidation of cryopreserved boar epididymal spermatozoa. Andrologia, 47(9), 1004–1011. https://doi.org/10.1111/and.12370.
- Lushchak, V. I., Matviishyn, T. M., Husak, V. V., Storey, J. M., and Storey, K. B. (2018). Pesticide toxicity: A mechanistic approach. In EXCLI Journal. https://doi.org/10.17179/excli2018-1710.
- Mai, H., Morin, B., Pardon, P., Gonzalez, P., Budzinski, H., and Cachot, J. Ô. (2013). Environmental concentrations of irgarol, diuron and S-metolachlor induce deleterious effects on gametes and embryos of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*. Marine Environmental Research, 89, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2013.04.003.
- Marçal, R., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2020). DNA of crayfish spermatozoa as a target of waterborne pesticides An *ex vivo* approach as a tool to short-term spermiotoxicity screening. Journal of Hazardous Materials. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123300.
- Marques, A., Guilherme, S., Gaivão, I., Santos, M. A., and Pacheco, M. (2014). Progression of DNA damage induced by a glyphosate-based herbicide in fish (*Anguilla anguilla*) upon exposure and post-exposure periods - Insights into the mechanisms of genotoxicity and DNA repair. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology, 166, 126–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2014.07.009.
- Matozzo, V., Fabrello, J., Masiero, L., Ferraccioli, F., Finos, L., Pastore, P., Di Gangi, I. M., and Bogialli, S. (2018). Ecotoxicological risk assessment for the herbicide glyphosate to non-target aquatic species: A case study with the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Environmental Pollution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.10.100.
- Milner, A. M., and Boyd, I. L. (2017). Toward pesticidovigilance. Can lessons from pharmaceutical monitoring help to improve pesticide regulation? Science, 357(6357), 1232–1234. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan2683.

- Mounier, F., Loizeau, V., Pecquerie, L., Drouineau, H., Labadie, P., Budzinski, H., and Lobry, J. (2020). Dietary bioaccumulation of persistent organic pollutants in the common sole *Solea solea* in the context of global change. Part 2: Sensitivity of juvenile growth and contamination to toxicokinetic parameters uncertainty and environmental conditions variabil. Ecological Modelling, 431, 109196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2020.109196.
- Murussi, C. R., Thorstenberg, M. L., Leitemperger, J., Costa, M., Clasen, B., Santi, A., Menezes, C., Engers, V. K., and Loro, V. L. (2014). Toxic effects of penoxsulam herbicide in two fish species reared in Southern Brazil. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 92(1), 81–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-013-1137-x.
- Omran, N. E., and Salama, W. M. (2013). The endocrine disruptor effect of the herbicides atrazine and glyphosate on *Biomphalaria alexandrina* snails. Toxicology and Industrial Health, 32(4), 656–665. https://doi.org/10.1177/0748233713506959.
- Patetsini, E., Dimitriadis, V. K., and Kaloyianni, M. (2013). Biomarkers in marine mussels, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, exposed to environmentally relevant levels of the pesticides, chlorpyrifos and penoxsulam. Aquatic Toxicology, 126, 338–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.09.009.
- Peng, H., Wei, Q., Wan, Y., Giesy, K. P., Li, L., and Hu, J. (2010). Tissue distribution and maternal transfer of poly-and perfluorinated compounds in Chinese sturgeon (*Acipenser sinensis*): implications for reproductive risk. Environmental Science and Technology, 44, 1868–1874. https://doi.org/10.1021/es903248d.
- Peterson, T. S. (2015). Overview of mucosal structure and function in teleost fishes. In Mucosal Health in Aquaculture. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-417186-2.00003-0.
- Phillips, D. H., and Arlt, V. M. (2009). Genotoxicity: damage to DNA and its consequences. In EXS. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-7643-8336-7 4.
- Rocha, A. C. S., Teixeira, C., Almeida, C. M. R., Basto, M. C. P., Reis-Henriques, M. A., Guimarães, L., and Ferreira, M. (2021). Assessing contamination from maritime trade and transportation on Iberian waters: Impact on *Platichthys flesus*. Environmental and Sustainability Indicators, 9, 100098. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indic.2020.100098.
- Souty-Grosset, C. (2016). Population genetics of crayfish: endangered and invasive species. In M. Longshaw and P. Stebbing (Eds.), Biology and Ecology of Crayfish (pp. 31–61). Taylor and Francis Group. https://doi.org/10.1201/b20073-3.
- Štambuk, A., Pavlica, M., Malović, L., and Klobučar, G. I. V. (2008). Persistence of DNA damage in the freshwater mussel Unio pictorum upon exposure to ethyl methanesulphonate and hydrogen peroxide. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 49(3), 217–225. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.20376.
- Stara, A., Kristan, J., Zuskova, E., and Velisek, J. (2013). Effect of chronic exposure to prometryne on oxidative stress and antioxidant response in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pestbp.2012.11.002.
- Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., and Velisek, J. (2016). Effects of terbuthylazine-desethyl, a terbuthylazine degradation product, on red swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*). Science of the Total Environment. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.113.
- Subramoniam, T. (1993). Spermatophores and sperm transfer in marine crustaceans. Advances in Marine Biology, 29(C), 129–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0065-2881(08)60131-5.
- US-EPA. (2004). United States environmental protection and toxic substances agency (7501c) penoxsulam fact sheet.
- Vera, J., Fernandes, V. C., Correia-Sá, L., Mansilha, C., Delerue-Matos, C., and Domingues, V. F. (2021). Occurrence of selected known or suspected endocrine-disrupting pesticides in Portuguese surface waters using spme-gc-it/ms. Separations, 8(6), 81. https://doi.org/10.3390/separations8060081/s1.

- Vogt, G. (2019). Functional cytology of the hepatopancreas of decapod crustaceans. In Journal of Morphology. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.21040.
- Weber, L., Carvalho, L., Sá, N., Silva, V., Beraldini, N., Souza, V., and Conceição, M. (2013). Genotoxic effects of the watersoluble fraction of heavy oil in the brackish/freshwater amphipod *Quadrivisio aff. lutzi* (Gammaridea) as assessed using the comet assay. Ecotoxicology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-013-1055-z.
- Zar, J. (2010). Multiple Comparisons. In Biostatistical analysis (5th ed., pp. 226–248). Prentice Hall International Inc.

Chapter IV

Intergenerational patterns of DNA methylation in *Procambarus clarkii* following exposure to genotoxicants – a conjugation in past simple or past continuous?

Toxics, 9(11):271, 2021

4. Intergenerational patterns of DNA methylation in *Procambarus clarkii* following exposure to genotoxicants – a conjugation in past simple or past continuous?

Keywords

Crustacean; epigenetics; methylome; intergenerational; genotoxic; pesticides; penoxsulam; ecoepigenotoxicology.

Abstract

Epigenome is susceptible to modulation by environmental pressures, namely through alterations in global DNA methylation, impacting the organism condition and, ultimately, reverberating on the phenotype of the subsequent generations. Hence, an intergenerational study was conducted, aiming to clarify the influence of genotoxicants on global DNA methylation of the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. Two subsequent generations were exposed to the herbicide penoxsulam (Px; 23 μ g L⁻¹) and to the genotoxicant model ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; 5 mg L⁻¹). Px didn't induce changes in DNA methylation of adult crayfish (F₀). However, the hypomethylation occurring in unexposed F₁ juveniles demonstrated that the history of exposure per se can modulate epigenome. In F₁ descendants of the Px-exposed group, males' methylome (hypermethylated) was more affected than in females. EMS induced hypomethylation in adult females (F₀), also showing gender-specificity. In addition, hypomethylation was also observed in the unexposed F₁ crayfish, pointing out an intergenerational epigenetic effect. The modulatory role of past exposure to penoxsulam or to EMS showed also to depend on the crayfish developmental stage. Overall, this research showed that indirect

experiences (events occurring in the predecessor generation) can have an impact on the epigenetic dynamics even greater than direct experiences (present events).

4.1 Introduction

Ecotoxicological research has been mostly centered on temporally restricted assessments at individual and sub-individual levels, which can represent a limitation in terms of representativeness, keeping in view the requirement to predict the actual ecological impact of contamination. In this context, the implementation of inter and transgenerational studies can represent a valuable advance towards the elucidation of processes able to produce deleterious effects at higher organizational levels (e.g. population), thereby increasing the ecological relevance. This approach has been settled mainly through reproductive (*e.q.* developmental abnormalities, reproductive success) (Sun et al., 2014) and growth/survival endpoints (Meyer and Di Giulio, 2003). More recently and following the conceptualization of epigenetic inheritance (Skinner, 2008), the use of epigenetic markers emerged as a novel and promising strategy, offering suitable information on the diagnosis and prediction of ecotoxicological impacts. This is substantiated by the assumption that epigenetic changes can be triggered by environmental factors, such as exposure to contaminants, modulating gene expression, which may have repercussions at organism- and population-level (Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2011). This embodies an environmental epigenetic perspective, allowing critical progresses concerning the knowledge on resistance and adaptation as well as disease and variability processes (Head et al., 2012).

DNA methylation was the first epigenetic marker described (Compere and Palmiter, 1981; Hotchkiss, 1948) and is still the most studied nowadays in the field of environmental toxicology (Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2014), among a set of parameters also including histone modifications, chromatin remodeling and non-coding RNA

expression (miRNA) (Luzhna et al., 2013). Methylation is the only epigenetic process that directly targets the DNA, where a methyl group replaces the hydrogen atom in the cytosine base, creating thus a new covalent bond (Luzhna et al., 2013), whose effects depend on the genome location where it takes place (Brevik et al., 2018). DNA methylation is involved in many cellular regulation processes, including chromatin condensation, chromosome stability, X-chromosome inactivation, genomic imprinting, and gene transcription (Collotta et al., 2013), playing a crucial role in determining cell normal development, proliferation, and genome stability (Luzhna et al., 2013).

DNA methylation is susceptible to environmental pressures, leading to alterations in gene expression (Roberts and Gavery, 2012), being passible to be translated into the whole organism condition and, ultimately, if this epigenetic mark resists to erasure waves during embryogenesis (Stenz et al., 2018), could have repercussions on the phenotype of the subsequent generations (Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2014). Studies addressing the induction of changes in the global DNA methylation by environmental toxicants, encompassing different taxa, were revised by Vandegehuchte and Janssen (2011). For instance, the exposure to Zn induced hypermethylation in the fish *Carassius auratus* (Zhou et al., 2001) and hypomethylation in the crustacean *Daphnia magna* (Vandegehuchte et al., 2009a).

Another challenging topic in this context is the identification of the concomitant occurrence of events affecting the epigenome and DNA integrity. Sargsyan et al. (2019) reported that, in the presence of metals that induce genotoxicity, the lizard *Darevskia armeniaca* also displayed DNA hypomethylation. Moreover, it has been hypothesized that some pesticides, despite not increasing cancer risk directly via a genotoxic process, may operate through epigenetic mechanisms (Collotta et al., 2013).

Most of the studies regarding the modulation of DNA methylation by environmental contaminants was carried out in vertebrates (Anway et al., 2005; Head, 2014; Nilsen et al., 2016; Pilsner et al., 2010; Yauk et al., 2008), and only a few addressed

invertebrate species (Gavery and Roberts, 2010; Vandegehuchte et al., 2010; Vogt et al., 2015). Though DNA methylation appears to be associated with gene regulation and expression in both vertebrates and invertebrates (Gavery and Roberts, 2017), their patterns may differ between those animal groups. In the latter, for instance, the genome can have longer sections of methylated DNA interspersed by unmethylated DNA (Head, 2014). In particular, the methylated cytosines tend to be part of the gene bodies, while non-coding regions are less methylated (Gavery and Roberts, 2017; Head, 2014).

While some environmentally-induced epigenetic changes are perishable, DNA methylation may be inherited mitotically along with the genetic code from cell to cell [thereby through cell lineage development, persisting during organism's lifetime (Gavery and Roberts, 2017)], but also meiotically from parent to offspring (intergenerationally) and then to grand-offspring (transgenerationally) (Collotta et al., 2013; Faulk and Dolinoy, 2011; Head et al., 2012; Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2014). Thus, the convergence of evolutionary developmental biology, environmental toxicology and epigenetics is particularly important at the earliest stages of development when epigenetic modifications are more vulnerable to perturbation resulting in lifelong and possibly inter/transgenerational effects (Faulk and Dolinoy, 2011). One of the first studies on epigenotoxicity of environmental contaminants reported a reduced spermatogenic capacity associated with an abnormal DNA methylation pattern in sperm of rat descendants from breeders exposed to the fungicide vinclozolin (Nilsen et al., 2016).

Inherited epigenetic memory can thus determine the responses to a present environmental scenario, either corresponding to a repeated exposure (in terms of agent and duration, relative to the precedent generation) or to a new context resulting from the exposure to another agent or to uncontaminated media (possible to occur, for instance, if the habitat was restored or the animal moved to a contamination-free local).

So, applying an epigenotoxicity approach, the present study addressed the methylation patterns in the muscle of *Procambarus clarkii*, intra- and

intergenerationally, under present and past scenarios of exposure to the genotoxicants penoxsulam [a new post-emergence herbicide widely used on dry-seeded and water-seeded rice crops in order to control broadleaf weeds, aquatic plants, and certain grasses, approved in the US since 2004 (US-EPA, 2004) and in the EU since 2010 (EU, 2010b); its genotoxic potential for aquatic species has already been demonstrated (Murussi et al., 2014; Patetsini et al., 2013) including to the *P. clarkii* (Costa et al., 2018; Marçal et al., 2020)] and ethyl methanesulfonate [EMS, an alkylating agent known for its genotoxic and mutagenic potential on fungi, plants, insects and human cells (Amini, 2014; Sega, 1984)]. The choice of these epigenetic challengers relied on the hypothesis that events affecting DNA integrity may concomitantly affect the epigenome.

The aims of the present work were: (i) to study the influence of penoxsulam and EMS on DNA methylation of *P. clarkii*, also seeking for gender-related patterns; to pursue an intergenerational approach, evaluating the epigenetic memory in (ii) unexposed crayfish (juveniles and adults) representing the off-spring (F_1) of a genotoxic-exposed generation (F_0), and in (iii) juvenile crayfish (F_1) subjected to an exposure corresponding to the same and to a different genotoxicant relative to the stressful scenario experienced by the predecessors (F_0); (iv) to clarify whether the dynamics of epigenetic changes are determined by direct and indirect (events occurring in the predecessor generation) experiences, thus contributing to the consolidation of an epigenotoxic perspective as a critical element in the ecotoxicology field and risk assessment approaches.

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Chemicals

Penoxsulam (Px; CAS No 219714-96-2) and ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; CAS No 62-50-0) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Company (USA). The NZY tissue gDNA isolation kit (NZYtech) was obtained from NZYtech (Portugal). The

MethylflashTM global DNA methylation (5-mC) ELISA Easy Kit (colorimetric) (Epigentek Group Inc.; USA) was obtained from bioNova cientifica s.l. (Spain).

4.2.2 Animal maintenance

In order to obtain the initial lot of animals (F_0), adult crayfish specimens (*Procambarus clarkii*), with an average length of 11.22 ± 0.91 cm, were collected at Minho River (Vila Nova de Cerveira, NW Portugal), a low impacted area concerning the presence of pesticides (Dagnac et al., 2012) as well as other inorganic and organic contaminants (Capela et al., 2016). In the laboratory, crayfish were kept in individual aquaria, during two weeks for acclimation before starting sub-trial 1, with the following water conditions: constant temperature ($20 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C), freshwater (dechlorinated tap water; salinity o) with aeration (dissolved oxygen 8.1 ± 0.5 mg L⁻¹), daily UV disinfection, weekly control of nitrites (0.2 ± 0.05 mg L⁻¹), nitrates (25 ± 6.0 mg L⁻¹), ammonia (< 0.1 mg L⁻¹) and pH (7.5 ± 0.2). Animals were daily fed ad libitum with crustacean feed, Caridina Vita, produced by Sparos^{*} (Olhão, Portugal).

4.2.3 Experimental set-up

Fig. 22 exhibits the schematic representation of the experimental set-up of the intergenerational trial. In sub-trial 1 and in sub-trial 2.2, each crayfish was individually placed in 1L aquaria to be exposed to a genotoxicant (penoxsulam or EMS), for 7 days. A control group was kept in uncontaminated water. During the exposure period, animals were fed *ad libitum* in the first 6 days of exposure and fasted the day before sampling. Crayfish of sub-trial 2.1 were maintained in the same conditions as described for acclimation period (please see section 2.2).

The selection of the Px concentration (23 μ g L⁻¹) to test relied on its environmental relevance (Murussi et al., 2014), while the EMS concentration (5 mg L⁻¹)

was selected according to its use as a positive control on genotoxic assays in fish (Cavas, 2011) and crayfish (Costa et al., 2018).

At the end of each sub-trial, every crayfish was sacrificed with a single cut in the rostrum and the striated muscle (a portion from the ventral-anterior area) was collected (approx. 1 g) and preserved in ethanol absolute until epigenetic analysis.



Fig. 22. Schematic representation of the experimental design, depicting an intergenerational trial involving the exposure of the red swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) to the genotoxicants penoxsulam (Px; green line) and ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; red line). Sub-trial 1: exposure (7 days) of male (♂) and female (♀) adults, from F₀, to Px and EMS, in comparison with a control group (blue line). After reproduction of the F₀ organisms (intragroup crosses), F₁ offspring was divided into two sub-trials (2.1 and 2.2). Sub-trial 2.1: the progeny (F₁) of each F₀ group was allowed to grow in uncontaminated water until adulthood (blue line); global DNA methylation was analyzed in both stages (juvenile and adult). Sub-trial 2.2: the progeny (F₁) of each F₀ group was allowed to grow in uncontaminated water until exposed to Px and EMS for 7 days, and thereafter analyzed in comparison with a control group. o represents the sampling moments.

Chapter IV

Sub-trial 1: direct exposure of adult crayfish (F₀)

Sub-trial 1 aimed to explore the influence of penoxsulam and EMS on DNA methylation of adult *P. clarkii*, from F_o, also seeking for gender-related patterns. So, adult crayfish, forming experimental groups of fourteen animals (n = 7 of each gender), were individually exposed to $23 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ of Px or to 5 mg L^{-1} of EMS, for seven days (Fig. 22), in 1L aquaria (water and room conditions were the same as the acclimation period; please see section 2.2). A control group (n = 7 of each gender; C) was maintained in uncontaminated freshwater. Genotoxic and control medium were daily renewed. Afterward, animals were sacrificed, and muscle samples extracted as described above.

Sub-trial 2.1: indirect exposure of juvenile and adult crayfish (F₁)

This sub-trial was established to pursue an intergenerational approach, evaluating the epigenetic memory in unexposed juvenile and adult crayfish from F_1 , representing the offspring of a genotoxic-exposed generation (F_0).

Following the exposure described in the sub-trial 1, crayfish (F_o) were paired and allowed to reproduce (intra-group crosses). During the mating period, the temperature was set for 24.0 ± 1.0°C. Females with eggs were relocated in individual aquaria, and the water temperature was maintained. After hatching, juveniles (F_1) were transferred to a new aquarium (offspring were separated according to the provenience group F_o ; Fig. 1) to grow in uncontaminated water until reach the adult stage. Freshwater medium was weekly renewed; temperature and water conditions were similar to the acclimation period (see section 2.2). This sub-trial had two sampling moments: the first, when juveniles reached 4 months of age (n = 6, from each independent group; average length of 4.02 ± 0.17 cm), and the second, when adult crayfish reached 8-month-old (n = 4; 2 of each gender, from each independent group; with an average length of 7.35 ± 0.16 cm). In each sampling moment, every crayfish was sacrificed, and muscle sample extracted as described above.

Sub-trial 2.2: direct exposure of juvenile crayfish (F_1) under the influence of F_0 (indirect) exposure

This sub-trial aimed pursuing an intergenerational approach to evaluate the epigenetic memory in juvenile crayfish (F_1) subjected to an exposure corresponding to the same or to a different genotoxicant, relative to the stressful scenario experienced by the previous generation (F_0). Due to sexual immaturity, no gender discrimination was carried out. Briefly, F_1 4-month-old juveniles [with an average length of 4.02 ± 0.17 cm; n = 54; 6 (animals) x 3 (treatment) x 3 (F_0 groups)] descendants from the F_0 crossings (*i.e.*, males mated with females both exposed to Px; males mated with females both exposed to EMS; unexposed males mated with unexposed females) were exposed to 23 µg L⁻¹ of Px, 5 mg L⁻¹ of EMS and uncontaminated freshwater for 7 days, at 20 ± 1.0°C (Fig. 22). Genotoxic and control medium were daily renewed. At the end, animals were sacrificed, and muscle samples were extracted, as described above.

4.2.4 DNA extraction

DNA from each muscle sample was extracted using the NZY tissue gDNA isolation kit, according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, a 20 mg piece of tissue was cut into small pieces and placed overnight in the microcentrifuge tube at 56°C with proteinase K and buffer solution (NT1; kit component). After this incubation, 200 μ L of lysis solution were added to each sample, and the mixture was vortexed for 10 s. Next, 210 μ L of ethanol absolute were added and the mixture immediately vortexed. The mixture was transferred into an NZYSpin tissue column, placed in a 2 mL collection tube, and centrifuged for 1 min at 11 000 *g*. Then, the silica membrane of the NZYSpin tissue column was washed and dried. Thereafter, each DNA sample was eluted with 60 μ L of sterile distilled water (at 70°C). The genomic DNA was then stored at 4°C, until further analysis.

4.2.5 DNA methylation analysis

The global DNA methylation of each sample was quantified using MethylflashTM global DNA methylation (5-mC) ELISA easy colorimetric kit, in accordance with manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 100 μ L of a binding solution were added to each well (of a 96-well plate) followed by 2 μ L of DNA sample (samples were diluted to obtain 100 ng in a volume of approximately 2 μ L, as suggested by the manufacturer's protocol instructions). Also, negative (NC) and positive (PC) controls were considered to the plate to generate the standard curve (as represented in Fig. 23).



Fig. 23. Standard curve for methylated DNA, built using the kit-provided positive controls for validation of the measurement method (ELISA Easy Kit EpiGentek).

Samples were incubated at 37° C, for 60 minutes. Then, each well was washed three times, and samples were incubated with 50 µL of the 5-mC detection complex solution for 50 minutes. Each well was rewashed five times, and samples were incubated with 100 µL of developer solution for 3 min. The developer solution turned blue in the presence of sufficient methylated DNA. The color in the NC wells remained unchanged. When the PC samples became blue (indicating the presence of methylated DNA), the enzyme reaction was stopped with the stop solution, and the color of each sample changed to yellow. The absorbance was immediately read at 450 nm.

4.2.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with the software Statistica 7.0. Data were first tested for normality and homogeneity of variance to meet statistical demands by Shapiro-Wilk's W test and Brown-Forsythe (HOV) test, respectively, to apply parametric tests. Two-way ANOVA (gender x treatment) followed by Fisher's LSH post hoc test was used to compare F_0 adults (sub-trial 1). Males *vs.* females, within each treatment, were compared using t-test. A one-way ANOVA, followed by Dunnet's post hoc test, was used to compare the F_1 juveniles of sub-trial 2.1. Also, a one-way ANOVA followed by Fisher's LSH post hoc test, was used to compare genders within the same treatments of F_1 adults. Another two-way ANOVA (history x treatment), followed by Fisher's LSH post hoc test, was used to compare F_1 juveniles from treated groups with the corresponding group with different history profile (the exposure in the F_0 group corresponds to a past; history) exposure in F_1 (sub-trial 2.2). Differences between groups were considered significant when p < 0.05 (Zar, 2010).

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Sub-trial 1: direct exposure of adult crayfish (F₀)

Males' global methylation (5-mC content) presented a similar pattern in all treatments, and no significant differences were observed in the exposed groups with respect to the control (C) (Fig. 24). Regarding females, the 5-mC levels in the group exposed to EMS was significantly lower (4.82-fold; p < 0.001) in relation to the unexposed group (C), while no significant differences were observed between crayfish exposed to Px and C (Fig. 24).



Fig. 24. Sub-trial 1 - Global DNA methylation measured in muscle of F_0 *Procambarus clarkii*, both adult males ($^{\circ}$) and females ($^{\circ}$), following exposure to 23 µg·L⁻¹ of penoxsulam (Px; green) or 5 mg·L⁻¹ of ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; red), in comparison with the corresponding control groups (C; blue). Bars represent the standard error. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are: (*) between treatments, within the same gender; ($^{\circ}$) vs. male group, within the same treatment.

The females from C and Px groups displayed higher 5-mC content when compared with the respective male groups (p = 0.009 and p = 0.006, respectively) (Fig. 24). In the group exposed to EMS, despite the absence of statistical differences, males showed a tendency of a higher 5-mC levels (2.14-fold, in relation to females).

4.3.2 Sub-trial 2.1: indirect exposure of juveniles and adult crayfish (F₁)

Concerning juvenile stage, data point out a significantly lower DNA methylation in the groups descending from F_0 exposed groups (both Px and EMS) when compared with the offspring of the unexposed group. Specifically, 3.40-fold (p = 0.002) and 2.17fold (p = 0.02) lower 5-mC levels were detected in descendants from the Px-exposed and EMS-exposed groups, respectively, in comparison with the offspring of the unexposed group (Fig. 25).



Fig. 25. Sub-trial 2.1 - Global DNA methylation measured in muscle of unexposed F_1 *Procambarus clarkii*, in juveniles (left) and adults (right; males: $^{\circ}$; females: $^{\circ}$), descendants from F_0 unexposed ($^{\bigcirc}$), penoxsulam-exposed ($^{\bigcirc}$), and ethyl methanesulfonate-exposed ($^{\bigcirc}$) groups. Dark blue dashed-lines represent the 5-mC% mean values for the corresponding adult groups combining both genders. Bars represent the standard error. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are: (*) vs. descendants from F_0 unexposed group; ($^{\circ}$) vs. male group, within the same exposure background.

Adult males descending from Px group presented significantly higher (2.38-fold; p = 0.03) 5-mC levels than those descending from the unexposed group (Fig. 25). Regarding females, crayfish descending from EMS group presented significantly lower global DNA methylation (2.42-fold; p < 0.001) when compared with offspring of the unexposed group (Fig. 25).

Comparing genders, females descending from the unexposed group presented higher 5-mC levels of (3.5-fold; p < 0.001) than the corresponding males. The crayfish descendants from EMS-exposed groups did not present any differences between genders (Fig. 25). Contrarily to juveniles [sexually immature (Anastácio, 1993; Vogt et al., 2008)], the quantification of DNA global methylation in adult crayfish considered gender separation. In Fig. 25, dark blue dashed lines represented correspond to the 5-mC mean values for each adult group combining both genders. It is visible in all groups that the % global methylation in females is higher than the average of the two genders together, and, on the other hand, the 5-mC level in males is lower than the determined average.

4.3.3 Sub-trial 2.2: direct exposure of juvenile crayfish (F₁) under the (indirect) influence of F₀ exposure

No significant differences were detected in global DNA methylation when the experimental groups (C, Px and EMS) were compared within the same exposure history (Fig. 26).



Fig. 26. Sub-trial 2.2 – Global DNA methylation measured in muscle of F_1 juvenile *Procambarus clarkii*. Descendants from F_0 unexposed (\bigcirc), penoxsulam-exposed (\bigcirc), and ethyl methanesulfonate-exposed (\bigcirc) groups were currently exposed to 23 µg·L⁻¹ of penoxsulam (Px; green) or to 5 mg·L⁻¹ of EMS (EMS; red) and compared to the control groups (C; light blue; it should be noted that these data are also represented in Fig. 4). Bars represent the standard error. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are: (*) between different historical backgrounds, within the same current treatment. On the other hand, significant differences were detected when comparing different historical backgrounds within the same current treatment. Globally, it was discernible a variation pattern with lower global DNA methylation in crayfish descendants from Px- and EMS-exposed groups in comparison with those descending from unexposed parents. Detailing, juveniles with a history of exposure to penoxsulam showed a decrease in the percentage of methylated cytosines of 2.14-fold (p = 0.04) when exposed to penoxsulam and 3.59-fold (p = 0.003) when exposed to EMS, compared to juveniles exposed to the same compounds but with a history of no contamination. On the other hand, juveniles with a history of exposure to EMS showed an increase in methylated cytosines when exposed to EMS, compared to juveniles with a history of penoxsulam (2.86-fold; p = 0.02) also exposed to this compound (Fig. 26).

4.4 Discussion

The present work aimed to understand how two different genotoxicants (Px and EMS) affect the DNA methylation pattern in both genders of the species *Procambarus clarkii* as well as in what extent the methylation pattern of a given offspring is influenced by the genotoxic exposure of the progenitors, contributing to predict the ecological impact of the complex interactions of past and present exposures affecting wild populations under real field scenarios.

P. clarkii can adapt very quickly to environmental stressors, presenting also high tolerance to environmental heterogeneity (*e.g.*, regular periods of drought, omnivorous diet) (Geiger et al., 2005), features that contribute to its success as an invasive species. These characteristics may also justify why this species can be found in inhospitable environments, such as those impacted by pesticides (*e.g.* rice fields) (Geiger et al., 2005). Since *P. clarkii* reaches maturity maintaining a small body size, has a rapid growth, large number of offspring and a relatively short life span (Gherardi, 2006), is regarded as a

Chapter IV

suitable non-model organism for intergenerational studies. To date, there are no studies regarding DNA methylation in *P. clarkii*, though Vogt (2008) assessed this epigenetic process in muscle of the congener species *P. fallax*, the marbled crayfish. Thus, global DNA methylation was the marker chosen to study in the epigenome of the F₀ and F₁ generation of *P. clarkii*, within the framework above enunciated.

4.4.1 DNA methylation in *P. clarkii* (F₀) after direct genotoxic exposure

The methylation pattern can be altered by external factors, such as the presence of contaminants (Wang et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2001). A study with *D. magna* showed that exposure to the fungicide vinclozolin (Sargsyan et al., 2019) induced hypomethylation, which may affect gene regulation and expression. In the present study, no changes were observed in the DNA global methylation following a direct exposure to the herbicide penoxsulam, in both genders. In the work developed by Akcha et al. (2021), it was demonstrated a positive correlation between the presence of oxidative DNA damage, as measured by the level of 8-oxodGuo, and DNA methylation, as measured by human DNMT1 (DNA methyltransferase involved in methylation maintenance) activity. In line with these findings, it can be inferred that penoxsulam, probably, has a negligible pro-oxidant potential, which was corroborated in *P. clarkii* spermatozoa by Marçal et al. (2020).

Under exposure to EMS, DNA of female crayfish became hypomethylated. This could be supported by the fact that EMS induces base replacements of guanine-cytosine (C/G) to adenine-thymine (A/T) (Griffiths et al., 2000). So, once EMS may reduce the cytosines, the amount of 5-mC may also be diminished. However, global DNA methylation in male crayfish was not diminished by the EMS, which could be related to a naturally less methylated epigenome in the striated muscle cells of this gender (as recurrently observed in the different components of the current study), limiting the
margin for a reduction. To the authors' knowledge, the present study provides the first results regarding EMS effects on the crayfish epigenome.

Small differences in global DNA methylation can have great consequences for the phenotype (Vogt et al., 2008). In an *in vitro* study performed by Hiendleder et al. (2006) with bovine fetuses, phenotypic features as fetal overgrowth and endocrine changes were related to only 11.2% deviation from normal methylation values in the liver. In the present study, females exposed to EMS presented 60% deviation from the normal/basal global DNA methylation profile. Although it was not the focus of this study, considering that the deviation currently described is almost 6 times that reported by Hiendleder et al. (2006), important phenotypic changes in crayfish can be hypothesized due to this shift in the global methylation. Nevertheless, it is not expectable that the measured changes were fully and proportionally mirrored in the loss of DNA homeostasis and genomic instability. Future studies are required in this direction.

Gender is an important variable to consider when assessing global DNA methylation. In this study, it was disclosed, for the first time, the global methylation basal values in the striated muscle of the crayfish *P. clarkii* with gender discrimination. Specifically, males presented less methylated cytosines than females. Considering previous research with invertebrates, and particularly with the insect *Acyrthosiphon pisum* (Walsh et al., 2010) and the crustacean *D. pullex* (Kvist et al., 2020), it was described that males presented higher levels of global DNA methylation than females. Contrary to the present study, in which there was only one tissue analyzed, the striated muscle, the studies mentioned above (Kvist et al., 2020; Walsh et al., 2010) analyzed the methylome in the whole body. Therefore, it can be only concluded that males of *A. pisum* and *D. pullex* have globally more methylated cytosines than females; it remains unknown the tissue specific ratio of methylated cytosines for each gender. Therefore, regarding the current results, gender-dependent differences in adult crayfish' epigenome suggest a higher basal global DNA methylation on muscle of females, which represents an

innovative aspect. To the authors' knowledge, no solid scientific information is available on the mechanistic understanding of gender-specificity, namely applicable to DNA methylation in crustaceans.

Gender-related methylation patterns have been reported also in ecotoxicological studies (mostly in vertebrates) in association to contaminants exposure. It has been reported that compounds with the ability to modulate the DNA methylation may affect differently males and females. For instance, male zebrafish presented greater changes in the DNA methylation patterns in the brain and eyes, after chronic exposure to depleted uranium, than females (Gombeau et al., 2016); also, males polar bear presented their DNA methylation in the brain more affected than females after mercury exposure (Pilsner et al., 2010).

4.4.2 DNA methylation in unexposed crayfish descendants (F₁) from a genotoxicexposed generation (F₀)

The history of exposure to penoxsulam showed to have an impact on the global methylated cytosines of the offspring (F_1). The F_1 young crayfish grown in an uncontaminated environment showed a decrease in 5-mC content (DNA hypomethylation). DNA hypomethylation is the most consistent epigenetic alteration observed in cancer studies (Counts and Goodman, 1995), while genes involved in development, tissue-specific functions or response to environmental stimuli are poorly methylated and could be associated to higher phenotypic plasticity (Akcha et al., 2021). Therefore, although not being possible to identify the consequences for F_1 generation from the contact to penoxsulam in the previous generation, it was evident the modulating effect on the DNA methylation in the offspring, highlighting an intergenerational impact of penoxsulam. Interestingly, it should be recalled that the direct exposure to penoxsulam (F_0 generation) did not alter DNA methylation (see Fig. 24). In agreement, though testing a different agent, a study with *D. magna* reported that

the epigenetic effects of Zn were only observed in the F₁ generation, where the global DNA methylation was also diminished (Vandegehuchte et al., 2009). These authors suggested that Zn reduced the substrate for DNA-methylation, since the concentration of metallothioneins (which interacts with homocysteine to form conjugates) increased after the exposure; this conjugation caused a decrease in the availability of free homocysteine, used as a substrate to form methionine (which is converted to S-adenosylmethionine, an important methyl donor for DNA methyltransferases) (Vandegehuchte et al., 2009). Furthermore, when detoxification processes are favored, homocysteine, that could be also needed for DNA methylation, will be exploited for glutathione synthesis (Oppold et al., 2015).

Adult males (F_1) showed a significant increase in the global DNA methylation (hypermethylation) in relation to those descending from the unexposed group. DNA hypermethylation is considered the default epigenetic state and serves in maintaining genome integrity (Weber and Schübeler, 2007). The DNA hypomethylation observed before in F_1 juveniles, along with the hypermethylation observed in adult F_1 males, reinforces the suggestion that penoxsulam can change the DNA methylation pattern across generations. Studies with the European honeybee Apis melifera (Elango et al., 2009; Foret et al., 2009) reported that genes predicted to be hypermethylated are associated with housekeeping functions, while those predicted to be hypomethylated are associated with general immune functions. Hypermethylation of intragenic regions of housekeeping genes is consistent in the invertebrate species Crassostrea gigas (Gavery and Roberts, 2010) and A. mellifera (Elango et al., 2009). Therefore, the present data concerning muscle give plausibility to the hypothesis that penoxsulam can induced different phenotypic changes depending on the developmental stage. In future studies, it will be important to considerer the evaluation of gene expression, since it highlights the genes that could be vital to cell metabolism, including pathways related to the immune system.

The data obtained for the descendants from F_0 Px-exposed group show that the epigenome of females (adults) does not seem to be affected by penoxsulam. A similar pattern (*i.e.*, the percentage global methylation of Px-exposed females similar to the unexposed females) was also observed on their offspring F_1 (*i.e.*, females F_1 Px-exposed descendants presented a percentage of methylated cytosines similar to females F_1 unexposed descendants). Hence, it was demonstrated that penoxsulam induced changes indirectly in the crayfish offspring epigenome as well as a gender-specific intergenerational epigenetic effect.

As observed in the descendants from the F_0 Px-exposed group, the history of exposure to EMS showed to have an impact on the juveniles grown in an uncontaminated medium, where DNA hypomethylation was observed. In adults, the EMS intergenerational effect in unexposed male crayfish was not evident, contrary to what was observed in Px-descendant males. However, the hypomethylation observed in the unexposed F_1 females descended from the EMS-exposed group, representing a similar pattern to the F_0 females exposed to EMS, suggests that F_1 females had an epigenetic memory (*i.e.*, it was observed a hypomethylation like in the progenitors) of the F_0 exposure. Accordingly, in a study with *D. magna*, an exposure to 5-azacytidine (a DNA methyltransferases inhibitor) induced epigenetic changes in the F_0 generation, which were transmitted to the unexposed F_1 and F_2 generations (Sargsyan et al., 2019).

The current outcomes suggest that EMS had a potential gender-specific intergenerational epigenetic effect. Moreover, the exposure to this genotoxicant affected more the females methylome (since F_0 generation), contrary to what was observed with penoxsulam exposure (in this study) as well as with uranium (Gombeau et al., 2016) and mercury (Pilsner et al., 2010) exposures. This highlights the gender as an important variable that cannot be overlooked when studying this type of parameters in sexually mature animals.

The outcomes of this section, where animals displayed epigenetic changes, despite they only had contact with the genotoxicants in the previous generation (indirect exposure), confirmed the importance of the incorporation of the first exposed generation as well as the subsequent generations on risk assessment (Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2014).

4.4.3 DNA methylation in juvenile crayfish (F1) submitted to a current exposure

Exposure to the same genotoxicant

The juvenile crayfish (F_1) were subject to an exposure corresponding to known genotoxicants (*i.e.*, the same genotoxic agent experienced by the predecessors). From the present data, it was possible to understand that the exposure to Px in the F_0 generation greatly influenced the methylation pattern on the next generation (F_1). When juveniles, descendants from the F_0 Px-exposed group, were exposed to penoxsulam, they presented a hypomethylation, compared to the crayfish that was in contact with penoxsulam for the first time. This eventual epigenetic memory, transmitted by the progenitors, was also observed in the unexposed juveniles, descendants from the F_0 Px-exposed group. Since this group did not contact directly with penoxsulam, this outcome supports the potential of this herbicide to induce generational epigenetic changes, specifically on DNA methylation. To the authors' knowledge, there are no scientific studies addressing this aspect, *i.e.*, what happens to the methylation pattern of the offspring (with a history of exposure from the previous generation) when facing an exposure to a genotoxicant, since most research focus on the effects caused by parental exposure on subsequent unexposed generations.

Considering the descendants from F_0 EMS-exposed group, F_1 juveniles appear to have also inherited the memory of their parents' exposure. The similarity of DNA methylation profile between the unexposed F_1 crayfish and the F_1 EMS-exposed suggests that a tolerance to this compound may have been acquired. It should also be noted that,

while the F_0 EMS-exposed groups had less methylated cytosines (in both crayfish genders) when compared to the unexposed group, their descendants after being exposed to the same compound, *i.e.*, EMS, tended to display higher DNA methylation than the unexposed group (despite without statistical significance). This reinforces the theory that the memory of the genotoxic exposure in F_0 was transmitted to F_1 , strengthening the stability of methylation processes when F_1 is exposed to the same genotoxicant as in F_0 .

Exposure to a different genotoxicant

Juveniles (F_1) were exposed to a different genotoxicant (*i.e.*, distinct from that experienced by the ancestors). The decrease in % of methylated DNA in the unexposed F₁ crayfish derived from F₀ genotoxic-exposed groups (Px and EMS F₀ groups) revealed that the offspring suffered an indirect impact from the genotoxic pressure in the F_o generation. These results are particularly important since there is a lack of scientific information elucidating what happens at the level of DNA methylation when offspring is subjected to a new genotoxic exposure. Oppold et al. (2015) exposed a F₀ generation of the Asian tiger mosquito (Aedes albopictus) to vinclozolin (fungicide) and observed a decrease in the offspring (F_1) sensitivity to the insecticide imidacloprid (an hypomethylation was observed). Their results suggest that the epigenetic marker DNA methylation may be involved in the mechanisms that allow adaptation (e.g., lower vulnerability) to insecticides (Oppold et al., 2015). Although it remains to be elucidated how organisms acquire toxic resistance, Bates et al. (2005) reported that low doses generally provide the best opportunity for its development. It is important to recall here that the species used in the present study (P. clarkii) is known for being an invasive species in European, African, and Asian ecosystems, with successful physiological strategies (phenotypic characteristics) even in inhospitable environments. This raises a key question of whether the observed changes in methylome due to exposure to an environmentally relevant concentration of penoxsulam, specifically in juveniles and male adults, may be behind an adaptive strategy for this species.

Juvenile crayfish from the Px-exposed F_0 group presented hypomethylation after exposure to EMS, indicating that, in the presence of a different genotoxic challenge, the memory of F_0 does not seem to prevent global methylation changes. In contrast, the % of DNA methylation increased in Px-exposed juveniles descended from EMS-exposed F_0 , which may indicate the emergence of mechanisms that will permit to the exposed organisms to tolerate the stress and survive (Boothby, 2019).

Again, without data regarding gene expression information (*i.e.*, what genes in the crayfish are over- or under-expressed due to penoxsulam and EMS exposure), it is not possible to understand if the induced epigenetic inheritance was a burden or a gift. Therefore, in future work, in addition to be interesting to analyze the gene expression, it will also be of interest to see what phenotypic changes are occurring, for example from possible shifts in metabolic pathways to changes on reproductive and morphological features. It is noticeable, however, that these compounds induced changes in the methylation pattern, and this probably had consequences for the organisms and, consequently, for their populations.

4.4.4 The legacy of a parental exposure - an overview

Epigenetic transmission enables parents to influence the phenotypes of their offspring, providing, thus, a mechanism by which the parental environment can influence the offspring's performance (Donelson et al., 2018).

The impact of the parental exposure to penoxsulam on offspring appears to vary with the crayfish stage of development. Accordingly, juveniles (F_1) presented hypomethylation whereas hypermethylation occurred in the sexual maturity phase (adult males of F_1). This represents further evidence that methylome is not stable throughout the life cycle.

The present study showed that, in the juvenile stage, when crayfish face a new exposure to the same (penoxsulam) or to a different genotoxicant (EMS), no significant

changes were observed in the level of methylated cytosines (in relation to the unexposed crayfish also with an historical exposure to penoxsulam). However, comparing the offspring resulting from the herbicide-exposed group with the offspring from the non-exposed group, it was possible to perceive that, in general, penoxsulam induced a strong decrease in juveniles' global methylation.

Concerning the impact on offspring of a parental exposure to EMS, it was pointed out an identical pattern (when compared to penoxsulam groups). Thus, the unexposed offspring presented hypomethylation in juveniles (F_1) and hypomethylation in adults females (F_1). When offspring from the EMS-exposed group were compared with the non-exposed group, it was shown that the parental exposure to EMS also induced a decrease in global methylation, but only considering the unexposed juveniles. Moreover, juveniles exposed both to the same (EMS) and to a different (penoxsulam) genotoxicant did not have their global DNA methylation changed. Contrary to what happened in EMSexposed F_0 adults (both genders), the level of methylated cytosines in F_1 juveniles did not decrease following exposure to EMS. Again, this could indicate that the historical impact of the parental exposure to EMS may provide to juvenile specimens some mechanisms to better tolerate stress and survive.

Bearing all this in mind, and considering future research in this thematic, it will be important to address the intergenerational effects when only one parent is exposed (*e.g.*, F_0 exposed male x F_0 unexposed females and *vice-versa*). Moreover, it would be also interesting, to consider the different organism's tissues/organs, as it has been reported that different cell types respond differently to the modulating action of xenobiotics on DNA methylation (*e.g.*, Akcha et al., 2021). Akcha et al. (2021) observed that the epigenetic effect of diuron (an herbicide) seemed to be tissue-specific in *C. gigas*, where DNA hypermethylation occurred in the digestive gland but not in gills and gonads. So, it will be important to investigate in future studies which tissues, other than muscle, may be susceptible to penoxsulam-induced changes on global DNA methylation. In fact, in future works it would be particularly interesting to study the penoxsulam effect on the methylome of germ cells, since it is this epigenome that will be transmitted to the offspring.

Epigenetic changes, including in DNA methylation, constitute the basis for longterm adaptations (Suarez-Ulloa et al., 2015). In line, the present study suggests that the modulation of epigenome may partially explain the *P. clarkii* success as invasive alien species (Gherardi, 2006; Souty-Grosset et al., 2016), "conquering the world" and inhabiting from pristine to highly impacted environments. Overall, current data confirmed the occurrence of an intergenerational epigenetic memory, evidencing that the consequences of a given exposure to environmental stressors are not confined to the respective generation, which, using a grammatical analogy, can be translated into a conjugation in past continuous rather than past simple.

4.5 Conclusions

The present findings demonstrated, for the first time, the presence of DNA methylation in the species *Procambarus clarkii*, specifically in the striated muscle. Moreover, it was demonstrated that the global DNA methylation in this tissue differs naturally between genders, with females showing higher levels.

The herbicide penoxsulam did not induce changes in DNA methylation of adult crayfish (F_0). However, the hypomethylation occurring in unexposed F_1 juveniles demonstrated that the history of exposure per se (indirect exposure) can modulate epigenome. In the F_1 descendants of the penoxsulam-exposed group, males methylome (hypermethylated) was more affected than in females, showing a gender-specificity.

The genotoxicant model EMS induced hypomethylation in *P. clarkii* adult females (F_o), also showing to be gender specific. In addition, hypomethylation was also

observed in the unexposed F_1 crayfish, pointing out an intergenerational epigenetic effect.

The modulatory role of the historic exposure to penoxsulam or to EMS showed also to depend on the crayfish developmental stage.

Overall, this work showed that indirect experiences (events occurring in the predecessor generation) can have an impact on the epigenetic dynamics even greater than direct experiences (present events).

Finally, it is strongly recommended to consider epigenotoxic approaches as a critical element to thoroughly identify hazards and risk factors associated to environmental contaminants.

References

- Akcha, F., Barranger, A., and Bachère, E. (2021). Genotoxic and epigenetic effects of diuron in the Pacific oyster: *in vitro* evidence of interaction between DNA damage and DNA methylation. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 28(7), 8266–8280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-11021-6.
- Amini, M. (2014). Ethyl Methanesulfonate. In Encyclopedia of Toxicology: Third Edition. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386454-3.01124-6.
- Anastácio, P. M. S. G. (1993). Ciclo biológico e produção do lagostim vermelho da Louisiana na região do Baixo Mondego. University of Coimbra. Portugal.
- Anway, M. D., Cupp, A. S., Uzumcu, N., and Skinner, M. K. (2005). Toxicology: Epigenetic transgenerational actions of endocrine disruptors and male fertility. Science, 308(5727), 1466–1469. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1108190.
- Bates, S. L., Zhao, J. Z., Roush, R. T., and Shelton, A. M. (2005). Insect resistance management in GM crops: Past, present .and future. In Nature Biotechnology (Vol. 23, Issue 1, pp. 57–62). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1056.
- Boothby, T. C. (2019). Mechanisms and evolution of resistance to environmental extremes in animals. In EvoDevo (Vol. 10, Issue 1, pp. 1–12). BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13227-019-0143-4.
- Brevik, K., Lindström, L., McKay, S. D., and Chen, Y. H. (2018). Transgenerational effects of insecticides implications for rapid pest evolution in agroecosystems. Current Opinion in Insect Science, 26, 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2017.12.007.
- Capela, R., Raimundo, J., Santos, M. M., Caetano, M., Micaelo, C., Vale, C., Guimarães, L., and Reis-Henriques, M. A. (2016). The use of biomarkers as integrative tools for transitional water bodies monitoring in the Water Framework Directive context - A holistic approach in Minho river transitional waters. Science of the Total Environment, 539, 85–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.08.113.
- Cavas, T. (2011). *In vivo* genotoxicity evaluation of atrazine and atrazine-based herbicide on fish *Carassius auratus* using the micronucleus test and the comet assay. Food and Chemical Toxicology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2011.03.038.
- Collotta, M., Bertazzi, P. A., and Bollati, V. (2013). Epigenetics and pesticides. Toxicology, 307, 35–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2013.01.017.
- Compere, S. J., and Palmiter, R. D. (1981). DNA methylation controls the inducibility of the mouse metallothionein-I gene in lymphoid cells. Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(81)90248-8.
- Costa, R., Pereira, J. L., Santos, M. A., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2018). The role of contamination history and gender on the genotoxic responses of the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* to a penoxsulam-based herbicide. Ecotoxicology, 27(7), 908–918. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10646-018-1948-Y.
- Dagnac, T., García-Chao, M., Fernández-Álvarez, M., Castro-Insua, J., García-Pomar, M. I., and Llompart, M. (2012). Study of the presence of priority pesticides in surface water of river basins located in two areas of intensive dairy farming in the NW Spain (Galicia). International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry, 92(8), 995–1011. https://doi.org/10.1080/03067319.2011.603188.
- Donelson, J. M., Salinas, S., Munday, P. L., and Shama, L. N. S. (2018). Transgenerational plasticity and climate change experiments: Where do we go from here? In Global Change Biology. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13903.

- Elango, N., Hunt, B. G., Goodisman, M. A. D., and Yi, S. V. (2009). DNA methylation is widespread and associated with differential gene expression in castes of the honeybee, *Apis mellifera*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 106(27), 11206–11211. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0900301106.
- European Union. (2010). Review report for the active substance penoxsulam. https://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/pesticides/eupesticides-database/active-substances/?event=as.detailsandas_id=962.
- Faulk, C., and Dolinoy, D. C. (2011). Timing is everything: the when and how of environmentally induced changes in the epigenome of animals. In Epigenetics. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.6.7.16209.
- Foret, S., Kucharski, R., Pittelkow, Y., Lockett, G. A., and Maleszka, R. (2009). Epigenetic regulation of the honey bee transcriptome: Unravelling the nature of methylated genes. BMC Genomics, 10(1), 472. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-472.
- Gavery, M. R., and Roberts, S. B. (2010). DNA methylation patterns provide insight into epigenetic regulation in the Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*). BMC Genomics, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-11-483.
- Gavery, M. R., and Roberts, S. B. (2017). Epigenetic considerations in aquaculture. PeerJ, 2017(12). https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4147.
- Geiger, W., Alcorlo, P., Baltanás, A., and Montes, C. (2005). Impact of an introduced crustacean on the trophic webs of Mediterranean wetlands. Biological Invasions, 7, 49–73.
- Gherardi, F. (2006). Crayfish invading Europe: the case study of *Procambarus clarkii*. Marine and Freshwater Behaviour and Physiology, 39(3), 175–191. https://doi.org/10.1080/10236240600869702.
- Gombeau, K., Pereira, S., Ravanat, J. L., Camilleri, V., Cavalie, I., Bourdineaud, J. P., and Adam-Guillermin, C. (2016). Depleted uranium induces sex- and tissue-specific methylation patterns in adult zebrafish. Journal of Environmental Radioactivity, 154, 25–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2016.01.004
- Griffiths, A. J. F., Miller, J. H., Suzuki, D. T., Lewontin, R. C., and Gelbart, W. M. (2000). An introduction to genetic analysis, 7th edition. In ISBN.
- Head, J. A. (2014). Patterns of DNA methylation in animals: An ecotoxicological perspective. Integrative and Comparative Biology. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/icu025.
- Head, J. A., Dolinoy, D. C., and Basu, N. (2012). Epigenetics for ecotoxicologists. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 31(2), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.1707.
- Hiendleder, S., Wirtz, M., Mund, C., Klempt, M., Reichenbach, H. D., Stojkovic, M., Weppert, M., Wenigerkind, H., Elmlinger, M., Lyko, F., Schmitz, O. J., and Wolf, E. (2006). Tissue-specific effects of *in vitro* fertilization procedures on genomic cytosine methylation levels in overgrown and normal sized bovine fetuses. Biology of Reproduction, 75(1), 17–23. https://doi.org/10.1095/biolreprod.105.043919.
- Hotchkiss, R. D. (1948). The quantitative separation of purines, pyrimidines, and nucleosides by paper chromatography. The Journal of Biological Chemistry. https://doi.org/10.3891/acta.chem.scand.06-1030.
- Jennifer L. Counts, and Goodman, J. I. (1995). Hypomethylation of DNA: a nongenotoxic mechanism involved in tumor promotion. Toxicology Letters, 82/83, 663–672.
- Kvist, J., Athanàsio, C. G., Pfrender, M. E., Brown, J. B., Colbourne, J. K., and Mirbahai, L. (2020). A comprehensive epigenomic analysis of phenotypically distinguishable, genetically identical female and male *Daphnia pulex*. BMC Genomics, 21(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-019-6415-5.

- Luzhna, L., Kathiria, P., and Kovalchuk, O. (2013). Micronuclei in genotoxicity assessment: From genetics to epigenetics and beyond. Frontiers in Genetics, 4(JUL), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2013.00131.
- Marçal, R., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2020). DNA of crayfish spermatozoa as a target of waterborne pesticides An *ex vivo* approach as a tool to short-term spermiotoxicity screening. Journal of Hazardous Materials. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123300.
- Meyer, J. N., and Di Giulio, R. T. (2003). Heritable adaptation and fitness costs in killifish (*Fundulus heteroclitus*) inhabiting a polluted estuary. Ecological Applications. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2003)013[0490:haafci]2.0.co;2.
- Murussi, C. R., Thorstenberg, M. L., Leitemperger, J., Costa, M., Clasen, B., Santi, A., Menezes, C., Engers, V. K., and Loro, V. L. (2014). Toxic effects of penoxsulam herbicide in two fish species reared in Southern Brazil. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 92(1), 81–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-013-1137-x.
- Nilsen, F. M., Parrott, B. B., Bowden, J. A., Kassim, B. L., Somerville, S. E., Bryan, T. A., Bryan, C. E., Lange, T. R., Delaney, J. P., Brunell, A. M., Long, S. E., and Guillette, L. J. (2016). Global DNA methylation loss associated with mercury contamination and aging in the American alligator (*Alligator mississippiensis*). Science of the Total Environment. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.12.059.
- Oppold, A., Kreß, A., Vanden Bussche, J., Diogo, J. B., Kuch, U., Oehlmann, J., Vandegehuchte, M. B., and Müller, R. (2015). Epigenetic alterations and decreasing insecticide sensitivity of the Asian tiger mosquito *Aedes albopictus*. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 122, 45–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.06.036.
- Patetsini, E., Dimitriadis, V. K., and Kaloyianni, M. (2013). Biomarkers in marine mussels, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, exposed to environmentally relevant levels of the pesticides, chlorpyrifos and penoxsulam. Aquatic Toxicology, 126, 338–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.09.009.
- Pilsner, J. R., Lazarus, A. L., Nam, D. H., Letcher, R. J., Sonne, C., Dietz, R., and Basu, N. (2010). Mercury-associated DNA hypomethylation in polar bear brains via the LUminometric Methylation Assay: A sensitive method to study epigenetics in wildlife. Molecular Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04452.x.
- Roberts, S. B., and Gavery, M. R. (2012). Is there a relationship between DNA methylation and phenotypic plasticity in invertebrates? Frontiers in Physiology. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2011.00116.
- Sargsyan, A., Simonyan, A., Hovhannisyan, G., Arakelyan, M., and Aroutiounian, R. (2019). Application of the comet assay, micronucleus test and global DNA methylation analysis in Darevskia lizards as a sentinel organism for genotoxic monitoring of soil pollution. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 842(October 2018), 117–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2018.10.005.
- Sega, G. A. (1984). A review of the genetic effects of ethyl methanesulfonate. Mutation Research/Reviews in Genetic Toxicology, 134(2–3), 113–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1110(84)90007-1.
- Skinner, M. K. (2008). What is an epigenetic transgenerational phenotype?. F3 or F2. In Reproductive Toxicology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.09.001.
- Souty-Grosset, C., Anastácio, P. M., Aquiloni, L., Banha, F., Choquer, J., Chucholl, C., and Tricarico, E. (2016). The red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* in Europe: Impacts on aquatic ecosystems and human well-being. In Limnologica (Vol. 58). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.limno.2016.03.003.
- Stenz, L., Schechter, D. S., Serpa, S. R., and Paoloni-Giacobino, A. (2018). Intergenerational transmission of dna methylation signatures associated with early life stress. Current Genomics. https://doi.org/10.2174/1389202919666171229145656.

- Suarez-Ulloa, V., Gonzalez-Romero, R., and Eirin-Lopez, J. M. (2015). Environmental epigenetics: A promising venue for developing next-generation pollution biomonitoring tools in marine invertebrates. In Marine Pollution Bulletin. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2015.06.020.
- Sun, P. Y., Foley, H. B., Handschumacher, L., Suzuki, A., Karamanukyan, T., and Edmands, S. (2014). Acclimation and adaptation to common marine pollutants in the copepod *Tigriopus californicus*. Chemosphere. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.05.023.
- US-EPA (2004). United States environmental protection and toxic substances agency (7501c) penoxsulam fact sheet.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., Lemière, F., and Janssen, C. R. (2009). Quantitative DNA-methylation in *Daphnia magna* and effects of multigeneration Zn exposure. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - C Toxicology and Pharmacology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2009.05.014.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., and Janssen, C. R. (2011). Epigenetics and its implications for ecotoxicology. In Ecotoxicology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-011-0634-0.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., and Janssen, C. R. (2014). Epigenetics in an ecotoxicological context. Mutation Research Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 764–765, 36–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2013.08.008.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., Lemière, F., Vanhaecke, L., Vanden Berghe, W., and Janssen, C. R. (2010). Direct and transgenerational impact on *Daphnia magna* of chemicals with a known effect on DNA methylation. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - C Toxicology and Pharmacology, 151(3), 278–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2009.11.007.
- Vogt, G. (2008). The marbled crayfish: A new model organism for research on development, epigenetics and evolutionary biology. Journal of Zoology, 276(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2008.00473.x.
- Vogt, G., Falckenhayn, C., Schrimpf, A., Schmid, K., Hanna, K., Panteleit, J., Helm, M., Schulz, R., and Lyko, F. (2015). The marbled crayfish as a paradigm for saltational speciation by autopolyploidy and parthenogenesis in animals. Biology Open. https://doi.org/10.1242/bio.014241.
- Vogt, G., Huber, M., Thiemann, M., Van Den Boogaart, G., Schmitz, O. J., and Schubart, C. D. (2008). Production of different phenotypes from the same genotype in the same environment by developmental variation. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 211(4), 510–523. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.008755.
- Walsh, T. K., Brisson, J. A., Robertson, H. M., Gordon, K., Jaubert-Possamai, S., Tagu, D., and Edwards, O. R. (2010). A functional DNA methylation system in the pea aphid, *Acyrthosiphon pisum. Insect Molecular Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2583.2009.00974.x.
- Wang, Y., Wang, C., Zhang, J., Chen, Y., and Zuo, Z. (2009). DNA hypomethylation induced by tributyltin, triphenyltin, and a mixture of these in *Sebastiscus marmoratus* liver. Aquatic Toxicology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.06.008.
- Weber, M., and Schübeler, D. (2007). Genomic patterns of DNA methylation: targets and function of an epigenetic mark. In Current Opinion in Cell Biology (Vol. 19, Issue 3, pp. 273–280). Elsevier Current Trends. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2007.04.011.
- Yauk, C., Polyzos, A., Rowan-Carroll, A., Somers, C. M., Godschalk, R. W., Van Schooten, F. J., Berndt, M. L., Pogribny, I. P., Koturbash, I., Williams, A., Douglas, G. R., and Kovalchuk, O. (2008). Germ-line mutations, DNA damage, and global hypermethylation in mice exposed to particulate air pollution in an urban/industrial location. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0705896105.
- Zar, J. (2010). Multiple Comparisons. In Biostatistical analysis (5th ed., pp. 226–248). Prentice Hall International Inc.

Intergenerational patterns of DNA methylation in P. clarkii following exposure to genotoxicants

Zhou, X., Zhu, G., Jilisa, M., and Sun, J. (2001). Influence of Cu, Zn, Pb, Cd and their heavy metalion mixture on the DNA methylation level of the fish (*Carassius auratus*). Zhongguo Huanjing Kexue/China Environmental Science.

Unveiling the nexus between parental exposure to toxicants and heritable spermiotoxicity - is life history a shield or a shadow?

Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology, 95:103955, 2022

5. Unveiling the nexus between parental exposure to toxicants and heritable spermiotoxicity - is life history a shield or a shadow?

Keywords

Intergenerational impact; *Ex vivo*; Ecogenotoxicity; Pesticide; Reprotoxicity; Freshwater crustacean.

Abstract

The knowledge on parental experiences is critical to predict how organisms react to environmental challenges. So, the DNA integrity of *Procambarus clarkii* spermatozoa exposed *ex vivo* to the herbicide penoxsulam (Px) or ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; model genotoxicant) was assessed with and without the influence of *in vivo* parental exposure to the same agents. The parental exposure alone did not affect the DNA of unexposed spermatozoa. However, the history of Px exposure increased the vulnerability to oxidative lesions in Px-exposed offspring. Otherwise, parental exposure to EMS allowed the development of protection mechanisms expressed when F₁ was also exposed to EMS, unveiling life history as a shield. The parental exposure to a different agent adverse and decisively affected Px spermiotoxic potential, pointing out life history as a shadow to progeny. Given the complexity of the aquatic contamination scenarios, involving mixtures, the spermiotoxicity of Px to wild *P. clarkii* populations emerged as probable.

5.1 Introduction

One of the most important works reporting the transmission of heritable toxic effects was the transgenerational study performed by Anway et al. (2005). Their outcomes were recognized as ground-breaking in the field of ecotoxicology, highlighting that contaminants entering the environment could alter the basis of future toxicological inheritance. Since then, research on this context aimed to address the heritance transmitted by the F_0 generation to the descendants, assuming that intergenerational approaches focus on F_1 generation (Perez and Lehner, 2019), while transgenerational studies focus on the F_2 and succeeding generations (Cleary et al., 2019). Although the intergenerational approaches can be considered essential for ecotoxicological research, there is a limited number of studies focusing on the influence of parental exposure on offspring responses to environmental stressors. The scarce literature available demonstrated that the knowledge on parental experiences is critical to predict how organisms react to environmental conditions (Plautz et al., 2013; Perez and Lehner, 2019).

There are several factors contributing to determine the profile of intergenerational effects, and thus, it is crucial to design full factorial experiments to investigate them (Donelson et al., 2018). For instance, the works developed by Donelan and Trussell (2015) and Luquet and Tariel (2016) showed that the same parental experience (*i.e.*, exposure to predator odors) induced opposite reactions in two gastropods species (*Nucella lapillus* and *Physella acuta*). In *N. lapillus*, the parental exposure to crab odors influenced the offspring phenotype only when it was exposed to the same cue; differently, in the experiment with *P. acuta* the predator-cue parental environment influenced the offspring phenotype only when it was raised in control conditions.

Notwithstanding the remarkable contribution of pesticides to the agricultural productivity in the last 50 years, their unpreventable ubiquity throughout the environment has resulted in a severe contamination, negatively impacting the

ecosystems health (Tang et al., 2021). Intergenerational studies concerning the impact of a parental exposure to pesticides are, nevertheless, uncommon and provided divergent indications. Oppold and co-workers (2015) demonstrated a positive intergenerational effect, as the descendants of mosquitoes exposed to the fungicide vinclozolin showed a decreased sensitivity to the insecticide imidacloprid. Occasionally, the repeated (or continuous) exposure to low levels of pesticides may provide an opportunity for the development of pesticide-resistance mechanisms (Bates et al., 2005; Brausch and Smith, 2009; Oppold et al., 2015). Still, the long-term effects of pesticides and the mechanisms involved in adaptation to chemical stress are questions that need to be unraveled (Farida Akcha et al., 2021). On the other hand, negative impacts (*e.g.*, hatching impairment) were reported following the exposure of parents and developing snails (Lymnaea stagnalis) to the fungicide pyraclostrobin (Fidder et al., 2016). Summarizing, intergenerational effects may be beneficial, providing a reinforced shield for upcoming challenges, but also a shadow for the future, due to an accumulation of negative consequences on the subsequent generations (Byrne et al., 2020). This bimodal profile is in line with epigenetic intergenerational effects described in mollusks, displaying to be disruptive but also adaptive, impairing or enabling organisms to cope with fast-changing environment (Fallet et al., 2020).

One of the most serious consequence of pesticides as water contaminants is the occurrence of DNA damage, mutations or chromosomal alterations, since various ingredients of commercial formulations present genotoxic properties (Bolognesi and Hayashi, 2011). In addition, unrepaired DNA damage has been associated with growth impairment, abnormal development, reduced fitness (*e.g.*, reproductive success) and embryo survival, which will affect populations and, subsequently, ecosystems (Anderson et al., 2014; Canty et al., 2009; Lee and Steinert, 2003; Sahlmann et al., 2017). Thus, and keeping in view the population level, the possibility of a parental exposure to genotoxic agrochemicals affect the genomic integrity of the offspring is a foremost concern,

although it remains underexploited. Barranger et al. (2014) reported evidence of vertical transmission of DNA damage in the *Crassostrea gigas* exposed to the herbicide diuron.

Genotoxic pressures are suspected to drive adverse effects at the population level (Jha, 2008), which are more likely when DNA damaging events occur in germ cells (Lacaze et al., 2010), comparing to somatic cells. The loss of DNA integrity on gametes could cause reproduction impairment, low fertilization rate, abnormal sperm morphology, embryo abnormalities and decrease offspring number (Barranger et al., 2016; Carroll and Marangos, 2013; Kumar et al., 2017; Lacaze et al., 2010; Shaw et al., 2017). Thus, the direct assessment of DNA integrity in germ cells, such as spermatozoa, is relevant and could allow understanding how toxicant-induced changes in the genome may affect the long-term success of the next generations. Male gametes of aquatic species with external reproduction may be directly exposed (after mating or during fertilization) to aquatic contaminants with genotoxic properties, including pesticides, which can impact the descendants (Arizza et al., 2009). Therefore, with the intuit of protecting aquatic populations, namely in what regards the mitigation of reproductive impairments, there is an increasing environmental concern related to spermiotoxicity. Considering aquatic invertebrates, the spermiotoxicity has been assessed through functional impairments, such as motility (Esposito et al., 2020) and metabolic disorders (Favret and Lynn, 2010), as well as through DNA integrity (Lacaze et al., 2011). It is, therefore, reinforced the need to develop intergenerational approaches coupled with pesticide spermiotoxic assessment.

The central hypothesis of the present study concerns the possibility of a memory of parental (F_0) exposure influence the offspring (F_1) responses to a chemical challenge, either corresponding to a repeated exposure (same agent relative to F_0) or to a new context resulting from the exposure to a different agent or the permanence in an uncontaminated milieu (*e.g.*, simulating events on the wild such as habitat restoration or organisms' displacement to a pesticide-free area). Hence, an intergenerational

approach was carried out addressing the spermiotoxic effects of the herbicide penoxsulam (potential environmental genotoxicant; see Marçal et al., 2020 and Patetsini et al., 2013) and ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; model genotoxicant). Penoxsulam is a post-emergence herbicide belonging to the triazolopyrimidine sulfonamide class, in the market since 2005 (DGAV, 2015) and widely used against a broad-spectrum of annual and perennial weeds (Sondhia et al., 2016), that can reach the aquatic environment through leaching and runoff processes. The EMS is an alkylating agent that can induce DNA strand-breaks through the alkylation of phosphodiester bonds (Štambuk et al., 2008), known for its genotoxic and mutagenic potential on insect, crustacean, and human cells (Amini, 2014; Costa et al., 2018; Sega, 1984). This study included an *in vivo* Fo (parents) exposure and a subsequent evaluation of F1 (offspring' gametes) following *ex vivo* spermatozoa of F1 organisms were assessed. So, the present study aimed to evaluate the DNA integrity in F1 spermatozoa exposure (to penoxsulam or to EMS).

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Chemicals

Penoxsulam (Px; CAS: 219714-96-2) and ethyl methanesulfonate (model genotoxicant; CAS: 62-50-0) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Company (Spain). The DNA lesion-specific repair enzyme, namely formamidopyrimidine DNA glycosylase (FPG) was obtained from New England Biolabs (USA). All other chemicals were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich Chemical Company (Spain).

5.2.2 Organisms' maintenance

The red swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) analyzed in this study (and belonging to the F_1 generation) were born in the laboratory, descending from an early generation (F_0) collected (2017) in the Minho River (Vila Nova de Cerveira, NW Portugal), a low impacted area in terms of inorganic and organic contaminants, including pesticides (Rocha et al., 2021; Vera et al., 2021), with a good water quality (Castro-Valencia et al., 2019). The initial set of adult crayfish specimens (F_0 generation) presented an average length of 11.22 ± 0.91 cm.

In the laboratory, F_0 crayfish were kept in individual aquaria, during two weeks, for acclimation before starting the parental exposure trial (see section 2.3), with the following water conditions: constant temperature ($20 \pm 1^{\circ}C$), freshwater (dechlorinated tap water; salinity o) with aeration (dissolved oxygen 8.1 \pm 0.5 mg L⁻¹), daily UV disinfection, weekly control of nitrites (0.2 ± 0.05 mg L⁻¹), nitrates (25 ± 6.0 mg L⁻¹), ammonia (< 0.1 mg L⁻¹) and pH (7.5 \pm 0.2). Animals were daily fed *ad libitum* with crustacean feed, Caridina Vita, produced by Sparos[®] (Olhão, Portugal).

5.2.3 Intergenerational experimental design

In Fig. 1 is represented the intergenerational trial performed. Briefly, F_0 adult crayfish, kept individually in 1 L aquaria, were exposed to 23 µg L⁻¹ of penoxsulam [Px; concentration based on its environmental levels (Murussi et al., 2014)] or to 5 mg L⁻¹ of EMS (model genotoxicant; concentration used as a positive control in genotoxic studies, *e.g.*, Cavas, 2011; Costa et al., 2018), for seven days (water and room conditions were the same as for the acclimation period). Groups of 10 males and 10 females were used for each treatment. Px is water soluble, hydrolytically stable and non-volatile, with a half live in the aquatic system between 1.28 and 1.96 days (Kogan et al., 2011). A control group (NC) was maintained in contaminant-free freshwater. Penoxsulam, EMS and control media were daily renewed (100%) in the exposure period. Afterward, F_0 crayfish were paired (10

couples per treatment) and allowed to reproduce (intra-group crosses) in uncontaminated freshwater. During the mating period, the temperature was set for 23.0 \pm 1.0°C to provide the proper conditions for reproduction. Females with eggs were relocated in individual aquaria, and the water temperature was maintained. After hatching, F₁ specimens were transferred to a new aquarium (offspring were separated according to the provenience group F₀) to grow in a contaminant-free water, until reach the adult stadium. This medium was weekly renewed; water conditions were similar to acclimation. Two F₁ adult males (8-month-old, with an average length of 7.35 \pm 0.16 cm) were randomly selected from each F₀ descendant group (*viz*. NC, Px, and EMS; in a total of six males) as sperm donors to perform the *ex vivo* assay. For sperm extraction, the vas deferent of each animal was excised and placed into 1.5 mL of cooled PBS, in a petri dish. Then, the distal section was gently pressed to release the sperm into the PBS medium, making a cell suspension that was immediately used. The individual sperm samples from each F₁ group were combined into a pooled sample, and then, divided into 18 sub-samples (microtubes), corresponding to 6 per treatment (n=6).

Ex vivo incubations were carried out in 2 mL microtubes, for 2 hours, at $18 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C, with constant rotational movement (0.9 rpm; 150 mm radius) to avoid cells deposition. Briefly, 200 µL of cell suspension in PBS (approx. 3×10^5 cells) were added to 1.8 mL of the proper medium, *i.e.*, PBS (control condition) or test solution (*i.e.*, Px: 23 µg L⁻¹ of Penoxsulam; EMS: 5 mg L⁻¹, both dissolved in PBS). A total of nine groups of the F₁ spermatozoa were formed (see Fig. 27):

(i) descendants from the unexposed group, *viz*. NC-NC (unexposed spermatozoa), NC-Px (penoxsulam-exposed spermatozoa) and NC-EMS (EMS-exposed spermatozoa);

(ii) descendants from the penoxsulam-exposed crayfish, *viz*. Px-NC (unexposed spermatozoa), Px-Px (penoxsulam-exposed spermatozoa) and Px-EMS (EMS-exposed spermatozoa);

(iii) descendants from the EMS-exposed crayfish, *viz*. EMS-NC (unexposed spermatozoa), EMS-Px (penoxsulam-exposed spermatozoa) and EMS-EMS (EMS-exposed spermatozoa).



Figure 27. Schematic representation of the intergenerational experiment involving the exposure of the red swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) to penoxsulam (Px; green line) and ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS; red line). Male (σ) and female (\mathfrak{P}) adults (F_0) were exposed during 7 days to Px or EMS. During this period, a control group (NC; blue line) was maintained in contaminant-free freshwater. After reproduction of the F_0 organisms (intra-group crosses), F_1 offspring was allowed to grow in uncontaminated water until adulthood (blue line). Spermatozoa samples of F_1 male adults were exposed in an *ex vivo* trial (2 h) to Px or EMS, and thereafter analyzed in comparison with a NC group (n=6 per treatment). **o** represents the end of the *ex vivo* exposure (sampling corresponding to data currently shown). Code references of the *ex vivo* exposed groups have the following interpretation: the first letters, before the hyphen, translate the parental exposure condition (F_0), *i.e.*, the history; the letters after the hyphen translate the condition of *ex vivo* spermatozoa exposure (F_1).

Cell viability was determined at the end of the assay by using the trypan blue exclusion method (Anderson et al., 2003; Strober, 2001). Thus, following 2 hours exposure, the sperm cell viability levels were above 90% in all experimental groups (Tice et al., 2000).

5.2.4 Cell preparation and genetic damage evaluation

At the end of the *ex vivo* exposures, the 2.0 mL microtubes containing cell suspensions were centrifuged at 200 *g*, for 5 min, at 4°C. Then, the supernatant was removed, and the pellet was resuspended in 2.0 mL of glycerol (10%) (Kwok et al., 2013) to carry out the freezing step (-20°C), for 48 h, to facilitate the cell lysis. This procedure is required since crayfish' spermatozoa is covered by an extracellular capsule, the spermatophore (Niksirat et al., 2013a, b). At the end of this step, samples were rapidly thawing at 37°C, the cryoprotectant solution was replaced by PBS, and the comet assay procedure was initiated.

The comet assay alkaline version was performed based on the method presented by Collins (2004) with slight modifications according to Lacaze et al. (2010) and Shaposhnikov et al. (2010). The incorporation of enzymes in the comet assay provided the opportunity to detect not only breaks but also specific lesions, such as oxidized bases (Collins, 2004). Specifically, FPG detects alkylated and oxidized bases (Azqueta and Collins, 2014; Speit et al., 2004) and has been used in several ecotoxicology studies to detect oxidative DNA damage in aquatic invertebrates (Braga et al., 2021; Costa et al., 2018; Gielazyn et al., 2003).

Briefly, 60 µL of cell suspension were resuspended in 70 µL low melting point agarose (1%; dissolved in PBS). Twelve drops (gels) with 6 µL of cell suspension were placed on a pre-coated glass slide with 1% of normal melting-point agarose (1%; dissolved in distilled water), as two rows of 6 gels (6 groups of two replicates), without coverslips, containing approximately 2.2x10³ cells/gel. Gels were left for 5 min at 4°C to let agarose polymerize and then immersed in a lysis solution (2.5 M NaCl, 0.1 M EDTA, 10 mM Tris, 1% Triton X-100, pH 10) overnight. To improve lysis step, slides with gels were washed for 5 min in cooled PBS to remove lysis solution and then incubated with proteinase K (40 µg mL⁻¹; dissolved in ultrapure water) in the dark, at 37°C, for 60 min.

Two sets of slides were prepared, after PK incubation: one was incubated with the endonuclease FPG, which converts oxidized purines into DNA single-strand breaks (Azqueta et al. 2009). Another set of slides was incubated only with endonuclease buffer (o.1 M KCl, o.5 mM EDTA, 40 mM HEPES, o.2 mg mL⁻¹ bovine serum albumin, pH 8). Slides were washed with this buffer for 3 times, 5 min each, at 4°C. Thirty µL of FPG (diluted in endonuclease buffer) were applied in each gel. Slides were then immediately incubated in the dark at 37°C, for 30 min, and then, gently placed in a horizontal electrophoresis tank, filled with freshly electrophoresis solution (o.3 M NaOH, 1 mM EDTA, pH 13), for alkaline treatment. DNA was then allowed to unwind for 40 min. Electrophoresis was performed under o.6 V cm⁻¹ for 24 min. Lysis, DNA unwinding, and electrophoresis were carried out in the dark, at 4°C. Once finished the electrophoresis, slides were washed in PBS (10 min), distilled water (10 min), and then fixed for 15 min in absolute ethanol.

Gels were stained with ethidium bromide (20 g L⁻¹). Fifty nucleoids per gel were scored, using an Olympus BX 41 fluorescence microscope (400× magnification).

The DNA damage was quantified by visual scoring, where nucleoids were grouped into five discrete comet intensity and length classes (ranging from class o, collecting nucleoids with no tail, to class 4 for nucleoids with almost all DNA in the tail; Collins 2004). A genetic damage indicator (GDI) was calculated as a major endpoint for each assay as follows:

$$GDI = \sum \% \text{ nucleoids class } i \times i$$

where *i* is the number of each defined class (ranging within o-4) and GDI values were inherently expressed as arbitrary units, in a scale of o-400 per 100 scored nucleoids. The difference between GDI_{FPG} (genetic damage indicator of slides treated with FPG) and GDI, corresponding to NSS_{FPG}, was calculated to indicate additional DNA breaks, which occur in net enzyme-sensitive sites solely (Azqueta et al. 2009).

5.2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with the software SigmaPlot[®] 14.0. Normality and homogeneity of variances were confirmed by Shapiro-Wilk's W and Brown-Forsythe (HOV) tests, respectively, to meet the required statistical demands. Two factors were considered: history (factor 1, reflects the parental exposure – F_0); treatment (factor 2, contemplates the treatment to which the F_1 gametes were submitted). Consequently, a two-way ANOVA were applied to assess the effects of each factor and the interaction of the factors in DNA' response. A two-way ANOVA on ranks was applied when the normality assumption failed. When the two-way ANOVA revealed a significant interaction between factors, simple main effects were assessed for each factor. Then, each ANOVA was followed by a post hoc Tukey test to compare groups within the same history factor, and by a post hoc Dunnett test to compare groups with the respective control within treatment factor. Differences between groups were considered significant when p < 0.05 (Zar, 2010).

5.3 Results

All the parameters (*i.e.*, GDI, GDI_{FPG}, NSS_{FPG}, GDI individual classes and GDI sub-total) showed a statistically significant interaction between the factor's "history" and "treatment" (Table 1). Therefore, the results presented below are based on the simple main effects analysis of each factor.

Table 1. Summary of the two-way ANOVA relative to the genetic damage indicators [including the analysis of the individual classes of GDI, the genetic damage indicator with an extra step of digestion with endonuclease FPG (GDI_{FPG}), and DNA breaks corresponding to net FPG sensitive sites (NSS_{FPG})] measured in the spermatozoa of *Procambarus clarkii* following an *ex vivo* exposure. Two factors were considered: history (reflects the parental exposure); treatment (contemplates the treatment to which the gametes were exposed). When the interaction between factors was significant the p value was marked bold.

Parameter	Source of Variation	df	MS	F	р
	History	2	14326.718	6.713	0.003
	Treatment	2	51877.377	24.307	<0.001
GDI	History x Treatment	4	36440.566	17.074	<0.001
	Residual	38	2134.255		
	Total	46	7090.122		
	History	2	4559.528	2.979	0.062
CDI	Treatment	2	58265.53	38.064	<0.001
GDIFPG	History x Treatment	4	11795.796	7.706	<0.001
	Residual	42	1530.706		
	Iotai	50	4742.389		
	History	2	1645.89	1,299	0.284
	Treatment	2	1287.798	1.016	0.371
NSSFPG	History x Treatment	4	4907.553	3.872	0.009
	, Residual	40	1267.435		
	Total	48	1601.789		
	History	2	714.171	10.62	<0.001
GDI Class 0	Treatment	2	1538.889	22.884	<0.001
	History x Treatment	4	352.371	5.24	0.002
	Residual	41	67.248		
	Total	49	188.969		
		-			
	History	2	417.418	1.792	0.179
GDI Class 1	Treatment	2	2811.401	12.07	<0.001
GDI Class I	History x Treatment	4	2052.828	8.813	<0.001
	Total	41	471 211		
	rotar	45	471.211		
	History	2	275.849	2.128	0.132
	Treatment	2	265.932	2.052	0.141
GDI Class 2	History x Treatment	4	530.518	4.093	0.007
	Residual	41	129.603		
	Total	49	173.755		
	History	2	498.848	3.357	0.045
	Treatment	2	1882.825	12.671	<0.001
GDI Class 3	History x Treatment	4	1458.766	9.817	<0.001
	Residual	41	148.59		
	Total	49	319.774		
	Liston	2	207 262	2 621	0.071
	Treatment	2	1176 004	2.021	<0.071
GDI Class 4	History x Treatment	4	808.378	7,672	<0.001
	Residual	41	105.372		
	Total	49	200.827		
	History	2	448.559	5.891	0.006
CDI C LL L	Treatment	2	1003.6	13.181	<0.001
(2+3+4)	History x Treatment	4	1190.6	15.637	<0.001
(2.0.1)	Residual	41	76.142		
	Total	49	212.439		

5.3.1 Genotoxicity assessment on spermatozoa with no influence of parental exposure

This section presents the results concerning the descendants of the F_0 unexposed group (NC) (Fig. 28: bars above blue arrow; Table 2: data aligned with the blue arrow), thus translating, simply, an unigenerational effect of the tested agents.

Non-specific DNA damage

No significant differences were observed in GDI levels between the spermatozoa exposed to Px and the negative control group (NC-Px = NC-NC; Fig. 2A). Considering the GDI individual classes (Table 2), the spermatozoa exposed to Px presented less nucleoids in the class o (no-damage) than the control group (NC-Px < NC-NC; 2.98-fold; p < 0.05). Moreover, the predominant classes of the Px group were class 1 (low damage) and class 2 (medium damage) (Table 2).

Spermatozoa exposed to EMS (model genotoxicant) presented higher GDI values when compared to the negative control group (NC-EMS > NC-NC; 2.25-fold; p < 0.001; Fig. 28A). The analysis of the individual classes of damage on the spermatozoa exposed to EMS showed that the classes o and 1, from the gametes belonging to the control group, were significantly lower (NC-EMS < NC-NC; p < 0.05, p < 0.01, respectively; Table 2); the classes 3 and 4 were predominant, while the sum of nucleoids corresponding to the damaged classes (represented by the sub-total) was significantly higher than the control group (NC-EMS > NC-NC; p < 0.01; Table 2).

Oxidative DNA lesions

Concerning the oxidative DNA damage resulting from the exposure of F_1 spermatozoa (Fig. 28B), a pattern similar to that above described for GDI parameter was observed comparing the exposed groups and the negative control, *i.e.*, no significant

differences were observed on GDI_{FPG} values (NC-Px = NC-NC), while EMS-exposed gametes presented 2.15-fold higher GDI_{FPG} values than the unexposed spermatozoa (NC-EMS > NC-NC; p < 0.01). No statistically significant differences were observed considering the NSS_{FPG} parameter (Fig. 2C).





Figure 28. Genotoxic assessment on spermatozoa of F₁ crayfish. Mean values of DNA damage measured by comet assay on male gametes of *P. clarkii*. F₁ spermatozoa of descendants from F₀ unexposed penoxsulam-exposed, and ethyl methanesulfonate-exposed (EMS) groups were currently exposed to 23 µg L¹ of penoxsulam (Px; green) or to 5 mg L¹ of EMS (red) and compared to the respective negative control group (NC; blue). (A) Genetic damage indicator as non-specific DNA damage (GDI); (B) global and partial DNA damage (GDI_{FPG}), *i.e.*, GDI and additional strand breaks corresponding to net FPG-sensitive sites (NSS_{FPG}; striped area); (C) NSS_{FPG}. Bars represent the standard error. Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are: (*) vs. NC, within the same history group; (◆) vs. other history group within the same treatment.

5.3.2 Assessment of the parental exposure impact on F₁ unexposed spermatozoa (intergenerational genotoxicity)

This point presents the results regarding specifically the cell groups unexposed in F_1 , but with an history of exposure (*i.e.*, F_0 exposed to Px and F_0 exposed to EMS) (NC; Fig. 28 blue bars; Table 2: data highlighted in blue). The statistical analyses here described allow the singly identification of the impact of parental exposure (or history) on the spermiotoxicity expressed on the following generation. As mentioned above, the results from the two-way ANOVA showed that the effects of the treatment in the studied parameters depend on the factor "history" (Table 1).

Non-specific DNA damage

Considering the GDI parameter, no differences were observed between the three NC groups of F_1 (*i.e.*, Px-NC = NC-NC and EMS-NC = NC-NC; Fig. 28A).

Similarly, the analysis of the GDI individual classes, among the unexposed F_1 groups, showed no differences between the descendants of exposed groups and the descendants of unexposed group (*i.e.*, Px-NC = NC-NC and EMS-NC = NC-NC; Table 2).

Oxidative DNA lesions

Spermatozoa of NC group (F_1) descending from F_0 EMS-exposed group presented significantly higher GDI_{FPG} values than those descending from unexposed (EMS-NC > NC-NC; 1.75-fold; p < 0.05) and Px-exposed (EMS-NC > Px-NC; 0.99-fold; p < 0.05) groups (Fig. 28B). No significant differences were found in the NSS_{FPG} parameter comparing F_1 unexposed spermatozoa (NC) groups (Fig. 28C).

Table 2. Mean frequencies (%) of damaged nucleoid classes (±standard error), measured by comet assay on male gametes of *P. clarkii*. Descendants from F₀ unexposed (—), penoxsulam-exposed (Px; —), and ethyl methanesulfonate-exposed (EMS; —) groups were currently exposed to 23 µg·L⁻¹ of penoxsulam (highlighted green) or to 5 mg·L⁻¹ of EMS (highlighted red) and compared to the control groups (NC; highlighted blue).
Statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) are: (*) vs. NC within history group; (◆) vs. groups within same treatment with different history.

	GDI - DNA damage classes															
	0		1	1		2		3			4		Sub-tota)		
NC-NC	11.17	± 3.44	43.8	5 ± 2.93		25.17	± 4.09		14.19	± 1.14		5.61 ±	2.11	44.97 ±	5.61	
NC-Px	3.75	± 2.55*	36.3	7 ± 9.01	1	34.38	± 5.89	77	17.59	± 7.79		7.92 ±	3.91	59.88 ±	11.05	1
NC-EMS	0.00	± 0.00*	2.22	± 0.22	* -	4.07	± 0.93	1	747.40	± 15.40)* _¬	46.31 ±	14.69*	97.78 ±	0.22*	-
			•		•			•	•					•		•
Px-NC	24.24	± 5.27	49.3	9 ± 2.36		19.78	± 3.78		4.54	± 1.57		2.06 ±	1.42	26.37 ±	6.11	
Px-Px	29.53	± 6.80 ⁼	60.1	5 ± 8.26	-	7.64	± 2.06		1.66	± 0.71		1.00 ±	1.00]	10.30 ±	3.42	
Px-EMS	0.00	± 0.00 *	4.71	± 2.67	*]	21.60	± 7.96		45.33	± 6.80	*	28.36 ±	6.85*	95.29 ±	2.67*	
			•		•.				•							•
EMS-NC	11.67	± 4.01	35.5	0 ± 6.78		29.17	± 2.95		16.83	± 7.40		2.83 ±	1.60	48.83 ±	9.68	
EMS-Px	0.67	± 0.67*-	31.3	3 ± 5.10	1	21.33	± 2.09	JJ	18.67	± 2.81		22.17 ±	2.82 *	62.17 ±	4.67	1
EMS-EMS	0.33	± 0.33*	43.3	3 ± 8.69	1.	21.83	± 5.53		7.83	± 3.66		8.50 ±	4.10	38.17 ±	12.73	

5.3.3 Genotoxicity assessment on exposed spermatozoa under the influence of parental exposure

This point presents the results of the exposed spermatozoa (Px and EMS) of F_1 crayfish descending from the F_0 exposed groups (*i.e.*, F_0 exposed to Px and F_0 exposed to EMS). The results here putted on the spotlight allow the identification of the combined effect of parental (indirect) and current (direct) exposures. Again, the results of the two-way ANOVA showed that the effects of the treatment in the studied parameters depend on the factor "history" (Table 1).

Non-specific DNA damage

Px-exposed spermatozoa of F_1 crayfish descendants from F_0 Px-exposed group (Px-Px) presented lower GDI values (2.59-fold) than those descending from F_0 unexposed (Px-Px < NC-Px; 2.44-fold; p < 0.01) and EMS-exposed (Px-Px < EMS-Px; p < 0.01) groups (Fig. 28A). The F_1 descendants from the F_0 Px-exposed group presented a higher GDI value (2.80-fold) following EMS exposure when compared to the unexposed group (Px-EMS > Px-NC; p < 0.01). The analysis of the DNA damage individual classes (Table 2) also showed that the Px-exposed group, from crayfish descendants of F_0 Px-exposed group, presented more nucleoids in the class 1 (Px-Px > EMS-Px), and less gametes in the damaged classes (classes 2, 3 and 4), than the groups Px-exposed spermatozoa from F_0 EMS-exposed group (Px-Px < EMS-Px) and the Px-exposed spermatozoa from F_0 unexposed group (Px-Px < NC-Px).

Considering the descendants of F_0 EMS-exposed group (Fig. 28A), data showed that the Px-exposed spermatozoa presented a GDI value significantly higher than the unexposed spermatozoa (EMS-Px > EMS-NC; 1.40-fold; p < 0.05). The EMS-exposed spermatozoa from crayfish descendant of F_0 EMS-exposed group presented lower GDI values (2.15-fold) than the EMS-exposed spermatozoa from F_0 Px-exposed group (EMS-EMS < Px-EMS; p < 0.01; Fig. 28A) as well as than the EMS-exposed spermatozoa from F_0

unexposed group (EMS-EMS < NC-EMS; 2.34-fold; p < 0.01; Fig. 28A). In Table 2 (highlighted red data), it is possible to observe in the results of the analysis of the GDI individual classes that the EMS-exposed spermatozoa from descendants of F_0 EMS-exposed group presented less gametes in the damaged classes than the spermatozoa of crayfish from F_0 Px-exposed group (EMS-EMS < Px-EMS; 2.15-fold; p < 0.01) and the EMS-exposed spermatozoa from F_0 unexposed group (EMS-EMS < NC-EMS; 2.50-fold; p < 0.01).

Oxidative DNA lesions

No significant differences in the GDI_{FPG} parameter were observed between the Px-exposed gametes from groups with different exposure histories (Fig. 28B). However, the Px-exposed spermatozoa of crayfish descendants of F_o Px-exposed group presented higher NSS_{FPG} values than the Px-exposed spermatozoa from crayfish descendants of F_o EMS-exposed group (Fig. 28C; Px-Px > EMS-Px; p < 0.05).

In what regards to the descendants of F_0 Px-exposed group (Fig. 28B), the Pxexposed and the EMS-exposed spermatozoa presented higher GDI_{FPG} values than the unexposed male gametes (Px-Px > Px-NC and Px-EMS > Px-NC; 1.62-fold and 3.22-fold, respectively). Even though, only the Px-exposed spermatozoa presented higher NSS_{FPG} values (Fig. 28C) than the unexposed group (Px-Px > Px-NC; 6.33-fold; p < 0.05).

Considering the EMS-exposed spermatozoa (Fig. 28B), statistically significant differences were observed in the GDI_{FPG} parameter between the group descendant from F_0 Px-exposed and the group descendant from the F_0 unexposed (Px-EMS > NC-EMS; 1.48-fold higher; p < 0.01) and F_0 EMS-exposed (Px-EMS > EMS-EMS; 1.57-fold higher; p < 0.01). The EMS-exposed spermatozoa, from descendants of F_0 EMS-exposed group, presented higher NSS_{FPG} values (6.04-fold; p < 0.05) than the EMS-exposed gametes from descendants of F_0 Px-exposed group (EMS-EMS > Px-EMS; Fig. 28C).
No significant differences in the GDI_{FPG} and the NSS_{FPG} were observed between groups descendants from the F₀ EMS-exposed (Fig. 28B and C).

5.4 Discussion

The real impact of genotoxicants on populations can only be predicted by perceiving the consequences on the offspring. Since there is the possibility of the parental exposure to a contaminant inflict a genotoxic effect in the progeny, the knowledge of these effects, and how they might be transmitted (parental exposure memory), is crucial to understand the vulnerability and/or the resistance in the following generation, which might be extrapolated to the actual impact on the population. So, the impact of a parental exposure in the spermatozoa DNA integrity of offspring, considering both non-specific and oxidative DNA damage, was considered in the present work.

During mating in wild, at a given moment and even during a short period of time, the spermatozoa of *P. clarkii* (a species with external fertilization) are in direct contact to the surrounding water, exposing them to the waterborne contaminants (Marçal et al., 2020). Thus, the currently adopted *ex vivo* approach, in addition to represent a cell-based methodology alternative to *in vivo* approaches, can also mimic what happens on the aquatic environment with this particular type of cells. Moreover, it allows a high-throughput toxicological screening, simplifying complex-toxicology trials into low-cost and low-time consuming assays, providing a larger volume of relevant information with a reduced number of organisms (Marçal et al., 2020), thereby minimizing ethical issues related to the use of animals in experimentation.

The above-mentioned principles were central in the planning of this research but an approach exclusively *ex vivo* won't allow an intergenerational assessment. Hence, the study was designed with the combination of *in vivo* (F_0) and *ex vivo* (F_1) approaches.

5.4.1 How is DNA integrity of spermatozoa affected by a genotoxic challenge in the absence of a parental exposure?

In the present work, groups without parental exposure memory represent a scenario in which a given crayfish population faces, for the first time, a genotoxic pressure.

The genotoxic potential of penoxsulam, at environmental concentrations, to aquatic invertebrates was already reported (Marçal et al., 2020; Patetsini et al., 2013). Patetsini and co-workers (2013) observed a loss of DNA integrity in hemocytes of Mytilus *galloprovincialis* after an *in vivo* exposure (0.05 µg L⁻¹ of penoxsulam). Besides, an increase of DNA breaks was observed in crayfish somatic cells (gills and hepatopancreas) and male gametes following penoxsulam *in vivo* exposure (23 µg L⁻¹ of penoxsulam) (Marçal et al. 2022). Marçal et al. (2020) also observed a decrease of DNA integrity in crayfish sperm cells after an ex vivo exposure to penoxsulam, which was not confirmed by the present observations. The main differences between our current and previous (Marçal et al., 2020) studies that can explain an apparent divergence is that, presently, F₁ generation was born and developed in laboratory conditions, in contrast with a wild population captured from a referenced pesticide-free local. It appears that maintenance in the laboratory for one generation created a different predisposition to cope with the herbicide exposure. Furthermore, this reinforces the idea that parental history influences the DNA susceptibility to penoxsulam. Though no Px-induced DNA damage (including oxidative) was presently detected, the previous data and the current analysis of DNA damage classes individually (showing that almost 60% of the gametes had their DNA damaged) suggest that its genotoxic potential should not be disregarded.

EMS has been used as a model genotoxicant in invertebrate studies (*e.g.* Carmona et al., 2011; Costa et al., 2018; Kumar et al., 2014). Despite none of the studies had evaluated specifically its genotoxic effects on spermatozoa, a previous *in vivo* experiment performed by the authors (Marçal et al. 2022) demonstrated a DNA

damaging action on crayfish spermatozoa. Thus, the DNA damage found on male gametes during the present study (more than 90% of cells had their DNA affected), following an *ex vivo* EMS exposure, was expected.

No oxidized DNA bases were found in the sperm cells after the EMS *ex vivo* exposure. This outcome was somehow surprising, once the oxidative potential of this agent to the sperm cells of the red swamp crayfish was observed in an *in vivo* preceding study (Marçal et al. 2022). However, many variables may be behind this difference in the results of the two studies, namely: (i) the animals have different origins/historical profiles (animals in the previous work were sampled in the field, whereas those used in the present work were born and developed under laboratory conditions); (ii) the mode of exposure, as in the previous work the crayfish were exposed *in vivo* and in the present work the endonuclease III (which detects oxidized pyrimidine bases), while in the present work it was the FPG [which detects oxidized purine bases such as 8-oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodGuo), the major DNA oxidation product] (Collins and Azqueta, 2012). The 8-oxodGuo was detected in the male gonads of the Pacific oyster (Barranger et al., 2016) after *in vivo* exposure to diuron.

5.4.2 How is DNA integrity of spermatozoa impacted by a parental exposure to genotoxic pressures?

Response profile of F₁ spermatozoa under a current contaminant-free environment (intergenerational genotoxicity)

The presence of toxic compounds in the aquatic environment may be ubiquitous and frequent, despite not necessarily continuous (temporally and spatially). Adding this to the crayfish behavior (*e.g.*, performing relatively long displacements), the exposure to contaminants could be temporally circumscribed and followed by a period of permanence in non-contaminated areas (Loureiro et al., 2015). In fact, if the

contamination is perceived, organisms may be able to avoid it (Wilding and Maltby, 2006). Moreover, behavior traits like avoidance and burrowing have been proposed as sensitive indicators of contaminant effects (Beiras, 2018). Bearing this in mind, a scenario where the spermatozoa from F_1 crayfish, descending from F_0 exposed organisms, might be released in a nonpolluted environment is realistic. Conceivably because of this, but not only, many of the inter- and transgenerational studies carried out trials with similar frameworks (Anway et al., 2005; Vandegehuchte et al., 2009b).

It has been observed that the herbicide diuron induced structural DNA lesions in spermatozoa of F_0 Pacific oyster (*C. gigas*) with a negative impact in offspring, namely on F_1 recruitment (decreased hatching rate, higher levels of larvae abnormalities and reduced larvae growth) (Barranger et al., 2014; 2016). Unfortunately, no information about DNA integrity of adult' oyster belonging to F_1 was provided by these studies, lacking a link with the following generations in that regard. The assessment of DNA integrity on F_1 organisms is valuable once the quality of the spermatozoon' DNA have a great impact on their reproductive success and also on the F_2 embryos development (Herráez et al., 2017).

In the present study, no genotoxic effects exclusively attributable to parental exposure were observed, indicating that the F_0 exposure to penoxsulam (as well as to EMS) did not affect the DNA integrity of F_1 unexposed spermatozoa. Furthermore, concerning the parental exposure to penoxsulam, the results showed that it did not induce oxidative DNA damage in the F_1 unexposed spermatozoa.

Differently, the parental exposure to EMS increased the oxidized bases on the crayfish' spermatozoa, depicted in the GDI_{FPG} outcomes; it should be noted that this loss of DNA integrity in the spermatozoa was not observed for non-specific DNA damage. As mentioned above, EMS tends to interfere with guanine bases (Drabløs et al., 2004) and the FPG recognizes and removes alkylated and oxidized purine bases (Azqueta and Collins, 2014; Speit et al., 2004). So, this result points to an intergenerational transmission

of a spermiotoxic vulnerability only concerning the oxidative DNA damage associated to the history of exposure to EMS.

Response profile of F₁ spermatozoa under the exposure to an agent coinciding with the parental exposure

In this point, it is approached an environmentally realistic scenario predictive, for instance, of the responses of crayfish inhabiting a rice field where penoxsulam-based formulations are used every year (Costa et al., 2018), thereby provoking the exposure of consecutive generations. In other words, it concerns the assessment of the effect of Px (and EMS) on the spermatozoa of F_1 organisms whose progenitors (F_0) were also exposed to the same agent.

The history of penoxsulam-exposure seems to provide some protection to the offspring also exposed to the herbicide considering non-specific DNA damage, since, although organisms without parental history showed no effects, they still displayed higher DNA strand breaks than those (also exposed to the herbicide) descending from penoxsulam-exposed parents. On the other hand, this group (Px-Px) was the only where an increase of oxidative DNA bases (as NSS_{FPG}) was detected. So, while it appears that parental memory to the herbicide can make DNA less vulnerable to penoxsulam, the observed oxidative DNA damage (detectable here in the presence of FPG) points to a silent danger that could manifest itself later and endanger the F₁ generation. Despite the lack of studies addressing oxidative DNA damage on invertebrate sperm cells, several woks reported a particular vulnerability of spermatozoa DNA to oxidation, as a consequence of their limited capacity for DNA repair [well studied in mammalian spermatozoa (Smith et al., 2013; Xavier et al., 2019), but also reported in invertebrates (Erraud et al., 2019; Lacaze et al., 2011; Lewis and Galloway, 2009)]. Therefore, it may be predicted an instability of the sperm genome endangering Px-exposed populations.

Concerning the acquisition of resistance in pesticide-exposed populations, Rahman et al. (2010) observed that the insect diamondback moth (Plutella xylostella), under continuous selection pressure, developed a metabolic resistance to the pesticide emamectin benzoate. Furthermore, in this study it was shown that the first step towards establishment of resistance does not have a genetic background but is rather based on alterations of the immune and metabolic status transmitted as an epigenetic maternal effect (Rahman et al., 2010). Although the mechanisms behind the acquisition of resistance are not known, the invasive pest beetle Leptinotarsa decemlineata is often repeatedly subjected to insecticides, and, in spite of the use of high doses that may be lethal and, consequently, induce a strong selection pressure, the exposure to mild and sublethal levels may lead the exposed beetles and their descendants to evolved traits that increase their pesticide-stress management and survival (Margus et al., 2019). Another study points that the exposure to the insecticide imidacloprid induced a sensitivity decrease in two subsequent generations (F_1 and F_2) of the Asian tiger mosquito (Aedes albopictus), suggesting that a resistance was acquired (Oppold et al., 2015). However, parental exposure does not always have a beneficial impact, as shown by the study of Ishimota and Tomiyama (2019) where the F_1 neonates of Scapholeberis kingi (descendants from a F_o insecticide-exposed group; pyraclofos and pirimicarb) were more sensitive to the insecticide exposure than the respective control group (descendant from a F_o non-exposed group).

On the basis of the current data, it is not discernible a clear pattern of heritance, since the influence of Px parental memory on crayfish assumes different facets depending on the type of DNA damage considered. In contrast, the parental exposure to EMS allowed crayfish to acquire the development of DNA protection mechanisms that granted the adaptation to the same genotoxicant stimulus, explaining the lack of DNA integrity loss after a direct exposure to EMS.

Response profile of F₁ spermatozoa under the exposure to an agent different from that of parental exposure

In this point it is discussed what happens to the spermatozoa DNA of F_1 crayfish when exposed to a different agent, comparing to the one to which their parents (F_0) were exposed. This rationale supports the assessment of how a parental exposure may modulate the genotoxic response to an "unknown" (the concept of "unknown" here applied considers the present and precedents generations) DNA integrity challenge. To the authors' knowledge, there are no studies addressing this topic.

In this representative scenario, the spermatozoa exposed to EMS showed no interference of the Px-exposure history, while those exposed to Px revealed compromised DNA integrity in the presence of an EMS-exposure history, pointing out an increased risk. Moreover, it should be highlighted that this was the only scenario (EMS-Px) where the herbicide induced a significant loss of DNA integrity measured as non-specific DNA damage.

The non-specific damage considered herein, namely single and double strand breaks (SSBs and DSBs) can be a product of the direct or indirect interaction of environmental, physical and/or chemical agents as well as ROS (reactive oxygen species) and/or free radicals and cellular molecules (Chatterjee and Walker, 2017; Tiwari et al., 2017). It is well stablished that these DNA lesions may initiate mutations and other genomic instabilities, carcinogenesis, and ageing (Tiwari et al., 2017). In addition, environmental pollutants, such as pesticides, can change genome function through epigenetic mechanisms involving DNA methylation, miRNA expression, and histone modifications (Collotta et al., 2013). The alteration of DNA methylation patterns will induce destabilizing changes in gene expression patterns, potentially leading to cell transformation and tumorigenesis (Collotta et al., 2013). For instance, in mammals, alterations of DNA methylation patterns, such as global genome hypomethylation and promoter hypermethylation of CpG islands of specific genes, have been increasingly

found in different types of tumors (Laird, 2005). In invertebrates, an intergenerational study with *P. clarkii* also demonstrated that the parental exposure to penoxsulam induced hypomethylation in their prole (Marçal et al., 2021). Brevik et al., (2020) found that the exposure of *Leptinotarsa decemlineata* to an insecticide decreased the global DNA methylation on F_0 and F_2 organisms, also revealing that many methylation changes occur within genes associated with insecticide resistance. miRNA alterations can also be related with insecticide (indoxacarb) resistance in *Spodoptera litura* (Shi et al., 2019).

In mammals, the predisposition to disease can be determined by factors other than genetic background and it has been suggested that it could be transgenerationally inherited through sperm miRNAs (Cruz et al., 2020). miRNA profiles have been studied in sperm cells of mice (Cruz et al., 2020) and rats (Herst et al., 2019). Cruz and her coworkers (2020) observed that the pre-conception paternal exposure to the pesticide DDT modulates the sperm non-coding RNA load of F₁, particularly miRNAs. Herst et al. (2019) observed that the effects of parental exposure to persistent organic pollutants (POP) on sperm miRNA profiles induce effects until F₃ generation. The sperm miRNAs that were affected by POPs alone are known to target genes involved in mammary gland and embryonic organ development in F₁, sex differentiation and reproductive system development in F₂ as well as cognition and brain development in F₃ (Herst et al., 2019).

Histone modifications could change the chromatin structure, impacting the degree of DNA exposure to damaging agents (Williamson et al., 2018). That is, more compact chromatin is more resistant to DNA damage and protected from DSBs (Williamson et al., 2018). A recent study developed by Chen and co-workers (2020) on the identification of histone proteins in spermiogenesis of Decapoda species, including the *P. clarkii*, ponder that the sperm nuclear histone distribution may play a role in the fertilization process. This is because similar nonmotile sperm, as in *Caenorhabditis elegans*, have demonstrated that genome is packaged by a nucleosome structure and carries a histone-based epigenetic memory that can effectively guide embryonic

development in offspring (Tabuchi et al., 2018). These observations demonstrate that epigenetic information carried by sperm histone modifications can regulate offspring gene expression and development (Chen et al., 2020).

The previously invoked mechanisms are likely to be on the basis of the intergenerational inheritance patterns demonstrated in *P. clarkii*. However, the identification of a particular mechanism based on the present data would be purely speculative, so the pathways described in other animal groups and contexts should be understood as clues to be explored in future investigations.

The results of the present study showed that the heritance profile is compoundspecific, highlighting the complexity of the "parental memory" concept in aquatic invertebrates, but also the need to be further and deeply explored, namely disclosing the (epi)genetic mechanisms involved. Moreover, pesticides are commonly applied as commercial products, frequently with intricate chemical formulations, rather than as active components individually. Therefore, in upcoming investigations, a penoxsulambased commercial herbicide, *e.g.* Viper[®], might be studied, as well as the potential additive, synergistic, or antagonistic effects of the formulation on the sperm DNA could be determined. Additionally, and considering the experimental methodology chosen, there is a gap in the evaluation of the inherent effects of the corresponding metabolites generated by active compounds decomposition in the environment, which is also an approach ecologically relevant.

The impact of toxicants in descendants through parental exposure can be markedly affected by individual variations. In this direction, the use of a small number of sperm donors (2 per treatment) can not be overlooked when the extrapolation to the whole population is attempted. However, putting on the scales the sample representativeness and the effort towards the reduction of animals' use, it was privileged the latter, trying to maximize the information obtained from each animal, aware that the option does not significantly compromise the relevance of the data. It should be

highlighted that, adopting the current experimental design, a 9-fold reduction on the number of animals sacrificed (6 crayfish instead of 54 that would be required for the equivalent experiment adopting an *in vivo* approach) was achieved. This complies with the reduction goal of the 3R's principles.

Further research exposing spermatozoa with intact spermatophores to environmental stresses is advised to clarify their protective role against potential genotoxins in freshwater crayfish prior to fertilization. This is because spermatozoa in crayfish during and after mating are protected against environmental stresses by the spermatophore layers.

5.5 Conclusions

In an attempt to unveil the nexus between parental exposure to toxicants and heritable spermiotoxicity, the current data demonstrated that a memory of Px (as well as EMS) exposure, by itself, does not pose a risk to spermatozoa DNA integrity in the offspring if exempt from any genotoxic challenge. However, if the following generation (F_1) is targeted by potentially DNA damaging agents, the heritance emerges, though displaying multifaceted profiles. Hence, the heritance of a parental exposure to Px in a Px-exposed offspring showed somewhat contradictory patterns, depending on the type of DNA damage, where the clearest effect was an increased vulnerability to oxidative lesions. Differently, the reverberation of EMS exposure in F_0 and F_1 allowed the development of DNA damage in spermatozoa and unveiling life history as a toxicological shield.

The intergenerational impact of a parental exposure to an agent different from that to which the present generation is subjected showed to be adverse and decisively affecting the spermiotoxic potential of Px (only detected with a background of parental

exposure to EMS). This points out life history as a shadow to progeny. Given the complexity of the aquatic contamination scenarios, involving complex mixtures, the scenario here invoked can be assumed as the most realistic among those tested, thereby demonstrating the potential of Px to affect wild *P. clarkii* populations, in particular through a spermiotoxic action.

References

- Akcha, F., Barranger, A., and Bachère, E. (2021). Genotoxic and epigenetic effects of diuron in the Pacific oyster: *in vitro* evidence of interaction between DNA damage and DNA methylation. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 28(7), 8266–8280. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-11021-6.
- Amini, M. (2014). Ethyl Methanesulfonate. In Encyclopedia of Toxicology: Third Edition. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386454-3.01124-6.
- Anderson, D., Schmid, T. E., and Baumgartner, A. (2014). Male-mediated developmental toxicity. Asian Journal of Andrology, 16(1), 81. https://doi.org/10.4103/1008-682X.122342.
- Anderson, D., Schmid, T. E., Baumgartner, A., Cemeli-Carratala, E., Brinkworth, M. H., and Wood, J. M. (2003). Oestrogenic compounds and oxidative stress (in human sperm and lymphocytes in the comet assay). Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis, 544(2–3), 173–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2003.06.016.
- Anway, M. D., Cupp, A. S., Uzumcu, N., and Skinner, M. K. (2005). Toxicology: Epigenetic transgenerational actions of endocrine disruptors and male fertility. Science, 308(5727), 1466–1469. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1108190.
- Arizza, V., Di Fazio, G., Celi, M., Parrinello, N., and Vazzana, M. (2009). Cadmium, Copper and Tributyltin effects on fertilization of *Paracentrotus lividus* (Echinodermata). Italian Journal of Animal Science, 8(SUPPL 2), 839–841. https://doi.org/10.4081/ijas.2009.s2.839.
- Azqueta, A., and Collins, A. R. (2014). The comet assay: high throughput use of FPG (pp. 199–217). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-1068-7_12.
- Azqueta, A., Shaposhnikov, S., and Collins, A. R. (2009). DNA oxidation: Investigating its key role in environmental mutagenesis with the comet assay. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 674(1–2), 101– 108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2008.10.013.
- Barranger, A., Akcha, F., Rouxel, J., Brizard, R., Maurouard, E., Pallud, M., Menard, D., Tapie, N., Budzinski, H., Burgeot, T., and Benabdelmouna, A. (2014). Study of genetic damage in the Japanese oyster induced by an environmentallyrelevant exposure to diuron: Evidence of vertical transmission of DNA damage. Aquatic Toxicology, 146(January), 93–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2013.10.032.
- Barranger, Audrey, Heude-Berthelin, C., Rouxel, J., Adeline, B., Benabdelmouna, A., Burgeot, T., and Akcha, F. (2016). Parental exposure to the herbicide diuron results in oxidative DNA damage to germinal cells of the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea* gigas. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part - C: Toxicology and Pharmacology, 180, 23–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2015.11.002.
- Bates, S. L., Zhao, J. Z., Roush, R. T., and Shelton, A. M. (2005). Insect resistance management in GM crops: Past, present and future. In Nature Biotechnology (Vol. 23, Issue 1, pp. 57–62). Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1056.
- Beiras, R. (2018). Sublethal toxicity at the level of organism. In Marine Pollution. Sources, Fate and Effects of Pollutants in Coastal Ecosystems (pp. 233–245). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813736-9.00014-3.
- Bolognesi, C., and Hayashi, M. (2011). Micronucleus assay in aquatic animals. Mutagenesis, 26(1), 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/geq073.

- Braga, A. C., Marçal, R., Marques, A., Guilherme, S., Vilariño, Ó., Martins, J. M. L., Gago-Martínez, A., Costa, P. R., and Pacheco, M. (2021). Invasive clams (*Ruditapes philippinarum*) are better equipped to deal with harmful algal blooms toxins than native species (*R. decussatus*): evidence of species-specific toxicokinetics and DNA vulnerability. Science of the Total Environment, 767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144887.
- Brausch, J. M., and Smith, P. N. (2009). Pesticide resistance from historical agricultural chemical exposure in *Thamnocephalus* platyurus (Crustacea: Anostraca). Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex: 1987), 157(2), 481–487. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2008.09.010.
- Brevik, K., Bueno, E. M., McKay, S., Schoville, S. D., and Chen, Y. H. (2020). Insecticide exposure affects intergenerational patterns of DNA methylation in the Colorado potato beetle, *Leptinotarsa decemlineata*. Evolutionary Applications, 14(3), 746. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.13153.
- Byrne, M., Foo, S. A., Ross, P. M., and Putnam, H. M. (2020). Limitations of cross- and multigenerational plasticity for marine invertebrates faced with global climate change. global change biology, 26(1), 80–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14882.
- Canty, M. N., Hutchinson, T. H., Brown, R. J., Jones, M. B., and Jha, A. N. (2009). Linking genotoxic responses with cytotoxic and behavioural or physiological consequences: Differential sensitivity of echinoderms (*Asterias rubens*) and marine molluscs (*Mytilus edulis*). Aquatic Toxicology, 94(1), 68–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.06.001.
- Carmona, E. R., Guecheva, T. N., Creus, A., and Marcos, R. (2011). Proposal of an *in vivo* comet assay using haemocytes of *Drosophila melanogaster*. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 52(2), 165–169. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.20604.
- Carroll, J., and Marangos, P. (2013). The DNA damage response in mammalian oocytes. Frontiers in Genetics, 4(JUN), 117. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2013.00117/bibtex.
- Castro-Valencia, A., Arce-Ruiz, R. M., and Saiz-Hernández, J. A. (2019). Status of the peninsular Spanish basins according to the quality of their bodies of water. 5th International Congress on Water, Waste and Energy Management (WWEM-19).
- Cavas, T. (2011). *In vivo* genotoxicity evaluation of atrazine and atrazine-based herbicide on fish *Carassius auratus* using the micronucleus test and the comet assay. Food and Chemical Toxicology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2011.03.038.
- Chatterjee, N., and Walker, G. C. (2017). Mechanisms of DNA damage, repair and mutagenesis. Environ Mol Mutagen, 58(5), 253–263. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.22087.
- Chen, T., Mu, S., Sun, Z., Zhang, H., Li, C., Guo, M., Li, Y., Kang, X., and Wang, Z. (2020). Spermiogenic histone transitions and chromatin decondensation in Decapoda. Theriogenology, 156, 242–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2020.07.003.
- Cleary, J. A., Tillitt, D. E., vom Saal, F. S., Nicks, D. K., Claunch, R. A., and Bhandari, R. K. (2019). Atrazine induced transgenerational reproductive effects in medaka (*Oryzias latipes*). Environmental Pollution, 251, 639–650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.05.013.
- Collins, A. R. (2004). The Comet Assay for DNA Damage and Repair. Mol Biotechnol., 26(3), 249–261. https://doi.org/10.1385/mb:26:3:249.
- Collins, A. R., and Azqueta, A. (2012). Single-cell gel electrophoresis combined with lesion-specific enzymes to measure oxidative damage to DNA. Methods in Cell Biology, 112(C), 69–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-405914-6.00004-4.

- Collotta, M., Bertazzi, P. A., and Bollati, V. (2013). Epigenetics and pesticides. Toxicology, 307, 35–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2013.01.017.
- Costa, R., Pereira, J. L., Santos, M. A., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2018). The role of contamination history and gender on the genotoxic responses of the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* to a penoxsulam-based herbicide. Ecotoxicology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-018-1948-y.
- Cruz, R. S., Cao, H., Fontelles, C. C., Nasir, A., Krebs, A., Cruz, M. I., Jin, L., and Assis, S. de. (2020). Paternal exposure to the pesticide DDT induces intergenerational programming of breast cancer predisposition via sperm miRNA. BioRxiv, 2020.03.23.004135. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.03.23.004135.
- DGAV. (2015). Guia dos Produtos Fitofarmacêuticos. Lista dos produtos com venda autorizada. 1–249.
- Donelan, S. C., and Trussell, G. C. (2015). Parental effects enhance risk tolerance and performance in offspring. Ecology, 96(8), 2049–2055. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-1773.1.
- Donelson, J. M., Salinas, S., Munday, P. L., and Shama, L. N. S. (2018). Transgenerational plasticity and climate change experiments: Where do we go from here? In Global Change Biology. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13903.
- Drabløs, F., Feyzi, E., Aas, P. A., Vaagbø, C. B., Kavli, B., Bratlie, M. S., Peña-Diaz, J., Otterlei, M., Slupphaug, G., and Krokan, H. E. (2004). Alkylation damage in DNA and RNA—repair mechanisms and medical significance. DNA Repair, 3(11), 1389–1407. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2004.05.004.
- Erraud, A., Bonnard, M., Geffard, O., Coulaud, R., Poret, A., Duflot, A., Forget-Leray, J., Geffard, A., and Xuereb, B. (2019). Signification of DNA integrity in sperm of *Palaemon serratus* (Pennant 1777): Kinetic responses and reproduction impairment. Marine Environmental Research, 144, 130–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2019.01.005.
- Esposito, M. C., Boni, R., Cuccaro, A., Tosti, E., and Gallo, A. (2020). Sperm motility impairment in free spawning invertebrates under near-Future level of ocean acidification: uncovering the mechanism. Frontiers in Marine Science, 6, 794. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2019.00794.
- Fallet, M., Luquet, E., David, P., and Cosseau, C. (2020). Epigenetic inheritance and intergenerational effects in mollusks. Gene, 729, 144166. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GENE.2019.144166.
- Favret, K. P., and Lynn, J. W. (2010). Flow-cytometric analyses of viability biomarkers in pesticide-exposed sperm of three aquatic invertebrates. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 58(4), 973–984. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00244-009-9410-z.
- Fidder, B. N., Reátegui-Zirena, E. G., Olson, A. D., and Salice, C. J. (2016). Energetic endpoints provide early indicators of life history effects in a freshwater gastropod exposed to the fungicide, pyraclostrobin. Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex : 1987), 211, 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVPOL.2015.12.018.
- Gielazyn, M. L., Ringwood, A. H., Piegorsch, W. W., and Stancyk, S. E. (2003). Detection of oxidative DNA damage in isolated marine bivalve hemocytes using the comet assay and formamidopyrimidine glycosylase (Fpg). Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 542(1–2), 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2003.07.010.
- Herráez, M. P., Ausió, J., Devaux, A., González-Rojo, S., Fernández-Díez, C., Bony, S., Saperas, N., and Robles, V. (2017). Paternal contribution to development: Sperm genetic damage and repair in fish. Aquaculture, 472, 45–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2016.03.007.
- Herst, P. M., Dalvai, M., Lessard, M., Charest, P. L., Navarro, P., Joly-Beauparlant, C., Droit, A., Trasler, J. M., Kimmins, S., MacFarlane, A. J., Benoit-Biancamano, M. O., and Bailey, J. L. (2019). Folic acid supplementation reduces multigenerational sperm miRNA perturbation induced by in utero environmental contaminant exposure. Environmental Epigenetics, 5(4), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1093/eep/dvz024.

- Ishimota, M., and Tomiyama, N. (2019). Increased acetylcholinesterase inhibitor sensitivity as an intergenerational response to short-term acetylcholinesterase inhibitor exposure in *Scapholeberis kingi*. Limnology 2019 21:2, 21(2), 187–196. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10201-019-00598-8.
- Jha, A. N. (2008). Ecotoxicological applications and significance of the comet assay. Mutagenesis, 23(3), 207–221. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/gen014.
- Kogan, M., Araya, M., and Alister, C. (2011). Water and sediment dynamics of penoxsulam and molinate in paddy fields: field and lysimeter studies. Pest Management Science, 68, 399–403. https://doi.org/10.1002/ps.2276.
- Kumar, M. K. P., Shyama, S. K., Sonaye, B. S., Naik, U. R., Kadam, S. B., Bipin, P. D., D'costa, A., and Chaubey, R. C. (2014). Evaluation of γ-radiation-induced DNA damage in two species of bivalves and their relative sensitivity using comet assay. Aquatic Toxicology, 150, 1–8. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2014.02.007.
- Kumar, S. B., Dada, R., and Gupta, N. P. (2017). Environmental toxicants-induced male reproductive toxicity: role of oxidative stress. In S. C. Sikka and W. J. G. Hellstrom (Eds.), Bioenvironmental issues affecting men's reproductive and sexual health (pp. 305–322). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801299-4.00019-0.
- Kwok, A., Lyons, B. P., Hodges, N. J., and Bean, T. P. (2013). Cryopreservation and storage of mussel (*Mytilus* spp.) haemocytes for latent analysis by the comet assay. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 750(1–2), 86–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2012.09.010.
- Lacaze, E., Geffard, O., Bony, S., and Devaux, A. (2010). Genotoxicity assessment in the amphipod *Gammarus fossarum* by use of the alkaline comet assay. Mutation Research - Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 700(1–2), 32–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2010.04.025.
- Lacaze, E., Geffard, O., Goyet, D., Bony, S., and Devaux, A. (2011). Linking genotoxic responses in *Gammarus fossarum* germ cells with reproduction impairment, using the comet assay. Environmental Research, 111(5), 626–634. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2011.03.012.
- Laird, P. W. (2005). Cancer epigenetics. Human Molecular Genetics, 14 Spec No 1(SPEC. ISS. 1). https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddi113.
- Lee, R. F., and Steinert, S. (2003). Use of the single cell gel electrophoresis/comet assay for detecting DNA damage in aquatic (marine and freshwater) animals. Mutation Research Reviews in Mutation Research, 544(1), 43–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1383-5742(03)00017-6.
- Lewis, C., and Galloway, T. (2009). Reproductive consequences of paternal genotoxin exposure in marine invertebrates. Environmental Science and Technology, 43(3), 928–933. https://doi.org/10.1021/es802215d.
- Loureiro, T. G., Anastácio, P. M. S. G., Araujo, P. B., Souty-Grosset, C., and Almerão, M. P. (2015). Red swamp crayfish: biology, ecology and invasion an overview. Nauplius, 23(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0104-64972014002214.
- Luquet, E., and Tariel, J. (2016). Offspring reaction norms shaped by parental environment: interaction between within- and trans-generational plasticity of inducible defenses. BMC Evolutionary Biology, 16(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12862-016-0795-9.
- Marçal, R., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2020). DNA of crayfish spermatozoa as a target of waterborne pesticides An *ex vivo* approach as a tool to short-term spermiotoxicity screening. Journal of Hazardous Materials. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2020.123300.
- Marçal, R., Llorente, L., Herrero, O., Planelló, R., Guilherme, S., and Pacheco, M. (2021). Intergenerational patterns of DNA methylation in *Procambarus clarkii* following exposure to genotoxicants: a conjugation in past simple or past continuous? Toxics, 9(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics9110271.

- Marçal, R., Marques, A. M., Pacheco, M. and Guilherme, S. (2022). Improving knowledge on genotoxicity dynamics in somatic and germ cells of crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*). Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 63(6), 296-307. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.22501.
- Margus, A., Piiroinen, S., Lehmann, P., Tikka, S., Karvanen, J., and Lindström, L. (2019). Sublethal pyrethroid insecticide exposure carries positive fitness effects over generations in a pest insect. Scientific Reports 2019 9:1, 9(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47473-1.
- Murussi, C. R., Thorstenberg, M. L., Leitemperger, J., Costa, M., Clasen, B., Santi, A., Menezes, C., Engers, V. K., and Loro, V. L. (2014). Toxic effects of penoxsulam herbicide in two fish species reared in Southern Brazil. Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 92(1), 81–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-013-1137-x.
- Niksirat, H., Kouba, A., Pšenička, M., Kuklina, I., and Kozák, P. (2013a). Ultrastructure of spermatozoa from three genera of crayfish Orconectes, Procambarus and Astacus (Decapoda: Astacoidea): New findings and comparisons. Zoologischer Anzeiger, 252(2), 226–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcz.2012.06.002.
- Niksirat, H., Kouba, A., Rodina, M., and Kozák, P. (2013b). Comparative ultrastructure of the spermatozoa of three crayfish species: *Austropotamobius torrentium*, *Pacifastacus leniusculus*, and *Astacus astacus* (Decapoda: Astacidae). Journal of Morphology, 274(7), 750–758. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmor.20132.
- Oppold, A., Kreß, A., Vanden Bussche, J., Diogo, J. B., Kuch, U., Oehlmann, J., Vandegehuchte, M. B., and Müller, R. (2015). Epigenetic alterations and decreasing insecticide sensitivity of the Asian tiger mosquito *Aedes albopictus*. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 122, 45–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.06.036.
- Patetsini, E., Dimitriadis, V. K., and Kaloyianni, M. (2013). Biomarkers in marine mussels, *Mytilus galloprovincialis*, exposed to environmentally relevant levels of the pesticides, chlorpyrifos and penoxsulam. Aquatic Toxicology, 126, 338–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2012.09.009.
- Perez, M. F., and Lehner, B. (2019). Intergenerational and transgenerational epigenetic inheritance in animals. Nature Cell Biology, 21(2), 143–151. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41556-018-0242-9.
- Rahman, M. M., Baker, G., Powis, K. J., Roush, R. T., and Schmidt, O. (2010). Induction and transmission of tolerance to the synthetic pesticide emamectin benzoate in field and laboratory populations of diamondback moth. Journal of Economic Entomology, 103(4), 1347–1354. https://doi.org/10.1603/EC09171
- Rocha, A. C. S., Teixeira, C., Almeida, C. M. R., Basto, M. C. P., Reis-Henriques, M. A., Guimarães, L., and Ferreira, M. (2021). Assessing contamination from maritime trade and transportation on Iberian waters:impact on *Platichthys flesus*. Environmental and Sustainability Indicators, 9, 100098. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indic.2020.100098.
- Sahlmann, A., Wolf, R., Holth, T. F., Titelman, J., and Hylland, K. (2017). Baseline and oxidative DNA damage in marine invertebrates. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A, 80(16–18), 807–819. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1352179.
- Sega, G. A. (1984). A review of the genetic effects of ethyl methanesulfonate. Mutation Research/Reviews in Genetic Toxicology, 134(2–3), 113–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1110(84)90007-1.
- Shaposhnikov, S., Azqueta, A., Henriksson, S., Meier, S., Gaivão, I., Huskisson, N. H., Smart, A., Brunborg, G., Nilsson, M., and Collins, A. R. (2010). Twelve-gel slide format optimised for comet assay and fluorescent *in situ* hybridisation. Toxicology Letters, 195(1), 31–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2010.02.017.
- Shaw, J. L. A., Judy, J. D., Kumar, A., Bertsch, P., Wang, M. B., and Kirby, J. K. (2017). Incorporating transgenerational epigenetic inheritance into ecological risk assessment frameworks. Environmental Science and Technology, 51(17), 9433– 9445. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.7b01094.

- Shi, L., Shi, Y., Zhang, Y., and Liao, X. (2019). A systemic study of indoxacarb resistance in *Spodoptera litura* revealed complex expression profiles and regulatory mechanism. Scientific Reports, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41598-019-51234-5.
- Smith, T. B., Dun, M. D., Smith, N. D., Curry, B. J., Connaughton, H. S., and Aitken, R. J. (2013). The presence of a truncated base excision repair pathway in human spermatozoa that is mediated by OGG1. Journal of Cell Science, 126(Pt 6), 1488–1497. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.121657.
- Sondhia, S., Rajput, S., Varma, R. K., and Kumar, A. (2016). Biodegradation of the herbicide penoxsulam (triazolopyrimidine sulphonamide) by fungal strains of Aspergillus in soil. Applied Soil Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2016.03.010.
- Speit, G., Schütz, P., Bonzheim, I., Trenz, K., and Hoffmann, H. (2004). Sensitivity of the FPG protein towards alkylation damage in the comet assay. Toxicology Letters, 146(2), 151–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2003.09.010.
- Štambuk, A., Pavlica, M., Malović, L., and Klobučar, G. I. V. (2008). Persistence of DNA damage in the freshwater mussel Unio pictorum upon exposure to ethyl methanesulphonate and hydrogen peroxide. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 49(3), 217–225. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.20376.
- Strober, W. (2001). Trypan blue exclusion test of cell viability. Current Protocols in Immunology, Appendix 3(3B). https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142735.ima03bs21.
- Tabuchi, T. M., Rechtsteiner, A., Jeffers, T. E., Egelhofer, T. A., Murphy, C. T., and Strome, S. (2018). *Caenorhabditis elegans* sperm carry a histone-based epigenetic memory of both spermatogenesis and oogenesis. Nature Communications 2018 9:1, 9(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-06236-8.
- Tang, F. H. M., Lenzen, M., McBratney, A., and Maggi, F. (2021). Risk of pesticide pollution at the global scale. Nature Geoscience 2021 14:4, 14(4), 206–210. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-021-00712-5.
- Tice, R. R., Agurell, E., Anderson, D., Burlinson, B., Hartmann, A., Kobayashi, H., Miyamae, Y., Rojas, E., Ryu, J. C., and Sasaki, Y. F. (2000). Single cell gel/comet assay: guidelines for *in vitro* and *in vivo* genetic toxicology testing. Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis, 35(3), 206–221. https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1098-2280(2000)35:3<206::aidem8>3.0.co;2-j.
- Tiwari, M., Parvez, S., and Agrawala, P. K. (2017). Role of some epigenetic factors in DNA damage response pathway. AIMS Genetics, 4(1), 69. https://doi.org/10.3934/genet.2017.1.69.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., Lemière, F., and Janssen, C. R. (2009). Quantitative DNA-methylation in *Daphnia magna* and effects of multigeneration Zn exposure. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - C Toxicology and Pharmacology, 150(3), 343–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2009.05.014.
- Vera, J., Fernandes, V. C., Correia-Sá, L., Mansilha, C., Delerue-Matos, C., and Domingues, V. F. (2021). Occurrence of selected known or suspected endocrine-disrupting pesticides in Portuguese surface waters using SPME-GC-IT/MS separations, 8(6), 81. https://doi.org/10.3390/separations8060081/s1.
- Wilding, J., and Maltby, L. (2006). Relative toxicological importance of aqueous and dietary metal exposure to a freshwater crustacean: Implications for risk assessment. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 25(7), 1795–1801. https://doi.org/10.1897/05-316r1.1.
- Williamson, A. K., Zhu, Z., and Yuan, Z. M. (2018). Epigenetic mechanisms behind cellular sensitivity to DNA damage. Cell Stress, 2(7), 176. https://doi.org/10.15698/cst2018.07.145.
- Xavier, M. J., Roman, S. D., Aitken, R. J., and Nixon, B. (2019). Transgenerational inheritance: how impacts to the epigenetic and genetic information of parents affect offspring health. Human Reproduction Update, 25(5), 519–541. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmz017.

Zar, J. (2010). Multiple Comparisons. In Biostatistical analysis (5th ed., pp. 226–248). Prentice Hall International Inc.

General Discussion and Final Remarks

6. General discussion and Final Remarks

This chapter intends to carry out an integrated and transversal discussion of the main findings of chapters II to V, considering the general and specific objectives previously delineated for this thesis, contributing with new interpretative perspectives.

The present work was divided in two phases, where the first focused on the assessment of the spermiotoxic impact of waterborne pesticides, namely glyphosate and penoxsulam (herbicides), dimethoate and imidacloprid (insecticides), imazalil and pyrimethanil (fungicides), on the macroinvertebrate *Procambarus clarkii* (Chapter II). The second phase (Chapters III to V) addressed the intergenerational (epi)genotoxic impact of penoxsulam (the most genotoxic pesticide elected in the previous phase) to *P. clarkii*. The latter phase started by exploring the ability of the crayfish' somatic cells and spermatozoa to recover from the DNA damage induced by penoxsulam (Chapter III). The following chapters approached the impact of a parental exposure to penoxsulam on the methylome (Chapter IV) as well as on the DNA integrity (Chapter V) of the prole, considering different exposure scenarios. A transversal perspective throughout the work appears as a relevant contribution to the knowledge concerning the pro- and anti-genotoxic inheritance associated to pesticides exposure, suggesting, also, the implementation of the pesticidovigilance concept.

6.1 *Procambarus clarkii* as a non-model organism in ecogenotoxicology: weighing the pros and cons

"For such a large number of problems there will be some animal of choice, or a few such animals, on which it can be most conveniently studied". August Krogh, Nobel Prize winning physiologist

In October 2021, the search engine Google Scholar gave 2320 results considering the associated terms "*Procambarus clarkii*" and "ecotoxicology" (*e.g.*, Alcorlo et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2019; Frontera et al., 2014; Wei and Yang, 2015). Despite being a high number, it is 12 times lower than the results obtained by the conjugation

of the words was "*Daphnia magna*" and "ecotoxicology", mainly due to *D. magna* be effectively stablished as a model organism in aquatic toxicology research. Notwithstanding, according to Dietrich et al. (2020), from an epistemological perspective, the organism must "match" the entity that it seeks to represent in ways that are relevant for the question(s) being addressed (whether the entity is only organism's own species, a broader group or taxon, or some other target group such as humans). In that regard, the crayfish appears as a more realistic choice as a bioindicator in contaminated ecosystems (Passantino et al., 2021) over traditional model organisms, since the red swamp crayfish (i) is currently considered to be a major freshwater pest in Europe, where it is present in at least 15 countries (Souty-Grosset, 2016), (ii) provides comparable tissues to vertebrates for analysis and similar responsivity to xenobiotics (Stara et al., 2016), (iii) inhabits aquatic areas which can be anthropologically impacted (e.g., agricultural practice) (Anastácio, 1993; Costa et al., 2018), making this species of special interest.

In the ecotoxicology field, bioindicator species must have a set of characteristics, concerning: (i) ecology (*e.g.*, globally distributed, high densities and low mobility), (ii) morphology (*e.g.*, large body size for an easy identification of tissues) and, (iii) physiology (*e.g.*, sensitivity to toxic substances and be prone to toxin accumulation) (Belanger et al., 2017). The crayfish *P. clarkii* has all these attributes, since it is an invasive species in Europe, worldwide distributed (Loureiro et al., 2015), a dioicy species, with an adequate body size, and showing sensitivity to toxic compounds, namely genotoxic as previously demonstrated by Oskoei (2018). In the present work, this species demonstrated to be sensitive to the direct exposure of genotoxic compounds in germ and in somatic cells.

Having an r-selected reproductive strategy (*i.e.*, tending to be small in size, having large broods with high fatalities, and living in unpredictable environments where the probability of long-term survival is minimal) (Reynolds and Souty-Grosset, 2011), and, at the same time, the ability of tolerate sub-optimal habitat conditions (Belanger et al., 2017), *P. clarkii* emerges as an adequate choice to perform a laboratory intergenerational trial during approximately one year, achieving the generation F₁.

Despite this, the extreme mortality observed in juvenile stage (a characteristic of the r-selected crayfish) was a drawback since the number of specimens reaching the F_1 generation was too low, and the possibility of obtaining F_2 specimens was, then, discarded. Another disadvantage of planning *in vivo* experiments with this species, in particular, was the cannibalism, specifically inter-sexual during the mating period (as corroborated by He et al., 2021). Despite attempts to minimize this aggressive behavior in the laboratory, where the crayfish were always separated by gender (unless, obviously, in the reproduction period), the mortality due to intra-sexual aggression was high.

The use of the crayfish for the experimental works meets the 3R's principle (addressed in the section below), specifically the "refinement" principle, since they are considered less sentient than fish, for example, and its use is not subject to strict legislation, contrarily of what is related to vertebrates. Besides, the macroinvertebrate *P. clarkii* can provide differential tissues for analyses, which allowed a physiological perspective to understand the individual toxicological impact on distinct cells/tissues/organs, such as, spermatozoa (analyzed in the Chapters II and V), gills (performs similar functions to vertebrates' gills; analyzed in the Chapter III)(Foyle et al., 2020; Henry et al., 2012), hepatopancreas (performs the functions of storage of nutrients and detoxification equivalent to the liver and pancreas of vertebrates; analyzed in the Chapter III) (Cervellione et al., 2017) and the skeletal muscle (analyzed in the Chapter IV). Overall, crayfish can serve as an alternative to aquatic vertebrates in biological assays, since it can have a central role in the assessment of the impact of environmental pollution and it showed to be a suitable bio-indicator, as pointed out by other researchers (Kouba et al., 2010; Velisek et al., 2013).

6.2 Different approaches in ecogenotoxicology assays

In 1959, the zoologist W.M.S. Russell and the human scientist R.L. Burch published the work "The Principles of Humane Experimental Technique" which gave rise to the principle of the 3R's (Russell and Burch, 1959). The 3R's principle, *i.e.*

"Replacement, Reduction, and Refinement", aimed to be used as a key strategy of a systematic framework to achieve the goal of humane experimental techniques. The Directive 2010/63/EU (revising Directive 86/609/EEC on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes) adopted the 3R's principle with the main intention of protecting animals (*i.e.*, live non-human vertebrates and cephalopods) which were used for experimental and other scientific purposes (EU, 1986, 2010a).

Briefly, and considering the publication of Russell and Burch (1959), "replacement" can be defined as the methods, strategies or approaches (e.g., in vitro systems using tissues, whole cells or part of cell systems, based on biochemical approaches) which do not involve the use of living animals. The "reduction" concept aims to decrease the number of animals used in the original procedure, including the maximization of the information obtained per animal. Currently, the term "refinement" implies the modification of any procedures or husbandry and care practices, from the time the experimental animal is born until its death, minimizing the pain, suffering and distress experienced and enhancing its well-being. "Refinement" can also be achieved by moving from species that are considered less sentient (e.g., substituting the use of fish with aquatic invertebrates). For instance, daphniids and other crustaceans as crayfish, are not included in the "animal" definition in the Directive of 2010 (EU, 2010a). Even though, new studies suggest that it is likely that Decapoda organisms experience nociception (Appel and Elwood, 2009; Elwood, 2019; Kawai et al., 2004). Notwithstanding, although nowadays there is no European legislation to protect the use and handling of crayfish, animal welfare organizations, such as UFAW (Universities Federation for Animal Welfare; UK) and RSPCA (Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals; UK), provide some guidelines to proceed with crustaceans, where some methods to induce the minimum level of pain and distress (e.g., chilling in air and then kicked by splitting or spiking to destroy their nervous system) should be adopted (EFSA, 2005). Thus, bearing all these ideas in mind, the implementation of an ex vivo approach (addressed in the next paragraph), a simple alternative to *in vivo* methods, proved to be a valuable contribute to the practical implementation of the 3R's. Considering this, in Chapters II and V,

where the *ex vivo* approach was performed, the 3R's were applied, *i.e.*, the outcomes were obtained promoting a great decrease in the number of animals (*Reduction*), since exposures performed using cells (male gametes) instead of animals (*Replacement*), and the few that were used were killed by spiking to minimize the pain, distress, and suffering (*Refinement*).

The *ex vivo* approach represents a strategy somewhat between *in vitro* and *in* vivo. It can be applied to: (i) the whole solid tissue, being the cytoarchitecture retained, as well as many of the intercellular connections and interplays, maintaining the metabolic processes more closely to the *in vivo* situation (Dusinska et al., 2012); (ii) tissues with circulating cells (*e.g.*, erythrocytes, lymphocytes, hemocytes), and (iii) gametes (in which this approach, considering species with external reproduction, can mimic a realistic scenario). Taking male gametes as an example, in the present thesis, the ex vivo approach allowed to disclose the spermiotoxic potential of the six pesticides with dose-response assessment (Chapter II), and the spermiotoxic evaluation of the alkylating agent EMS (Chapter V). Despite the advantages of the *ex* vivo approach, it is still not widely applied in studies with living organisms (e.g., Sahlmann et al., 2017; Santos et al., 2013; Valant and Drobne, 2012). In fact, and despite being relevant, this approach presents a few limitations, such as (i) the short lifespan of cells, which only allows-short exposure length (2 h) of Chapters II and V experiments [this choice was based on the work of Oskoei (2018)], and (ii) the unrealism of direct exposures of internal tissues/cells, while in the in vivo exposure all biological process from the pesticide exposure (from uptake, to distribution, metabolization, and excretion) are taken into consideration.

In vivo experiments allow the exposure of the whole organism, where in the same experiment is possible the assessment of several tissues. In this regard, the experiment of Chapters III and IV was performed *in vivo*, where it was observed the herbicide effects on two somatic tissues (*i.e.*, gills and hepatopancreas) and germ cells (spermatozoa). The work developed in the Chapter V (a follow-up of Chapter III) showed that these two different approaches (*in vivo* and *ex vivo*) can be strategically combined and integrated. Additionally, an intergenerational assay started with a

parental (F_o) *in vivo* assay (Chapter III) and ended with the *ex vivo* exposure of offspring' male gametes (Chapter V). The combination of the two approaches answered the question whether parental exposure affects the DNA of the offspring's gametes and whether it influences their sensitivity to the herbicide exposure (Chapter V). Therefore, the combination of these two approaches allowed the obtention of relevant information at the level of pesticide genotoxicity at intergenerational level.

6.3 Pesticide risk assessment relying on (epi)genotoxic data

Chapter II met the first main goal of the thesis, where the genotoxicity of 6 currently used pesticides was studied. The spermatozoa were directly exposed to each pesticide (namely, glyphosate, penoxsulam, dimethoate, imidacloprid, pyrimethanil and imazalil), for a short period. To the author's knowledge no information regarding penoxsulam and dimethoate reprotoxic effects were known. Direct ex vivo exposure, albeit short, allowed to disclose the spermiotoxic potential of each pesticide in the *P*. clarkii. The highest concentration (environmental relevant level) of glyphosate, penoxsulam, dimethoate, pyrimethanil and imazalil was found genotoxic to the crayfish spermatozoa. Imidacloprid was the only pesticide that was shown to have a pro-oxidant effect. Penoxsulam and dimethoate were the only where the lowest concentration (10-times lower than the highest) induced DNA breaks on sperm, and therefore they were considered the most spermiotoxic. To approach the remaining goals of the thesis the penoxsulam was chosen, since, despite the lack of information regarding specifically the use of each pesticide, in Europe the utilization of herbicides is approx. 2.38 times higher than insecticides (Eurostat, 2022), and penoxsulam expiration of approval will be 2023 while dimethoate was 2020 (ECHA, a, b) suggesting higher environmental occurrence of the former in the near future.

6.3.1 The specific case of penoxsulam

Penoxsulam demonstrated to be one the most aggressive genotoxicant for the crayfish male gametes (Chapter II), among the analyzed pesticides, and therefore it was the pesticide selected to fulfill the remaining main aims of the thesis. Penoxsulam hazard was not limited to gamete cells, as it also proved to be dangerous for somatic cells. Furthermore, this herbicide showed to be gender-specific in somatic tissues of the crayfish, with long-lasting effects, even after the exposure cessation (Chapter III), enhancing the hazard risk of this compound. Moreover, at the epigenetic level, penoxsulam showed to have an intergenerational effect. In fact, this outcome may act as an alert to the risk related to the use of penoxsulam, since effects last in time and affect the forthcoming generations (see Chapter III and IV). The methylation pattern of male adults (F_1) was also changed, suggesting that the transmitted effects follow the development of the organism, at least to the next generation. The data from Chapter IV highlight the need to consider several parameters in the evaluation of the impact of a compound, even if the effects studied are only at the DNA level. These data should be complemented with future studies where, for example, phenotypic changes (*e.g.*, at the cellular and metabolic level) are considered. In the present study, no changes were observed in morphological characteristics visible to the naked eye. Bearing this in mind, it will be mandatory to study the transgenerational effects of penoxsulam, contributing to the understanding of: (i) up to which unexposed generation the epigenetic and phenotypic effects can be observed; (ii) how long the altered epigenetic and phenotypic states will last in an uncontaminated environment, in the case of acquired tolerance to the herbicide, as well as whether the epigenetic profiles will be reversed and the acquired tolerance will be lost, in the absence of the herbicide (Herrera and Bazaga, 2011; Kille et al., 2013; Morgan et al., 2007; Vandegehuchte and Janssen, 2014).

The present work intended to study the intergenerational effects of pesticides on DNA, namely its integrity and associated methylome. Parental exposure to penoxsulam induced a negative impact, suggesting that the probability of any

acquired tolerance by the offspring is reduced (Chapter V). The fact that no signs of acquired tolerance to the herbicide were observed on the descendants highlights the threat of this compound to the crayfish. Moreover, also in Chapter V, it was shown that the genotoxic action of penoxsulam in the F₁ crayfish was, undoubtedly, detected in organisms with parental exposures to the genotoxicant model EMS. These data reinforce the risk of the penoxsulam occurrence in the environment, since the aquatic ecosystems are the ultimate receptacle for a mixture of anthropogenic substances. In fact, in a real environmental scenario, where several compounds occur simultaneously and interacting, a parental exposure to penoxsulam may enhance the genotoxic pressure of other contaminants. Therefore, and taking all the outcomes into account, it becomes clear the real existence of a risk posed by the penoxsulam to aquatic species.

An active substance is approved by the European Commission only after a rigorous and lengthy (> 3 years) science-based assessment to ensure that its use is safe. Penoxsulam is accepted in EU since 2010 until 2025 however genotoxic side effects were detected in aquatic organisms. This reveals that the tests carried out for the pre-certification may not be sufficient. Besides, the control of the compounds and the knowledge of their actual risk could improve if pesticides, after approval and market entry, were studied and monitored in the environment during their approval period (approximately 10 years).

6.4 The environment calls for pesticidovigilance

Pesticides can only be accepted by regulatory agencies, such as the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) with the fulfilment of the approval criteria laid down in Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009a, where the evaluation of the product (*e.g.*, the genotoxicity of the active substance) is required. According to EFSA, the genotoxic assessment requires the detection of three genotoxic endpoints, such as gene mutations, structural chromosomal aberrations (clastogenicity), and numerical chromosomal aberrations (aneugenicity and polyploidy) (More et al., 2021). The

alkaline comet assay, performed in the present thesis to detect the genotoxic potential of pesticides, is not an accepting test by EFSA Panels, but there is an internationally agreed protocol (OECD TG 489) for this technique (OECD, 2016). After obtaining permission to enter the market, this authorization is valid for up to 10 years, after which it can be renewed for up to 15 years (EC, 2009a). As seen in previous chapters, where the exposure to lower concentrations of penoxsulam, a pesticide approved by US-EPA in 2004 (US-EPA, 2004) and by EC in 2010 (EU, 2010b), compromised the integrity of the DNA of male gametes and induced changes in the methylome of the unexposed offspring.

In the pharmacovigilance, it is monitored the risk/benefit ratio of drugs as well as the improvement of the patients' safety and their quality of life (Fornasier et al., 2018). This long-term monitoring involves the collection, detection, assessment, monitoring, and prevention of adverse effects of pharmaceutical products, and it continues throughout the lifetime of each product, building a well-developed safety database for that product (Milner and Boyd, 2017). The pharmacovigilance consists in collecting and managing data on the safety of medicines, looking at individual case reports to detect new "signals" and a pro-active risk management to minimize any potential risk associated with the use of medicines, communicating and informing stakeholders and patients (Fornasier et al., 2018). So, since the implementation of pharmacovigilance drug tests is carried out, not only before the compound is approved, but also during its lifetime (*i.e.*, the time that it is in circulation on the market), crucial information regarding emerging impacts, such as secondary effects (*i.e.*, subsequent or less predictable effects), is obtained.

The long-lasting genotoxic impact of penoxsulam to the crayfish cells/tissues/organs, which may affect not only the exposed generation but also the following, warns that a continuous and more effective evaluation of pesticides is mandatory, as above described for pharmaceuticals, to guarantee the safety of organisms. Milner and Boyd (2017) suggest the concept pesticidovigilance to long-term monitor pesticides, determining unexpected and unknown effects, allowing to act in a timely manner, with the major intuit of protecting the environment.

According to European Commission, data on approved substances and authorized products are reviewed periodically, for instance, to reflect scientific progress. Moreover, a thorough EU review involving the European Commission, EFSA and Member States has been performed in the past 25 years on all the substances used in Europe. As a result, the number of approved active substances of pesticides has been cut down by more than 50%, and 25% were considered of low risk (microbial pesticides, insect pheromones and plant extracts). However, the last special report concerning pesticides, *viz.* "Sustainable use of plant protection products: limited progress in measuring and reducing risks" (European Court of Auditors, 2020), shows that a protocol/method for common use by EU member states for the surveillance of active substances (pesticidovigilance-like report) is not well defined, resulting into insufficient efforts which will be not enough to have the knowledge of the real risk of using pesticides.

Bearing the pesticidovigilance in mind, were the ecotoxicological biomarkers currently chosen (*i.e.*, DNA integrity and DNA methylation) sufficient to assess the danger of a compound at the intergenerational level? Will these be enough to carry out evaluations of the effects of pesticides in a population? Each DNA is a life project, and the preservation of its integrity is extremely important. Therefore, the preservation of the genetic entity must have its due importance in ecotoxicological studies. The lack of DNA integrity in somatic and germ cells, if not repaired will have effects on the immediate fitness as well as the reproductive success of exposed organisms (Jha, 2008). This will eventually lead to adverse effects on the long-term survival of the population and, therefore, as a consequence of the deterioration of the ecosystem health and sustainability. The preservation of DNA integrity against environmental insults is one of the most important adaptive traits in animals. Over time, animals evolved complex and finely tuned mechanisms to repair DNA (the first line of defense against genotoxicants). Impairing the defense responses to DNA damage leads to the accumulation of genomic lesions that can lead to cell death, mutagenesis and even teratogenesis and neoplasia (Costa, 2022).

So, for pesticidovigilance, it will be interesting start with the assessment of DNA integrity (that gives a first warning signal), followed the DNA repair, DNA methylation and genetic expression, followed by the reproduction impairment (*e.g.*, gametes viability, fecundity, embryo viability), and behavior (*e.g.*, matting, predation, avoidance) in the exposed and following generations. It will be of greater value to study the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} generations (transgenerational effects). The pesticidovigilance will be a most valuable path to predict the real impact of pesticides on populations and ecosystems.

6.5 Final Remarks

The present thesis brought new insights regarding the intergenerational genotoxic potential of pesticides to non-target organisms, where it was demonstrated that a parental exposure can affect the offspring's DNA integrity, as well as their DNA methylation pattern.

Concerning the pesticide exposure, the two experimental approaches, *viz. in vivo* and *ex vivo*, displaying different advantages and the possibility to answer distinct questions, proved to be able to complement each other in the intergenerational study.

At environmental relevant concentrations, the waterborne pesticides, namely glyphosate, penoxsulam, dimethoate, pyrimethanil and imazalil, showed to induce DNA damage in spermatozoa of *Procambarus clarkii*. In addition, imidacloprid induced a pro-oxidant effect on male gametes.

The direct exposure of penoxsulam showed to be highly genotoxic, not only for germ cells (spermatozoa) but also for somatic cells (gills and hepatopancreas) of *P. clarkii*. Moreover, this herbicide presented cells- and gender-specificities, with females showing to be more vulnerable in the gills (where the unspecific DNA damage was not reversible following the post-exposure period), while males demonstrated higher susceptibility in what concerns to cells of internal organs, *i.e.*, hepatopancreas cells and spermatozoa (showing an inability to recover from DNA injuries). The

spermatozoa proved to be the most vulnerable cell type (among the cells analyzed), which, from an ecological perspective, represents a worrying finding due to the prospective threat to future generations.

Indirect influences (*e.g.*, parental exposure) showed to be able to have an impact on the DNA integrity and on epigenetic dynamics even greater than direct experiences (*e.g.*, current exposure). Thus, parental exposure to penoxsulam showed to affect the DNA integrity and the global DNA methylation pattern of offspring. The spermatozoa of crayfish, with a parental exposure to the penoxsulam, presented a higher DNA integrity following the herbicide exposure. Nonetheless, this effect did not occur when the spermatozoa were exposed to a different compound (*i.e.*, EMS), where it was detected an increase of the DNA damage. In this sense, the parental memory seems to be a crucial factor in the maintenance of the DNA integrity. Concerning the DNA methylation, the herbicide showed to have epigenotoxic properties. The offspring's methylome was affected due to the parental exposure (*i.e.*, juveniles presented hypomethylation while adult males hypermethylation).

The results of this thesis showed that an effort remains to be done in pesticides development, so that they are more specific in their target, and can be safe for the environment. Once the offspring of a generation exposed to a different chemical faces the exposure to penoxsulam in concrete, the loss of DNA integrity was visible and no evidence of activation of protective DNA mechanisms was seen.

Studies characterizing pesticides need to integrate more data, namely addressing different types of DNA damage, tissue- (somatic and germinative) and gender-specificities, a long-term appraisal of temporal progression of damage, and be extended over the "lifetime" of the chemicals (*i.e.*, during the time they are in circulation on the market, and where several generations may be affected), similar as it is done for drugs in pharmacovigilance.

Overall, this thesis contributed to the knowledge of the real impact of pesticides on the *P. clarkii*, as a non-target species. Penoxsulam damaged the DNA in several tissues, and the damage still persisted following the herbicide removal (*i.e.*,

females' gills and males' hepatopancreas and sperm). On the other, the intergenerational assay allowed to disclose that the invasive species *P. clarkii* seems to be able to develop favorable strategies, as detected in descendants from EMS-exposed parents (*e.g.*, mechanisms to protect the DNA integrity).

References

- Alcorlo, P., Lozano, I., and Baltanás, A. (2019). Heavy metals effects on life traits of juveniles of *Procambarus clarkii*. AIMS Environmental Science, 6(3), 147–166. https://doi.org/10.3934/environsci.2019.3.147.
- Anastácio, P. M. S. G. (1993). Ciclo biológico e produção do lagostim vermelho da Louisiana na região do Baixo Mondego. University of Coimbra. Portugal.
- Appel, M., and Elwood, R. W. (2009). Motivational trade-offs and potential pain experience in hermit crabs. Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 119(1–2), 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPLANIM.2009.03.013.
- Belanger, R. M., Lahman, S. E., and Moore, P. A. (2017). Chapter 6: Crayfish: an experimental model for examining exposure to environmental contamination. In M. L. Larramendy (Ed.), Ecotoxicology and Genotoxicology: Non-traditional Aquatic Models (pp. 124–156). https://doi.org/10.1039/9781782629887-00124.
- Cervellione, F., McGurk, C., and Van Den Broeck, W. (2017). "Perigastric organ": a replacement name for the "hepatopancreas" of Decapoda. Journal of Crustacean Biology, 37(3), 353–355. https://doi.org/10.1093/jcbiol/rux020.
- Costa, P. M. (2022). Current aspects of DNA damage and repair in ecotoxicology: a mini-review. Ecotoxicology (London, England), 31(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/S10646-021-02487-2.
- Costa, R., Pereira, J. L., Santos, M. A., Pacheco, M., and Guilherme, S. (2018). The role of contamination history and gender on the genotoxic responses of the crayfish *Procambarus clarkii* to a penoxsulam-based herbicide. Ecotoxicology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-018-1948-y.
- Dietrich, M. R., Ankeny, R. A., Crowe, N., Green, S., and Leonelli, S. (2020). How to choose your research organism. Studies in History and Philosophy of Science Part C: Studies in History and Philosophy of Biological and Biomedical Sciences, 80, 101227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.shpsc.2019.101227.
- Dusinska, M., Rundén-Pran, E., Carreira, S. C., and Saunders, M. (2012). Critical evaluation of toxicity tests. Adverse Effects of Engineered Nanomaterials, 63–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-386940-1.00004-0.
- EC. European Commission (2009). REGULATION (EC) no 1107/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market and repealing Council Directives 79/117/EEC and 91/414/EEC. Official Journal of the European Union, 309.
- ECHA. European chemicals agency (2022). Dimethoate. Retrieved October 17, 2022, from https://echa.europa.eu/legislation-obligation/-/obligations/100.000.437.
- ECHA. European chemicals agency (2022). Penoxsulam. Retrieved October 17, 2022, from https://echa.europa.eu/legislation-obligation/-/obligations/100.107.359.
- EFSA. (2005). Opinion on the "Aspects of the biology and welfare of animals used for experimental and other scientific purposes". The EFSA Journal, 292, 1-46.
- Elwood, R. W. (2019). Discrimination between nociceptive reflexes and more complex responses consistent with pain in crustaceans. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B, 374(1785). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0368.
- EU, European Union (1986). Directive 86/609/EEC. Official Journal L 358, 18/12/1986 P. 0001 0028; Finnish Special Edition: Chapter 15 Volume 7 P. 0157; Swedish Special Edition: Chapter 15 Volume 7 P. 0157.
- EU, European Union (2010a). DIRECTIVE 2010/63/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 September 2010 on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes (Text with EEA relevance). Official Journal of the European Union.

- EU, European Union. (2010b). Review report for the active substance penoxsulam. https://ec.europa.eu/food/plant/pesticides/eu-pesticides-database/activesubstances/?event=as.detailsandas id=962.
- European Court of Auditors. (2020). Sustainable use of plant protection products: limited progress in measuring and reducing risks. In Special report (Vol. 5).
- Eurostat. (2022). Agri-environmental indicator consumption of pesticides Statistics Explained. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Agri-environmental_indicator_-_consumption_of_pesticides#Data_sources.
- Fornasier, G., Francescon, S., Leone, R., and Baldo, P. (2018). An historical overview over pharmacovigilance. International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy, 40(4), 744. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11096-018-0657-1.
- Foyle, K. L., Hess, S., Powell, M. D., and Herbert, N. A. (2020). What is gill health and what is its role in marine finfish aquaculture in the face of a changing climate? Frontiers in Marine Science, 7, 400. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00400/bibtex.
- Frontera, J. L. L., Gilette, N., Hull, B., Korang, J., Amorim, C., Vatnick, I., and Rodríguez, E. M. M. (2014). Effects of glyphosate and polyoxyethylene amine on metabolic rate and energy reserves of *Procambarus clarkii* Juveniles. Open Environmental Sciences, 8, 49–53. https://doi.org/10.2174/1876325101408010049.
- He, M., Liu, F., and Wang, F. (2021). Resource utilization, competition and cannibalism of the red swamp crayfish Procambarus clarkii in integrated rice-crayfish culture without artificial diets. Aquaculture Reports, 20, 100644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aqrep.2021.100644.
- Henry, R. P., Lucu, Č., Onken, H., and Weihrauch, D. (2012). Multiple functions of the crustacean gill: Osmotic/ionic regulation, acid-base balance, ammonia excretion, and bioaccumulation of toxic metals. Frontiers in Physiology. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00431.
- Herrera, C. M., and Bazaga, P. (2011). Untangling individual variation in natural populations: Ecological, genetic and epigenetic correlates of long-term inequality in herbivory. Molecular Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05026.x.
- Jha, A. N. (2008). Ecotoxicological applications and significance of the comet assay. Mutagenesis, 23(3), 207–221. https://doi.org/10.1093/mutage/gen014.
- Kawai, N., Kono, R., and Sugimoto, S. (2004). Avoidance learning in the crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*) depends on the predatory imminence of the unconditioned stimulus: A behavior systems approach to learning in invertebrates. Behavioural Brain Research, 150(1–2), 229–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-4328(03)00261-4.
- Kille, P., Andre, J., Anderson, C., Ang, H. N., Bruford, M. W., Bundy, J. G., Donnelly, R., Hodson, M. E., Juma, G., Lahive, E., Morgan, A. J., Stürzenbaum, S. R., and Spurgeon, D. J. (2013). DNA sequence variation and methylation in an arsenic tolerant earthworm population. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.10.014.
- Kouba, A., Buřič, M., and Kozák, P. (2010). Bioaccumulation and effects of heavy metals in crayfish: A review. In Water, Air, and Soil Pollution. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-009-0273-8.
- Loureiro, T. G., Anastácio, P. M. S. G., Araujo, P. B., Souty-Grosset, C., and Almerão, M. P. (2015). Red swamp crayfish: biology, ecology and invasion - an overview. Nauplius, 23(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0104-64972014002214.
- Milner, A. M., and Boyd, I. L. (2017). Toward pesticidovigilance. Can lessons from pharmaceutical monitoring help to improve pesticide regulation? Science, 357(6357), 1232–1234. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan2683.

- More, S. J., Bampidis, V., Bragard, C., Halldorsson, T. I., Hernández-Jerez, A. F., Hougaard Bennekou, S., Koutsoumanis, K., Lambré, C., Machera, K., Naegeli, H., Nielsen, S. S., Schlatter, J., Schrenk, D., Turck, D., Younes, M., Aquilina, G., Bignami, M., Bolognesi, C., Crebelli, R., Benford, D. (2021). Guidance on aneugenicity assessment. EFSA Journal, 19(8). https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2021.6770.
- Morgan, A. J., Kille, P., and Stürzenbaum, S. R. (2007). Microevolution and ecotoxicology of metals in invertebrates. In Environmental Science and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1021/es061992x.
- OECD (2016) OECD/OCDE 489. Guideline for the testing of chemicals. http://www.oecd.org/termsandconditions/. Accessed: 17 January 2022.
- Oskoei, P. M. B. (2018). Unravelling genotoxic effects of pesticides: *in vitro* and *ex vivo* assays as screening tools. University of Aveiro, Portugal.
- Passantino, A., Elwood, R. W., and Coluccio, P. (2021). Why protect decapod crustaceans used as models in biomedical research and in ecotoxicology? Ethical and legislative considerations. Animals 2021, Vol. 11, Page 73, 11(1), 73. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani11010073.
- Reynolds, J., and Souty-Grosset, C. (2011). Management of freshwater biodiversity: Crayfish as bioindicators. Management of freshwater biodiversity: crayfish as bioindicators, 1–388. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139031790.
- Russell, W. M. S., and Burch, R. L. (1959). The principles of humane experimental technique. London: Methuen & Co. Limited.
- Sahlmann, A., Wolf, R., Holth, T. F., Titelman, J., and Hylland, K. (2017). Baseline and oxidative DNA damage in marine invertebrates. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A, 80(16–18), 807–819. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1352179.
- Santos, R., Palos-Ladeiro, M., Besnard, A., Porcher, J. M., Bony, S., Sanchez, W., and Devaux, A. (2013). Relationship between DNA damage in sperm after *ex vivo* exposure and abnormal embryo development in the progeny of the three-spined stickleback. Reproductive Toxicology, 36, 6–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.reprotox.2012.11.004.
- Souty-Grosset, C. (2016). Population genetics of crayfish: endangered and invasive species. In M. Longshaw and P. Stebbing (Eds.), Biology and Ecology of Crayfish (pp. 31–61). Taylor and Francis Group. https://doi.org/10.1201/b20073-3.
- Stara, A., Zuskova, E., Kouba, A., and Velisek, J. (2016). Effects of terbuthylazine-desethyl, a terbuthylazine degradation product, on red swamp crayfish (*Procambarus clarkii*). Science of the Total Environment. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.113.
- US-EPA. (2004). United States environmental protection and toxic substances agency (7501c) penoxsulam fact sheet...
- Valant, J., and Drobne, D. (2012). Biological reactivity of TiO₂ nanoparticles assessed by *ex vivo* testing. Protoplasma, 249(3), 835–842. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00709-011-0298-x.
- Vandegehuchte, M. B., and Janssen, C. R. (2014). Epigenetics in an ecotoxicological context. Mutation Research Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, 764–765, 36–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2013.08.008.
- Velisek, J., Kouba, A., Stara, A., and Dipl Ing Josef Velisek, A. (2013). Acute toxicity of triazine pesticides to juvenile signal crayfish (*Pacifastacus leniusculus*). Neuroendocrinology Letters, 34(2), 31–36.
- Wei, K., and Yang, J. (2015). Oxidative damage induced by copper and beta-cypermethrin in gill of the freshwater crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 113, 446–453. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.12.032.
Zhao, D., Zhang, X., Liu, D., and Ru, S. (2019). Cu accumulation, detoxification and tolerance in the red swamp crayfish *Procambarus clarkii*. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 175, 201–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ECOENV.2019.03.031.